
 

AGENDA FOR 

 

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 
 
Contact:: Leigh Webb 
Direct Line: 0161 253 5399 
E-mail: l.m.webb@bury.gov.uk 
Web Site:  www.bury.gov.uk 
 
 
To: All Members of Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 

Councillors :  M Hankey (Chair); S Carter; D Cassidy; A 
Cummings; J Daly; L Fitzwalter; P Heneghan; M James; 
S Nuttall; D O’Hanlon and T Tariq; vacancy  

 
 
Dear Member/Colleague 
 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
You are invited to attend a meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee which will be held as follows:- 
 

Date: Tuesday, 8 October 2013 

Place:  Peel Room, Bury Town Hall 

Time: 7.00 pm 

Briefing 

Facilities: 

If Opposition Members and Co-opted Members require 
briefing on any particular item on the Agenda, the 
appropriate Director/Senior Officer originating the 
related report should be contacted. 

Notes: A pre-meeting will be held at 6.30pm in the Irwell 
Room 

Public Document Pack



AGENDA 
 
 

1  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
 

2  DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
Members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee are asked to consider 
whether they have an interest in any of the matters on the agenda and, if 
so, to formally declare that interest.  
 

3  MINUTES  (Pages 1 - 8) 
 
Minutes of the last meeting held on 4 September 2013 are attached for 
approval.  
 

4  PUBLIC QUESTION TIME   
 
A period of 30 minutes has been set aside for Members of the public to 
ask questions on matters considered at the last meeting and set out in 
the minutes or on the agenda for tonight’s meeting.  
 

5  RECYCLING REVIEW - UPDATE  (Pages 9 - 14) 
 
Following last years scrutiny review, an Action Plan is attached providing 
an update on recommendations  
 

6  CORPORATE PLAN PROGRESS REPORT - QUARTER 1 2013-2014  
(Pages 15 - 40) 
 
A report from the Leader of the Council is attached.  
 

7  CHILDREN'S SERVICES ANNUAL COMPLAINTS REPORT  APRIL 
2012 - MARCH 2013  (Pages 41 - 52) 
 
Report from Jane Whittam, Assistant Team Manager, is attached.  
 

8  WELFARE REFORM  (Pages 53 - 130) 
 
Claire Jenkins will give a presentation at the meeting.  
 

9  URGENT  BUSINESS   
 
Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair 
agrees may be considered as a matter of urgency.  
 



 201

  
 
 
  
 
 Minutes of: OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

Date of Meeting: 4 September 2013 
 

Present:   Councillor M Hankey(in the Chair); 
Councillors  M Bailey;  D Cassidy; S Carter; A J Cummings; 
J Daly; L Fitzwalter; M James; P Heneghan; S Nuttall; D 
O’Hanlon and T Tariq  

      
Public in attendance:  1 member of the public was present at the    
                                    meeting. 
 
Also in attendance: Councillor Campbell– Cabinet  Member for Children and 

Families. 
 
 Councillor J Smith – Deputy Leader of the Council and 

Cabinet Member for Finance and Corporate Affairs. 
  
 
Apologies for absence:  
 
 

 
 
OSC.303 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

Councillor Heneghan declared a personal and prejudicial interest in Minute 
OSC.306 below, Ofsted Inspection (SLAC) Action Plan, as the newly appointed 
Deputy Cabinet Member for Children and Families and took no part in discussions 
on this item. 
 
Councillor Fitzwalter declared a personal interest in Minute OSC.307 below, 
Publication Core Strategy, as a member of the Fletcher Bank Action Group. 
 
Councillor O’Hanlon declared a personal interest in the Financial Reports before 
the Committee as a garage tenant of Six Town Housing. 

 
OSC.304 PUBLIC QUESTION TIME 
 

There were no questions asked by members of the public present at the meeting. 
 

OSC.305 MINUTES  
 
 It was agreed: 
 

1. That the Minutes of the meeting, held on 11 June 2013, be approved as a 
correct record and signed by the Chair. 
 

2. That the Minutes of the meeting, held on 14 August 2013, be approved as a 
correct record and signed by the Chair. 

 
 
 

Agenda Item 3Document Pack Page 1



 202

 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 4 September 2013 
 
OSC.306 OFSTED INSPECTION (SLAC) ACTION PLAN 
 

Further to Minute OSC.110 of the meeting of this Committee, held on 11 June 
2013, the Cabinet Member for Children and Families submitted a report setting 
out an updated draft  Action Plan in respect of Children’s Safeguarding and Social 
Care.  
 
The Cabinet Member for Children and Families reported that the new Ofsted 
Inspection Framework for Children’s Safeguarding and Social Care was due for 
publication in September 2013 and due for implementation in November 2013. It 
was explained that the draft Action Plan had focussed on the proposed key 
judgement with regard to the experiences and progress of children who need 
help and protection. A final version of the Action Plan will developed and 
presented following the publication of the Ofsted Inspection Framework.  
 
Questions and comments were invited and the following issues were raised: 
 

• In response to questions around the inspection process, the Executive 
Director of Children’s Services referred to the recent experiences of 
neighbouring authorities and highlighted the more stringent process which 
had resulted in a number of Council’s being deemed inadequate. It was 
explained that liaison was taking place with neighbouring authorities who 
had recently been inspected. With regard to the issue of possible changes 
to the framework, the Executive Director stated that he did not expect the 
notion of what is good practice to change fundamentally. 

 
• Councillor Tariq sought assurances as the level of confidence within the 

Department in relation to a future inspection. The Cabinet Member and 
Officers explained that a clear idea of the inspection framework would 
obviously help preparations and reported that there were clear signs of 
improving performance data since June. 

 
•  In response to questions from Councillor O’Hanlon concerning quantitative 

and qualitative data, the Assistant Director Social Care and Safeguarding 
explained that the Action Plan was a high level document with a number of 
service level plans sitting below. It was reported that the Department was 
in the process of developing a qualitative tool to assess the service. With 
regard to quantitative data compliance and statutory assessment 
timescales, the Assistant Director suggested this could be submitted to the 
Committee. 

 
• During discussion of this item, the Executive Director reported that the 

Department were carrying out a consistent, systematic assessment across 
all teams, which had resulted in changes to the way staff are managed 
assessed and supported. 

 
It was agreed: 
 
1. That, following the publication of the new Ofsted Inspection Framework, a 

further report be submitted to this Committee in early 2014. 
 
 
                                               
 
 

Document Pack Page 2



 203

                 Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 4 September 2013 
 
 
OSC.307 PUBLICATION CORE STRATEGY  
 
 Paul  Allen, Head  of  Planning  Policy  and  Projects, gave  a  presentation   

regarding the Council’s Core Strategy consultation. The Core Strategy will be a 
key document at the heart of Bury's Local Plan. It will set out the long-term 
vision for the future development of the borough to 2029 and will contain 
strategic policies that are required to deliver that vision.                                                               
 
The consultation on the Publication Core Strategy runs for six weeks (2 August 
to 13 September 2013) at which point any comments or representations made 
will be submitted to the Secretary of State for consideration. An examination of 
the Strategy will take place in March 2014 and it is anticipated that the final 
Core Strategy would be adopted in September 2014.  
 
The presentation provided information on the following issues that are likely to 
face challenge as the Strategy progresses to Examination: 
 

• Housing Target 
• Gin Hall 
• Retail Capacity 
• Wind Turbines 

 
  Questions and comments were invited from the Committee and the following 

issues were raised: 
 

• Councillor Daly referred to the previous consultations and versions of the 
Strategy and highlighted that it was only recently that residents of 
Walmsley had become aware of proposals relating to Gin Hall. In response 
to questions about the robustness of the consultation process, the Head of 
Planning Policy and Projects stated that he believed the process had been 
open and transparent and had taken into account the responses submitted. 

 
• With regard to recent amendments to the Strategy, approved by Full 

Council on 3 July 2013, it was explained that the amended Strategy was 
still available for consultation, with any responses or comments being 
considered as part of the Examination process. 

 
• Councillor Daly sought clarification on the “very special circumstances” 

which could lead to the development of the Gin Hall site. The Head of 
Planning Policy and Projects referred to National Greenbelt Policy Guidance 
which sets out detail of appropriate development within the Green Belt. 

 
• With regard to the Housing Target, the Head of Planning Policy and Projects 

explained that the role of the Strategy was to identify broad areas where 
development will be accommodated. The Strategy includes a target of 400 
units per annum which it is felt can be achieved without the need to release 
Green Belt land.  

 
• In response to a question from Councillor Tariq it was reported that the 

Strategy looked to protect employment generating sites and looked to 
develop areas for employment in locations such as Pilsworth, Irwell Bank, 
Chamberhall, Townside and land at Prestwich Hospital. 

 
 
 

Document Pack Page 3



 204

 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 4 September 2013 
 

• With regard to the issue of wind turbines, it was reported that although 
work had been done on average wind speeds, which showed that 
Holcombe Moor would be suitable, any future proposal would still have to 
be considered against other planning policies. 

 
• In response to a question concerning Gin Hall from Councillor Daly, the 

Head of Planning Policy and Projects confirmed that the Council would not 
assist any potential developer by removing the tip site.  

 
 It was agreed: 
 

1. That the Head of Planning Policy and Projects be thanked for his presentation. 
 

2. That formal representations on the Publication Core Strategy be submitted in 
writing or by email to the Planning Policy and Projects Section no later than 
13 September 2013.  

 
OSC.308 CORPORATE PLAN PROGRESS REPORT 
 

A report was submitted by the Leader of the Council outlining the progress during   
quarter four 2012–2013 for the corporate performance indicators and projects 
within the Bury Council Corporate Plan. The information is extracted from the 
Performance Information Management System (PIMS) and provided by the 
responsible services. 
 
The Assistant Director of Business Re-Design & Development referred to the 
importance of having valid and relevant measures to monitor Council progress 
and that the list of indicators would continue to be kept under review.  
 
In response to the under achievement of the indicator relating to the percentage 
of children and young people in care achieving 5 A*-C GCSEs it was reported that 
the figure is based on a small cohort where the results of a few individuals can 
have a major impact on the indicator. Councillor Carter enquired whether there 
was any indication that the percentage could have been affected by changes 
nationally to the way the exams are graded. 
 
With regard to the issue of recycling food waste from schools an undertaking was 
given to update the Committee on the progress of measures to increase recycling 
in schools.  Councillor Fitzwalter highlighted the difficulty faced by schools being 
able to afford to carry out the initiative.  
 
During discussion of this item, Sarah Marshall, Performance Officer, undertook to 
provide a response to the Committee to questions and issues raised in relation to 
the following: 
 

• Further detail on the “Working Age People on Out of Work Benefits” 
indicator 

• The impact of Day Opportunities Strategy on Wards 
• Online usage figures in respect of Libraries 
• Request for progress on recycling in schools and whether a specific 

performance measure could be incorporated 
 
 
 
 

Document Pack Page 4



 205

                                                        Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 4 September 2013 
 

 
 It was agreed: 
 
That Officers be thanked for the good performance highlighted in the report and  
a further update be submitted at the end of Quarter 1, 2013/14.  

 
OSC.309  REVENUE AND HRA OUTTURN 2012/13 
 

The Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance and Corporate Affairs 
submitted a report providing Members with details of:  
 
• the revenue outturn figures in respect of the last financial year, 2012/2013, 

detailing specific carry-forward requests and the proposed application of the 
carry-forward rules; 

• major variances between the revised estimate and the outturn; 
• the level of school balances; 
• transfers to / from reserves; 
• HRA outturn for the year; 
• The minimum level of balances in the light of risk assessments 

 
 The figures in the report are consistent with the figures included within the 

Statement of Accounts which were both approved by the Responsible Finance 
Officer and presented to Audit Committee on 25 June 2013. 

 
 In response to a question about the issue of school balances, the Cabinet 

Member explained that a balance control review was held annually where schools 
were required to justify any balances deemed to be excessive. 

 
 During discussion of this item, Members highlighted the 2.8% increase in rent 

arrears during the last financial year. The Cabinet Member stated that changes to 
welfare had compounded the issue and referred to the pro-active work being 
undertaken to work with people with rent arrears. Claire Jenkins, Head of 
Customer Support & Collections, highlighted the individual interventions that 
were being undertaken to help customers manage debts.  

 
  It was agreed: 
 
  That the report be noted. 

 
OSC.310 CAPITAL OUTTURN 2012/2013 

 

The Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance and Corporate Affairs 
submitted a report providing Members with details of the: 

• The capital outturn figures in respect of the last financial year 2012/13; 
• Major variances between the Revised Estimate and the Outturn; 
• The financing of the Capital Programme in 2012/13; 
• Re-profile of budgets/allocations and funding into 2013/14; and 
• Details of the capital receipts received during the year. 

 
 It was agreed: 
 
 1. That the final capital outturn for 2012/2013, and explanations for major 

variances, as detailed in Appendix A and the report submitted, be noted. 
 
  

Document Pack Page 5



 206

 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 4 September 2013 
 
 

2. That the financing of the Capital Programme in 2012/2013, as detailed in 
Paragraph 3.5 of the report, be noted. 

 
 3. That the re-profiled/slippage requests and associated funding into 2013/2014 

as detailed in Appendix B of the report be noted. 
 
 4. That the level of Capital Receipts realised in year as detailed in Appendix C of 

the report be noted. 
 
OSC.311 2012 – 2013 TREASURY MANAGEMENT ANNUAL REPORT  
 
 The Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance and Corporate Affairs 

submitted a report providing details of Treasury Management activities during 
2012/13. The Council undertakes Treasury Management Activities in accordance 
with the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Code of  

 
Practice on Treasury Management, which requires that the Council receives an 
annual strategy report by 31 March for the year ahead and an annual review 
report of the previous year by 30 September.  
 
In considering the report the Chair, Councillor Hankey, congratulated the officers 
involved in the report for their work.   

 
 It was agreed: 
 

That in accordance with CIPFA’s Code of Practice on Treasury Management, the 
report be noted. 

 
OSC.312 CORPORATE FINANCIAL MONITORING – APRIL TO JUNE 2013 
 
 The Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance and Corporate Affairs 

submitted a report which provided information on the Council’s financial position 
for the period up to June 2013 and projected the likely outturn at the end of 
2013/2014. 

 
 The report included details of Prudential Indicators in accordance with CIPFA’s 

Prudential Code. 
  

Questions and comments were invited and the following issues were raised: 
 

• In response to a question concerning the fact that the £400k saving had 
not yet been achieved in respect of waste management, it was reported 
that a report would be submitted to the next Cabinet meeting. 

 
• With regard to the current projected overspend, it was explained that 

historically the Quarter 1 figure had often resolved itself before the end of 
the year following remedial action. Councillor Smith explained that through 
the Start Chamber process, Cabinet Members and Senior Officers were 
constantly monitoring the budget position and taking swift action where 
necessary. 

 
• In response to concerns about the delay in savings from the Department of 

Communities and Neighbourhoods, the Cabinet Member stressed that  
 

Document Pack Page 6



 207

      Overview and Scrutiny Committee, 4 September 2013 
 
 

• these were delays due to consultations around staff restructures and 
expressed confidence that the savings would be realised. 

 
 It was agreed: 
 
 1. That the financial position of the Council as at 30 June 2013 be noted.  
 
 2. That the s151 Officer’s assessment of the minimum level of balances be noted. 
 
OSC.313 REQUEST FOR OVERVIEW PROJECT GROUP 
 

Councillor Cummings requested that the Committee give consideration to setting 
up an Overview Project Group to look at the issue of School Admissions in the 
Borough. 

 
 It was agreed: 
 

1. That an Overview Project Group be set up to look at the issue of School 
Admissions, with full membership sought from the Political Group Leaders.                                                      

 
2. That the Group referred to in (1) above  be Chaired by Councillor Fitzwalter. 

  
(Note: This item which did not appear on the agenda for the meeting was 
allowed by the Chair to be considered as a matter of urgency to enable the Group 
to commence its work at the earliest opportunity.) 

  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 COUNCILLOR M HANKEY  
 Chair 
 
 (Note:  The meeting started at 7.00 pm and ended at 9.30pm) 
 

Document Pack Page 7



Document Pack Page 8

This page is intentionally left blank



O & S Recycling Report 

 1

RECYCLING REVIEW ACTION PLAN 2013 

 

Recommendation Reason Steps involved When Lead Progress 

Rec 1  

 

That this Group recognises 

and congratulates the hard 

work that has been 

undertaken by the Council 

Employees across the 

authority and the residents 

of the Borough to reduce 

the amount of residual 

waste being sent to landfill 

and to increase the amount 

of waste being recycled. 

 

 

The Group believes that 

both residents and 

Council Employees have 

worked extremely hard 

to get to the levels of 

recycling that have 

currently been achieved 

but also feels that for 

this to improve the hard 

work should be 

congratulated and 

promoted. 

 

 

Promote the 

achievements already 

made in every way 

possible; via local; 

press, Council website, 

Township Forums, use 

of banners etc  

 

 

 

 

Ongoing 

 

 

Neil Long 

 

 

Recycling needs to be promoted at 

every opportunity to ensure that it 

becomes a way of life. 

 

Ongoing - continuous 

 

All Township Forums attended to 

promote recycling and to thank 

residents for progress already made 

 

A new promotional campaign was 

launched in September 2012 borough 

wide.  Campaign being relaunched in 

coming weeks. 

 

Communications campaign ongoing 

and website promoted 

 

 

Rec 2 

 

That Ward Councillors are 

encouraged to become 

‘Recycling Champions’ in 

their areas by promoting 

recycling wherever possible 

and work with the Waste 

Management Section to 

identify solutions for specific 

areas.” 

 

 

This will help Members 

to promote recycling to 

residents who may not 

be aware of it and to 

highlight any areas of 

concern. It will also 

promote neighbourhood 

working. 

   

 

 

Provide Members with 

as much knowledge of 

recycling as possible to 

enable them to pass this 

advice on.  This 

particularly applies to 

initiatives in their Ward. 

 

 

ongoing 

 

 

Glenn 

Stuart 

 

 

Neil Long 

 

 

Packs should be provided for newly 

elected Members to promote 

recycling. Visits to Greater 

Manchester’s (GMWDA’s) household 

waste treatment facilities should be 

available for any Councillor that wants 

to attend. 

 

Available to all Councillors 

A
genda Item

 5
D

ocum
ent P

ack P
age 9



O & S Recycling Report 

 2

Recommendation Reason Steps involved When Lead Progress 

 That Members are 

encouraged to contact 

waste management with 

issues that they have in 

relation to specific 

recycling schemes or 

recycling issues of 

residents.  However, 

questions/ complaints 

specific to collections 

should always be 

directed through the 

CCC.  

 

ongoing Ensure that Councillors have the 

correct contact information for their 

wards.  n/a. there is no specific Ward 

information.  

 

Already offer pre Council training 

sessions and attendance at Member 

Development Sessions.  

 

All Councillors are school governors 

and governors receive information 

and training on recycling.    

Rec 3 

 

That, to assist with ongoing 

work in relation to 

contaminated bins, all new 

bins are numbered by the 

Council before being 

delivered to properties and 

households where the bins 

are not numbered are 

encouraged to do so. 

 

 

Will give residents’ 

‘ownership’ and ensure 

that waste operatives 

can correctly record 

where recycling is not 

being undertaken. 

 

 

All new bins should be 

pre-numbered before 

leaving the depot. 

 

 

ongoing 

 

 

Glenn 

Stuart 

 

 

This is already being carried out and 

will continue. 

 

All new bin deliveries are labelled by 

white number stickers and black 

marker.  

Rec 4  

 

That the use of enforcement 

in relation to contaminated 

bins be considered – this 

would only be as a last 

resort and for repeat 

offenders. 

 

 

This would act as both a 

deterrent and a warning 

to those that are 

continuing to 

contaminate their bins.  

 

 

 

Identify steps needed to 

be taken and any issues 

that may be 

encountered.  

 

What staffing would be 

required? 

 

 

Sept 2013 

 

 

Neil Long 

 

 

Lorraine 

Chamberli

n 

 

 

This is currently undertaken by other 

Councils, ask them for information on 

any issues and obstacles they 

encountered. 

 

A report entitled ‘Business Case for an 

Enhanced Recycling Service that Aims 

to Achieve a Household Waste 

Recycling Rate of 50% and Beyond’ 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 10



O & S Recycling Report 

 3

Recommendation Reason Steps involved When Lead Progress 

was approved at Cabinet on 18 

September.   

 

The report included reference to a 

new ‘Waste Regulatory and 

Enforcement Policy’ and the 

establishment of a Waste 

Enforcement Team.  The team should 

be in place this calendar year.   

Rec 5 

 

That all waste operatives 

are regularly reminded to 

use the software correctly 

as this may assist to reduce 

the number of complaints 

received and the number of 

missed collections. 

 

 

This will ensure that the 

correct information is 

being recorded and is 

reliable. Will help to 

record where issues are 

occurring regularly and 

enable action to be 

taken.  

 

 

 

Provide written 

reminders in memo’s 

and verbal reminders as 

and when required to all 

operatives. 

 

 

July 2013 

 

 

Glenn 

Stuart 

 

 

Significant investment was made into 

the in-cab technology and as such, 

the information gathered using 

technology should be as accurate as it 

can be. 

 

Continuous  

 

Waste operatives attend ongoing 

training and the software used is 

further developed as technology 

becomes available 

Rec 6 

 

That Members should 

receive regular reports 

setting out targets versus 

actuals and highlighting 

where improvements need 

to be made and how this 

can be done. 

. 

 

This will highlight areas 

where targets are not 

being reached and allow 

Councillors to target 

specific areas that may 

fall within their wards. 

 

 

Liaise with Members on 

what information they 

would like to receive. 

 

Use information 

gathered from the 

systems in place to 

monitor targets. 

 

 

 

 

ongoing 

 

 

 

Neil Long 

 

Glenn 

Stuart 

 

 

Look at what is required and the 

possibility of merging 

recommendations 6, 7 and 8 

 

Investigate what information is 

available and how this can be 

provided to Councillors.  

 

Can this be done ward by ward? It 

cannot be done by Ward.  The service 

does not operate along Ward 

boundaries. 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 11



O & S Recycling Report 

 4

Recommendation Reason Steps involved When Lead Progress 

 

Can this be done electronically – 

identify how regularly this would be 

required. 

 

Performance information is available 

to Members periodically and this will 

be ongoing. 

 

 

Rec 7 

 

That the possibility of 

carrying out specific 

exception reporting or 

analytical research is 

considered to look at trends 

and highlight where 

improvements can be 

made. 

 

 

 

 

Should identify ward 

specific issues which 

can then be targeted. 

 

 

Identify how the 

software can be utilised 

to provide this type of 

information. 

 

 

ongoing 

 

 

Neil Long 

 

Glenn 

Stuart 

 

 

 

 

See Rec 6 

 

Regular reports through portfolio 

holder to Star Chamber. 

 

Collection routes not ward specific but 

certain areas are recognised and if 

issues arise are targeted.  

Rec 8 

 

That complaints relating to 

missed bin collections are 

monitored by area to 

highlight any patterns. 

 

 

This would highlight 

trends and may identify 

where education was 

required to be carried 

out. 

 

The information could 

be included on with the 

updates to Members. 

 

 

Customer contact centre 

information – meet with 

relevant officers to 

discuss how the 

information can be 

extracted. 

 

 

Ongoing 

 

 

Neil Long 

 

Glenn 

Stuart 

 

 

See Rec 6 

 

The developments with the in-cab 

technology show where bins are not 

put out for collection. This technology 

also allows for operatives to report 

problems to the contact centre if 

access to a street or estate was not 

possible. 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 12



O & S Recycling Report 

 5

Recommendation Reason Steps involved When Lead Progress 

Rec 9 

 

That something similar to 

the interactive games that 

were used on the visit to 

the recycling centre should 

be developed locally to be 

rolled out to schools across 

the borough. This would 

help to educate the young 

people within the borough 

who would then pass this on 

to the rest of their families. 

 

 

 

The interactive games 

that were used at the 

recycling centre were 

fun to play but also very 

informative. This would 

be a good way of 

educating children who 

could then educate their 

parents and other 

relatives. 

 

 

Research if there is 

anything produced by 

GMWDA that could be 

used. 

 

GMWDA has interactive 

games on its website – 

ask schools to look at 

these. 

 

Consider holding a 

Recycling week at 

schools across the 

borough where the 

pupils come up with 

their own interactive 

games based on the 

GMWDA  - best game is 

rolled out across all 

schools in the borough. 

 

 

From Sept 

2013 

 

 

Talat Afzal 

 

 

This would promote recycling and get 

all schools involved. 

 

Invite Councillors to help out with this 

in the schools that they are 

Governors. 

 

On line games have been developed 

by Viridor and are available on the 

R4GM website. All schools have 

access to this resource. Schools have 

been signposted to the website as 

have recycling champions. 

Recycling education in schools 

ongoing as the recycling initiative is 

rolled out to all schools. All schools to 

be recycling by end November 2013. 

 

The Cabinet report referred to above 

includes reference to the 

establishment of an Officer to work in 

schools on an ongoing basis 

promoting recycling.  

Rec 10 

 

That all Councillors are 

encouraged to attend a visit 

to the Customer Contact 

Centre. 

 

 

This highlights the 

issues that the contact 

centre are dealing with 

and shows the 

Councillors how issues 

are progressed. 

 

 

Invite Councillors to 

attend scheduled visits 

when they can be given 

a tour of the centre and 

receive an introduction 

before sitting in and 

listening to telephone 

calls as they are 

received. 

 

 

ongoing 

 

 

Michelle 

Bracegirdl

e 

 

 

All councillors have been invited to 

attend the centre and this is being 

carried out on a rolling basis. 

 

The Councillors attend a presentation 

and are then able to sit with a call 

centre operative listening in to calls 

being received.  

 

Lists of Councillors who have attended 

are available. 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 13



O & S Recycling Report 

 6

Recommendation Reason Steps involved When Lead Progress 

Rec 11 

 

That all funding 

opportunities in relation to 

the promotion of recycling 

are researched and applied 

for. 

     

 

This is already done as demonstrated 

by the successful application for EU 

LIFE+ funding by the GMWDA on 

behalf of the GM Waste Partnership. 

All opportunities for funding are 

monitored on an ongoing basis. 

 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 14



 1

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 

DECISION OF: Cabinet 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

DATE: Wednesday, 18th September 2013 
Tuesday, 8th October 2013 

SUBJECT: Corporate Plan Progress Report –  
Quarter 1 2013-14 

REPORT FROM: Leader of the Council 

CONTACT OFFICER: Sarah Marshall, Performance Officer – Adults 
Planning 

TYPE OF DECISION: Non key decision 

FREEDOM OF 
INFORMATION/STATUS: 

This paper is within the public domain  
 

SUMMARY: The Corporate Plan Progress Report outlines the 
progress during quarter one 2013-14 for the corporate 
performance indicators and projects within the Bury 
Council Corporate Plan. The information is extracted 
from the Performance Information Management System 
(PIMS) and provided by the responsible services.  

OPTIONS & 
RECOMMENDED OPTION 

The Cabinet and Committee are asked to note the 
contents of the report.  

IMPLICATIONS:  

Corporate Aims/Policy 
Framework: 

Do the proposals accord with the Policy 
Framework?  Yes     

Statement by the S151 Officer: 
Financial Implications and Risk 
Considerations: 

There are no direct financial implications 
arising from this monitoring report.  
The report outlines the current forecast 
outturn position based upon data available at 
Quarter 1. 
Likewise the report highlights the Corporate 
Risk Register as at Quarter 1. 

Statement by Executive Director 
of Resources: 

There are no other direct resource 
implications arising from this report. 

Equality/Diversity implications: Yes 
An Equality Analysis was undertaken for the 
Bury Council Corporate Plan 2012-15 and it 
was concluded that the Plan has a positive 
impact by aiming to reduce poverty and 
inequality. This report provides a summary of 
the progress made. 

Considered by Monitoring Officer: Yes                                                  JH 

 

Wards Affected: All 
Scrutiny Interest: Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
 
TRACKING/PROCESS   DIRECTOR: Executive Director, ACS 
 

 

REPORT FOR DECISION 

Agenda Item 6Document Pack Page 15



 2

Chief Executive/ 
Strategic Leadership 

Team 

Cabinet 
Member/Chair 

Ward Members Partners 

 
02/09/13 

   

Scrutiny Committee Cabinet/Committee Council  

 

08/10/13 
 

18/09/13 
  

    
 
1.0 BACKGROUND  
 
1.1 The council publishes a Corporate Plan each year with progress updates 

reported to Cabinet each quarter.  This report outlines performance against the 
plan for quarter 1 2013-14.  

 
2.0 SUMMARY  
 
2.1 There is evidence of a good start to 2013-14: 

Red, 8
Amber, 8

Green, 19

No Traffic 

Light; Data 

not 

available, 3

Green Amber Red No Traffic Light; Data not available

 
 

  
2.2 Of the 53 corporate performance indicators detailed in the corporate plan, 38 of 

these have outcomes for quarter 1 on which we can report as some are 
collected annually. 19 indicators (50%) have demonstrated an improvement on 
the out turn for 2012-13 and/or exceeded the target set for this year and 8 
indicators (represented as amber on the chart) have just fallen short of 
meeting our expectations. Considering the financial situation and other 
challenges facing services, this level of performance at the beginning of the 
year is positive and demonstrates the potential to meet the high standards we 
set ourselves as a Council by year end. 

 
2.3 8 areas under achieved: 
 

• 5 of these indicators have not produced the expected outcome due to 
changes to working practice. More challenging assessments have been 
introduced to identify achievement at Key Stage 2 for ethnic minority 
groups and children on free school meals. The introduction of personalised 

Document Pack Page 16



 3

social care packages has meant it is taking more time to complete the 
assessments and put these into practice so the targets for timescales have 
not been met. It is expected that this will be improved upon and the target 
will be achieved by year end. 

• The number of households living in temporary accommodation is 50% 
above target but is expected to reduce over the course of the year as the 
service is now discharging the Council’s homelessness duty in the private 
sector, reducing the reliance on social housing for resettlement. 

• 66.7% of children and young people in care were placed for adoption within 
12 months of the decision and who remained in that placement. This figure 
is based on a small cohort (3), a better representation of performance 
against this indicator should be available at year end as the cohort group 
will have increased. 

• 1 indicator is outside of our control to influence the performance 
management. The percentage of children becoming the subject of a Child 
Protection Plan is above the target set. 

 
2.4 There are 3 indicators where progress cannot be analysed, which is an 

improvement upon last year.  Data from external sources has not been 
available to calculate these outcomes for quarter 1. Work is ongoing to review 
the data set for future Corporate Plans so that non-reporting is minimised and 
the results selected provide a fair and meaningful reflection of the Council’s 
position. 

 
2.5 Analysing the results by the Council’s priority outcomes, some progress is 

being made across all four areas: 

 

2

5

7

51

1

3

3

1

7
0

0

2

0

1

0

0

2

4

6

8

10

12

14

Reducing Poverty &

It's Effects

Supporting our most

vulnerable residents

Making Bury a better

place to live

One Council, One

Success, Together

Green Amber Red No Traffic Light; Data not yet available

 
 
2.6 At this early stage outcomes for supporting our most vulnerable residents face 

the greatest challenge. Efforts are being made to improve the position over the 
coming year. A more accurate picture will emerge over the next two quarters 
as more information becomes available. 

 
3.0 CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATIONS 

Document Pack Page 17



 4

 
3.1 The report provides details of the progress made at quarter one 2013-14. 
 
3.2 Overall, performance against the corporate plan indicates a mixed picture with 

19 out of 38 (50%) of indicators achieving target and/or performing better than 
last year. In the context of current pressures and resource limitations, some 
deterioration in performance may be expected. Where we have not performed 
as planned, the reasons have been identified and in most cases a proactive 
approach has been adopted to improve these outcomes throughout this year. 

 
3.3 It is recommended that Cabinet accept the report and note the actions being 

taken to address areas of under achievement against targets. 
 
 
 

 
List of Background Papers:- 
Bury Council Corporate Plan 2013-16 
 
Contact Details:- Sarah Marshall, Performance Officer – Adults Planning 
Tel: 0161 253 7658 
Email: s.marshall@bury.gov.uk 

Document Pack Page 18



1 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

One Council. 

One Plan. 
 

Quarter One 2013-14:  

Progress Report 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 19



2 

 

 

INTRODUCTION 

1.1 This report outlines progress during quarter one of 2013-14 for the corporate performance indicators and projects within the 
Bury Council Corporate Plan. The information provided is extracted from the Performance Information Management System 
(PIMS) and the responsible services. 
 

1.2 There are currently 53 performance indicators from PIMS and 25 projects within the Corporate Plan. This report provides a 

summary of the overall performance of all indicators and projects.  

 

1.3 Where data are unavailable for Quarter 1 2013-14, the report provides the latest inputted data from previous quarters.  

 

1.4 Throughout this report the definitions of the colour-coding are: 

• Green – On target and/or better than 2012-13 performance 
• Amber – Within 15% of achieving target or within 15% of 2012-13 performance 
• Red – Below target or worse than we achieved in 2012-13.  
• No Traffic Light – Information not available due to various reasons. 

 
1.5      The detail of this corporate performance report can be viewed or downloaded on the corporate performance information 

monitoring system (PIMS). If you require copies of the reports or need training on the operation of the monitoring system; 

please contact Benjamin Imafidon on Ext 6592. 

  
 

 

 

 

 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 20



3 

 

SUMMARY 

2.1 Overall the council currently reports performance against a total of 53 corporate performance indicators. For quarter 1, 
outcomes for 38 of these indicators were collected as some indicators are reported annually. The chart below shows the 
percentage of these performance indicators that are categorised as Red, Amber and Green using the criteria set out in 
paragraph 1.4.  

Red, 8
Amber, 8

Green, 19

No Traffic 

Light; Data 

not 

available, 3

Green Amber Red No Traffic Light; Data not available

 

 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 21



4 

 

Reducing Poverty and Its Effects 

Current Performance 

 
Performance Indicators 
 
Measure Higher/ 

lower is 
better 

2012/13 
Baseline 

2013/14 
Q1  

Target Commentary 

Overall employment rate for Bury 
(working age) 

Higher 75.2% 
 

77.8% 
(Green) 

70% 
 

Bury’s outcome for this indicator is 6.4% 
higher than Greater Manchester (71.4%). 
Bury Employment and Skills Task Group are 
working to maintain this gap. 

Working age people on out of 
work benefits (percentage 
difference between Bury and 
Greater Manchester) 
 

Lower 2% 
 

1.9% 
(Green) 

1.6% Recent information published by New 
Economy shows that the proportion of 
working age people on out of work benefits is 
16% in Bury and 17.9% in Greater 
Manchester. Partnership work is ongoing 
through Bury Employment and Skills Task 
Group to both influence provision locally and 
engage with businesses established and 
incoming to employ our unemployed 
residents.  

Percentage of working age 
people claiming out of work 
benefits in the worst performing 
neighbourhoods 

Lower Not 
available 

Not 
available 

32% Unable to obtain data at lower super output 
area level. 

Proportion of population aged 19-
64 for males and 19-59 for 
females qualified to at least Level 
2 or higher 

Higher Not 
available 

Not 
available 

70% Unable to provide data, statistics do not get 
recorded by Skills Funding Agency and not 
readily available. This is to be reviewed. 

Proportion of children in poverty 
 

Lower 18.31 Not 
available 

21.09 This is an annual indicator and will be 
reported at year end. The Q4 outcome is from 
2010. 

Achievement gap between pupils 
eligible for free school meals and 

Lower 16% 
 

18.2% 
(Red) 

15% The achievement gap has increased by 0.6% 
from last year but these results are still 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 22



5 

 

their peers achieving the 
expected level at Key Stage 2 

provisional and subject to change. This may 
be due to the introduction of new more 
challenging assessments. National results for 
comparisons will be available in Q3. 

Inequality gap in the 
achievement of a Level 3 
qualification by the age of 19 

Lower 18% 
 

Not 
available 

28% 
 

This is an annual indicator and will be 
reported at year end. 

Achievement gap between pupils 
eligible for free school meals and 
their peers achieving the 
expected level at Key Stage 4 

Lower 23.2% 
 

Not 
available 

22% Results will be available by Q3. 

Percentage of 16-18 year olds by 
academic age who are not in 
education, employment or 
training (NEET) 

Lower 5.5% 
 

6.1% 
(Amber) 
 

6.4% The Q1 NEET figure represents a 0.7% 
improvement on June 12. This is especially 
encouraging given that once again the 
'currency' rules around the NEET cohort have 
been changed with NEET young people no 
longer able to lapse in to not known after 3 
months. In theory this should increase the 
NEET cohort so a reduced % is a significant 
achievement. 

 

Project Updates 

Poverty Strategy 
The monitoring process for the poverty strategy was instigated this quarter. Work is ongoing between the Welfare Reform Project 
Board (WRPB), responsible officers and the performance monitoring officer to ensure the good efforts made as a result of the strategy 
are appropriately represented. The WRPB are considering specific outcomes to monitor and track the impact of poverty in Bury, this 
will include the demand on Citizens Advice Bureau services, food parcels and financial support claims. Developments through 
partnership working are evident in the progress made by the Health and Wellbeing Board, Bury Community Learning Partnership, the 
Children and Young People's plan and the development of our Corporate Debt Policy with Six Town Housing. The impact of welfare 
reform has been addressed through Barclays Money Skills, Community Access to Advice, Bury Support Fund and Credit Union. 
 
Homelessness Strategy 
The refresh of the Homelessness Strategy is progressing well.  Consultation on the draft documents is expected later this year.  The 
Housing Education and New Opportunities (HEN) Project commenced in February. There are currently 28 people accommodated on 
this scheme and there have been a number of successes in terms of service users attending training courses and obtaining 
employment both paid and voluntary. The service users have also received health screening and there has been an improvement in 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 23



6 

 

many of the service user’s health and well being. 
 
The Cold Weather provision was again successful over the winter period. A new provider has been commissioned to work with rough 
sleepers focusing on a street rescue model so that no rough sleeper experiences a second night on the streets. 
 
Affordable Warmth 
The action plan is currently under review awaiting the development of the UK Fuel Poverty Strategy which is due to be published this 
year.  However there is continued delivery of the strategy's key aims with internal and external partners including: 
 
- Bury Healthy Homes Scheme 2012/13 
To complete last year’s scheme a further 262 winter warmth packs were delivered to applicants who were unable to collect them in 
person (which makes 986 packs in total being given out) and a review of the scheme is in progress.  4 training sessions have been 
booked for November on energy related topics for frontline staff, to equip them with recognising fuel poverty with vulnerable Bury 
residents who may need assistance keeping warm and well this winter. 
 
- Collective GM Energy Switching Scheme  
A second auction was carried out on the 09/04/13 with 1061 Bury residents signing up to switch supplier.  Those residents who 
decided to switch both gas and electricity saved on average £119 per household.  GM is undertaking an evaluation on the first two 
auctions and is considering a third one in October 2013.    
 
- GM ECO Toasty Scheme 2013/14  
Bury is working with Carillion, a procured Energy Company Obligation (ECO) partner (in advance of the GM Green Deal scheme going 
live from Jan 14) to provide residents with free or heavily subsidised home energy efficiency improvements, using ECO funding both 
across the Borough and in 4 targeted areas.   The scheme has started to be promoted in Bury and the first 2 target areas of Bury 
East and Moorside, and Carillion have already undertaken 10 surveys.  The inclusion of a target to promote the scheme in the 
Township Forums Local Area Plans has also been successfully negotiated.  
 
In general Urban Renewal continues to work closely with the GM Energy Advice Service by way of attendance at meetings and their 
involvement in the above schemes. 

 
Backing Young Bury 
The Connecting Provision Activity is an innovative model using all locally funded provision and shaping it into one offer for young 
people who are the furthest from securing employment.  This model works with those young people who have the greatest barriers in 
order to gain the biggest impact in the community as well as the biggest savings in the future. It includes, Troubled Families, 
Sportivate, ESF Complex Families, Adult Learning Provision, Work Programme Providers and Jobcentre Plus.  By working with priority 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 24



7 

 

groups Bury Council is able to draw down Youth Contract and GM Commitment Grants to recycle into further activity. 
 
Council Tax Support Scheme 
The new Council Tax Support scheme was introduced in Bury on 1st April 2013. The funding the council receives from the 
Government has been reduced by 10%. Whilst councils were free to design their own schemes the Government regulated that 
pensioners could not be worse off after 1st April.  
 
The main feature of Bury’s scheme is a restriction on the maximum amount of support a household can receive to the Council Tax 
amount charged for a Band B property. This measure affected 800 residents. Early indications are that collection rates for residents 
affected by the new scheme are similar to other charge payers. 
 
It is worth noting that the Council Support caseload is changing all the time, with households coming off benefits and others making 
new claims. Therefore reductions in support may only be experienced for a short time.  
 
Local Social Fund Replacement (Bury Support Fund) 
The Bury Support Fund commenced 2nd April 2013. A steady flow of claims have been received from the start with food parcels and 
pre-payment cards being used to support customers. It has and will continue to be a huge learning curve for all concerned. 
 
As the scheme has settled in we are starting to look at the types of requests we receive; over the next few months we will review the 
scheme criteria and those services we support and address any areas that need to be altered.  We continually need to ensure that 
targeted help and support is going to the right people at the right time.  
In Q1 we have found that most crisis applications appear to be due to DWP delays where customers are without resources for a 
certain period of time. Customers are being asked to approach the DWP processing centre to request Short Term Benefit Advances 
and Hardship payments where appropriate.  This has been addressed with the DWP but continues to be a drain on our limited 
resources. 
 
A CAB Bury Support Fund Adviser has joined the team to assist us with debt and budgeting advice for those customers who have 
unsuccessful support fund applications, those affected by under occupancy and those who are struggling to pay their bills.  This 
ensures that we are not just dealing with the short term need of a crisis we are also working with the customer to achieve and meet 
long term challenges. 
 
 
 
 
 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 25



8 

 

Supporting our most vulnerable residents 

Current Performance 

 
Performance Indicators 
 
Measure Higher/ 

lower is 
better 

2012/13 
Baseline 

2013/14 
Q1  

Target Commentary 

Percentage achieving 
independence: older people 
through rehabilitation/ 
intermediate care 

Higher 93.5% 
 

81.7% 
(Amber) 

80% Due to the prevention services in place less 
people are admitted to hospital. 

Adults with learning disabilities in 
settled accommodation 

Higher 85.7% 
 

86.1% 
(Green) 

80% We continue to ensure customers with a 
learning disability are in settled 
accommodation due to joint working 
between the learning disability team, health 
and social care and housing. 

Adults with learning disabilities in 
employment 

Higher 40% 
 

39% 
(Green) 

35% This years target has been set at 35. Whilst 
we are ahead of target in quarter 1, the 
jobs market can fluctuate throughout the 
year. 

Number of households living in 
temporary accommodation 

Lower 12 
 

15 
(Red) 

10 It is expected that the number of 
households in temporary accommodation 
will reduce due to the introduction of 
discharging duty in the private sector which 
means we no longer rely exclusively on 
social housing for resettling households. 

Percentage of social care 
assessments completed within 28 
days 

Higher 83.6% 
 

66.2% 
(Red) 

78% Behind on this target due to the increased 
time taken to complete personalised 
assessments, but we aim is to achieve the 
target by year end as this has been 
achieved in previous years. 

Percentage of social care 
packages in place 28 days after 
assessment 

Higher 77.5% 
 

42.6% 
(Red) 

60% It has been harder to achieve this target 
due to the increased time taken to get 
support in place when it is personalised. 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 26



9 

 

This has now been removed as a national 
indicator but we continue to monitor it 
locally. 

Social Care clients receiving Self 
Directed Support (Direct 
payments and individual 
budgets) 

Higher 30.7% 
 

59.9% 
(Green) 

55% This indicator has improved due to an 
amendment to the cohort group. The target 
has been set locally and work continues to 
increase this figure. 

Carers receiving needs 
assessment or review and a 
specific carer’s service, or advice 
and information 

Higher 16.6% 
 

6.7% 
(Green) 

25% This is a cumulative target and we are on 
track for meeting it by year end. 

The percentage of children and 
young people in care adopted 
during the year who were placed 
for adoption within 12 months of 
the decision that they should be 
placed for adoption, and who 
remained in that placement on 
adoption. 

Higher 77.3%  
 

66.7% 
(Red) 

80% 
 

Year to date: 2 out of 3 (66.7%) 

Percentage of children becoming 
the subject of Child Protection 
Plan for a second or subsequent 
time 

Lower 12.3% 
 

25.7% 
(Red) 

17% 
 

Of the 70 Bury plans that commenced 
between April and June inclusive, 18 
(25.7%) are repeats. The provisional 2013-
2014 figure puts us in one of the 
"Investigate urgently" PAF A3 bands (24% 
or above). 

The percentage of children and 
young people in care achieving 5 
A*-C GCSEs (or equivalent) at 
key stage 4 (including English & 
Maths) 

Higher 13.6% 
 

Not 
available 

50% 
 

This is an annual indicator and will be 
reported at quarter 2. 

Percentage gap between pupils 
with Special Educational Needs 
and their peers achieving 5 A*-C 
GCSEs including English and 
Maths 

Lower 49.2% 
 

Not 
available 

44% This is an annual indicator and will be 
reported at quarter 3. 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 27



10 

 

Key Stage 2 attainment for Black 
and minority ethnic groups: 
Pakistani Heritage 

Lower 4.7% 
 

4.3% 
(Green) 

3% The gap has decreased so although we 
have not met target there has been 
improvement. 

Key Stage 2 attainment for Black 
and minority ethnic groups: 
Mixed White and Black Caribbean 

Lower -10.9% 
 

8.7% 
(Red) 

5% These results are provisional. Due to more 
challenging assessments the gap has 
increased. National comparisons will be 
available in quarter 3. Care has to be taken 
when looking at these figures because of 
the cohort size of 29 pupils out of 2061 for 
year 6. 

Key Stage 2 attainment for Black 
and minority ethnic groups: 
White Other 

Lower 9.4% 
 

13.9% 
(Red) 

9% Due to more challenging assessments this 
indicator gap has increased by 4.5%. 
National data will be available for 
comparison in quarter 3. 

Percentage of pupils permanently 
excluded from school in the year 

Lower 0.16% 
(Green) 

Not 
available 

0.22% This is an annual indicator and will be 
reported at quarter 2. 

 

Project Updates 

Supporting Communities, Improving Lives 
Following a review of progress and subsequent conversations with the DCLG team who are funding the programme, work is underway 
to refresh the data, strengthen the governance framework and accelerate work with families that meet the criteria.  The national 
team has expressed satisfaction with our plans going forward and the level of strategic support that exists; the priority for the next 
quarter is operational - mobilising the plan to deliver successful outcomes to more families. 
 
Extra Care Housing 
Two bids were submitted to the Homes & Communities Agency (HCA) for the Care & Support Specialised Housing Fund.  The results 
of these bids were announced in July 2013.  The bid by St Vincent's Housing Association to develop a scheme on Danesmoor Road 
has been successful; a significant achievement considering the large number of bids in the region.  Unfortunately, the Six Town 
Housing bid to develop a larger scheme, similar to Red Bank in Radcliffe was unsuccessful at this stage.  Officers from the Council and 
Six Town Housing will continue to work together to ensure this scheme is well placed to pick any 'slippage' funding from the HCA and 
to explore alternative ways of financing this much-needed scheme. 
 
Red Bank in Radcliffe continues to operate successfully, recently celebrating its first birthday, with a coffee and cakes afternoon for 
residents and guests.  Falcon and Griffin flats remain popular after the improvement works there. 
 
Housing Allocation Policy 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 28



11 

 

The new allocations policy has been implemented and in operation since the beginning of May 2013. 
 
Day Opportunities 
Development of the Clarence Park Day Service is ongoing. We are currently out to tender for the building work to commence in 
quarter 3 and due to complete in quarter 4. Upon completion the new day service will include a community café facility which will 
offer training and work experience opportunities to people with disabilities. 
 
Great Places Housing Group is to develop a new day care centre on the site of Hazlehurst. This will replace the services previously 
available at Whittle Pike and other facilities in the borough. 
 
Early Intervention Strategy 
A S188 has just been completed which disestablished the Early Intervention Service and proposed to establish an Early Help Team. 
Selection processes have begun to identify some members of this new team. Other roles will be advertised soon. 
A development group is being set up with partners to agree Terms of Reference for the new Early Help Panel, and to agree actions 
around developing this. Work is ongoing to establish a multi-agency safeguarding hub which will involve all key partners. 
 

New Horizons Programme 
The New Horizons Programme continued to support eleven learners with learning difficulties and/or disabilities to further develop 
their life skills. An annual evaluation report of progress during the 2012/13 academic year and figures for the number of new learners 
for 2013/14 will be reported at Quarter 2.  
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 29



12 

 

Making Bury a better place to live 

Current Performance 

 
Performance Indicators 
 
Measure Higher/ 

lower is 
better 

2012/13 
Baseline 

2013/14 
Q1  

Target Commentary 

Visits in person to 
Galleries/Museum per 1,000 
population   

Higher 235.01 
 

66.04 
(Green) 

241 In the first quarter there were 12139 
visitors. This is a cumulative indicator and 
currently based on mid 2011 population 
figures. This figure is higher than at quarter 
1 last year. Full year results will be re-
calculated at year end on mid 2012 
population figures. 

Percentage of household waste 
sent for re use, recycling and 
composting 

Higher 44.85% 
 

45% 
(Green) 

44% This figure is an estimate and will be 
confirmed following audited tonnages from 
the Greater Manchester Waste Disposal 
Authority. 

Residual household waste - kgs 
per household 

Lower 450.5kg 
 
  

120kg 
(Amber) 

445kg This figure is an estimate and will be 
confirmed following audited tonnages from 
the Greater Manchester Waste Disposal 
Authority. 

The percentage of urban and 
countryside parks, based on the 
ISPAL definition, that have 
achieved "green flag" status 

Higher 85.71% 
 

Not 
available 

85.71% This is an annual indicator and will be 
reported at year end. All parks have been 
mystery shopped. 

Percentage of adults participating 
in at least 30 minutes moderate 
intensity sport and active 
recreation on three or more days a 
week 

Higher 23.6% 
 

23.6% 
(Amber) 

25.5% Annual data reported in Q3 APS7 (Active 
People Survey) mid to late October 13 

Number of serious violent crimes 
per 1,000 population 

Lower 0.52 
 

0.10 
(Green) 

0.88 
 

During quarter 1 19 incidents of serious 
violent crime were reported. 

Number of serious acquisitive Lower 11.43 2.53 12.95 During quarter 1 469 incidents of serious 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 30



13 

 

crimes per 1,000 population  (Green)  acquisitive crime were reported. 
Assault with injury crime rate per 
1,000 of the population 

Lower 5.78 
 

2.19 
(Green) 

6.25 
 

During quarter 1 407 incidents of assault 
were recorded. 

Reduction in the number of 
incidents of anti-social behaviour 
as measured by the National 
Codes for Incidences (NICL) 

Lower 44.52 
 

12.10 
(Amber) 

46.2 
 

During quarter 1 2241 incidents of anti-
social behaviour were reported. 

Percentage rate of repeat incidents 
of domestic violence 

Lower 29.26% 
 

34.15% 
(Green) 

40% 
 

During quarter 1 14 repeat cases were 
discussed at the Multi Agency Risk 
Assessment Conference (MARAC). 

Number of first-time entrants 
(FTEs) to the Youth Justice system 
aged 10-17 (Rate per 100,000) 

Lower 637 
 

Not 
available 

536.95 This is an annual indicator and will be 
reported at year end. The target set 
reflects the England average. 

Prevalence of breastfeeding at 6 to 
8 weeks 

Higher 98.42% 100% 
(Green) 

97.20% Much effort has gone into getting this rate 
up to 100%. We do monthly reports 
throughout the quarter to identify any gaps 
and make sure we get complete statuses 
for the babies input on the Child Health 
system in a timely manner. This is done by 
working with the health visiting team and 
checking the records of the babies to make 
sure they are input onto the Child Health 
system. Data sourced from Pennine Care 
quarter 1 Breastfeeding Return. 

Rate of alcohol-related hospital 
admissions per 100,000 
population (DSR) 

Lower 2067 Not 
available 

1879 Data currently unavailable to Public Health 
Team due to development of new data 
warehouse at Greater Manchester 
Commissioning Support Unit (GMCSU). 

Percentage of the local authority 
principal road networks (‘A’ roads) 
where structural maintenance 
should be considered 

Lower 3% 
 

Not 
available 

10% This is an annual indicator and will be 
reported at year end. 

Percentage of the local authority 
non principal classified road 
networks (‘B’ and ‘C’ roads) where 

Lower 3% 
 

Not 
available 

10% This is an annual indicator and will be 
reported at year end. 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 31



14 

 

structural maintenance should be 
considered 
Increased number of tourist 
visitors (STEAM) 

Higher 5,404,130 
 
 

Not 
available 

5,315,516 This is an annual indicator and will be 
reported at quarter 3. 

Supply of ready to develop 
housing sites 

Higher 100% 
 

Not 
available 

100% This is an annual indicator and will be 
reported at year end.  

CO2 reduction from local authority 
operations 

Higher 9%  Not 
available 

16% This is an annual indicator and will be 
reported at quarter 2. 

Visits in person to libraries per 
thousand population 

Higher 5,384 
(Amber) 

Not 
available 

5,300 This is an annual indicator and will be 
reported at quarter 3. 

 

Project Updates 

Health Reform 
Work still continues on the Health & Well-Being Strategy. Priorities for the Health & Well-Being Strategy and the Health & Well-Being 
Board are being developed and will form part of the work that is ongoing. Feedback from the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and 
the asset approach will improve and inform commissioning intentions for the future.   
 
We have successfully recruited to Healthwatch Chair and Vice Chair:  Chair: Andrew Ramwell and Vice Chair: Carol Twist, who will be 
working with the Project Board to establish Healthwatch.  
 
Increase recycling, reuse and composting 
Food waste recycling from school kitchens and Council buildings continues to be rolled out, as do on-street recycling bins.  Recycling 
performance largely stabilised at the moment, in the absence of significant new initiatives.  Small, seasonal variations with garden 
waste tonnages collected.  Very difficult, if not impossible, to quantify the impact of promotional campaigns, given other variables at 
play and the absence of a control. 
 
New health and social care partnership with Bury Football Club 
The partnership has focused it’s approach on inclusion and improving the quality of life for the local community, developing an action 
plan which focuses on achieving the following outcomes: 
- Increasing levels of physical activity 
- Engage communities in their own health and develop their capacity to support individual behaviour change for healthier lifestyles 
- Engage with socially excluded groups through sport encouraging healthy choices and reduce health inequalities 
- Promote a positive and healthy environment 
 
These outcomes will be met through a range of activities including; girl’s football, Buggy Boot Camp, Memory Lane – Dementia Café 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 32



15 

 

and Healthy Stadia. Number of participants has increased across the activities contributing to better outcomes and the partnership 
aims to maintain this level of participation in 2013-14. With the season starting in July 2013 we will get an indication of the impact 
these activities may have on participants following Bury FCs quarter 1 analysis in September 2013. 
 
Empty properties 
- Homes and Communities Agency (HCA) funding for empty properties 
 8 empty properties have been identified so far where the owners wish to sell thus potentially exceeding the target of 4 for the 
second year of delivery.  Discussions have taken place with the HCA who are happy for Bury's target to be exceeded in line with the 
wider AGMA programme.  As part of a second AGMA wide bid, Bury has been successful in securing further HCA funding of at least 
£690,000 to bring a further 13 empty residential properties back into use and 1 commercial premises. 
   
- Radcliffe Empty Property Pilot 
 A series of meetings have taken place with Six Town Housing, Property Services and Legal to further develop the business case and 
working procedures.  The business case for the first 5 empty properties will be complete by the end June for internal sign-off.  A 
further 4 empty properties have already been identified and Urban Renewal has started to put together the business cases for them.  
A draft Local Economic Benefit report has been produced which sets out how any local supply chains and employment/training 
opportunities will be developed/managed. 
 
- Empty property grants 
The first of the 6 grants in Radcliffe has been successfully completed.  Surveys on the other 5 have been carried out and are 
progressing through the grants process. 
 
Registry Office Annual Performance Report 
The annual performance report was completed for 2012/13 and demonstrated good performance (95% and above) for registering 
births and deaths within the timescales set. Bury Registry Office received 100% customer satisfaction through their survey 
responses. Key performance indicators for quarter 1 show that this good performance has continued into the beginning of 2013/14 as 
most outcomes reflect or exceed national and regional performance. 
 
Investment in LED (light emitting diode) lighting 
The contract for producing the LED lights went out to tender and a supplier has successfully been secured. Over the next quarter, 

meetings will take place to establish a design process and we expect to place the first order for Bury's new efficient lighting as part of 

a phased roll out to improve the quality of street lighting in the borough. We have already obtained a batch of column extensions to 

convert our 5 metre columns into 6 metres. As a scheme has already been successfully implemented using these, we are confident in 

their suitability for roll out across the Borough when they are required. 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 33



16 

 

Streetsafe Strategy 
The introduction of 20mph speed limits is being carried out as a series of individual schemes in areas defined by their boundaries with 

key routes. Twelve schemes (two in each of the Borough’s six townships) have been the subject of informal consultations which have 

seen the delivery of information packages to over 8,000 residential properties. Details of each consultation have also appeared on the 

Council’s StreetSafe website at www.bury.gov.uk/streetsafe which has been launched to provide up-to-date information about the 

strategy. 

The Road Safety Team have promoted the wider aims of the StreetSafe strategy by offering introductory cycle training to Year 4 

(ages 8-9) classes within the Borough. Level 1 (off-road) national standards cycle training was delivered to approximately 417 pupils 

from 25 different schools. This was delivered alongside our normal programme of Level 2 (on-road) national standards cycle training 

with Year 5 and 6 children (ages 9-11). 

Remodelling of the library service 
At the July 10th 2013 Cabinet meeting the phase 2 proposals regarding the remodelling of the Library Service were discussed and a 
way forward was agreed.  Community hubs are still important both for the Library Service and the Council, but they will now be 
progressed more widely during the roll-out of the corporate Asset Management Strategy.  To achieve the required £570,000 savings 
in 2014/2015, the Library Service will restructure, with a reduction in the staffing establishment and in sundry budgets. RFID (Radio 
Frequency Identification), a system whereby customers can self serve for the loaning of resources and paying fines, is currently in 
procurement for phase 1 (Bury Library), whilst for phase 2 (7 further libraries) RFID will be formally discussed with staff in the near 
future. 
 
Developing visitor attractions and economic development opportunities 
The first quarter has seen the continuation of tourism development activity on the successful 'East Lancashire Railway Experience 
Project'.  The key objectives are to capitalise on the existing visitor offer through rebranding and marketing and also to develop new 
products.  Examples of activity include extending some of the project's major successes so far such as the Rail Ale Trail, joint 
marketing campaigns, a visitor guide and new initiatives linking with local businesses. The project has also delivered a major research 
initiative resulting in much needed visitor information and analysis.  
 
Joint activity has also been undertaken with outside bodies such as TFGM /Metrolink to attract increased visitor numbers and with 
Marketing Manchester linking into themed campaigns for GM. Other projects delivered include the development of a new Bury Town 
Centre Visitor Attraction leaflet to position Bury town centre attractions as a  destination and an increased focus on the coach market 
with online marketing and the expansion of the coach meet and greet service. Activity also supports the ongoing wider tourism 
development work to enhance the overall visitor product and attractions offer. 
 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 34



17 

 

Latest STEAM ( Scarborough Tourism Economic Activity Monitor) figures,  which allows us to measure trends in tourism activity for 
the borough, have demonstrated the following for 2012.  
- An increase in the number of stays in hotels and guest accommodation increased by 19%  
- An increase of 3% in numbers employed in tourism activity to 4074.  
- Visitor spend in the borough rose from £289m in 2011 to just over £302m in 2012  
 
Adoption of the Local Plan Core Strategy 
Following consultation on the Second Draft Publication Core Strategy in October/November 2012, comments have been considered, 
evidence has been updated and a final Publication version of the document is being prepared. 
 

One Council, One Success, Together 

Current Performance 

Finance Summary 
 

Department Budget Forecast Variance 
 £000 £000 £000 

Adult Care Services 52,745 52,841 +96 
Chief Executives 4,569 5,265 +696 
Children’s Services 31,888 32,334 +446 
Communities & Neighbourhoods 35,545 35,906 +361 
Non-Service Specific 22,979 22,249 -730 

TOTAL 147,726 148,595 +869 

 
The quarter 1 forecasted over spend of £0.869m represents approximately 0.5% of the total net budget of £147,726m. 
 
Performance Indicators 
 
Measure Higher/ 

lower is 
better 

2011/12 
Baseline 

2012/13 
Q4 

Target Commentary 

Percentage Council Tax collected Higher 97.33% 
 

28.68% 
(Amber) 

96.5% Slightly down on last year's percentage but this 
is to be expected with the changes to Council 
Tax Services. The amount of cash collected is 
up on last year. 

Percentage of business rates Higher 93.93% 32.3% 96% Collection during quarter 1 has been steady 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 35



18 

 

collected  
 

(Green)  and the quarterly target (32%) has been met. 

Average time taken in calendar 
days to process Housing 
Benefit/Council Tax new claims 
and change events 

Lower 23.67 
 

23.20 
(Green) 

26 
 

Excellent start to the year as performance is 
well within target. 

Forecast outturn (Revenue) 
(council –wide) (£million) 

Lower -£0.093 
 

+£0.869 
(Amber) 

£0 Forecasted overspend of 0.5% of total budget. 

Forecast outturn (Capital) (council 
–wide) (£million) 

Lower £0 
 

+£0.089 
(Amber) 

£0 Minor overspend due to timing differences 
between costs being incurred, and capital 
receipts being generated. 

Governance issues reported 
(council – wide) 

Lower 0 
 

0 
(Green) 

0 No significant governance issues reported. 

Number of FTE days lost due to 
sickness absence    

Lower 9.42 
 

9.41 
(Green) 

9.2 Although this indicator has not reached target 
there has been an improvement upon last year. 

Percentage of employees satisfied 
with Bury Council as an employer 

Higher Not 
available 

Not 
available 

75% There has been no full survey this year to 
measure this. Although we have run 6 
engagers surveys this specific question is only 
asked on the three yearly survey 

Percentage staff turnover (council 
– wide) 

Lower 2.80% 
 

2.06% 
(Green) 

No 
target 

The outturn for this quarter is stable and there 
has been an improvement upon last years 
performance. 

 

Project Updates 

Plan for Change 
We are currently assessing the future demand and needs of our residents and how, building on the energies and commitment and 
skills and abilities of our staff, we can continue to ensure services are delivered in a changing world. We consulted for 6 weeks on 
proposals for changes to the Library Service which were reported to Cabinet in July 2013.  
 
Accommodation Review 
Despite the short timescales, the vacation of Athenaeum House and Castle Buildings remains on target to be achieved by the end of 
August.  The rationalisation of accommodation used by staff within the Chief Executive’s department has now been completed and 
the first of the teams within Adult Care Services relocated to the Town Hall.  Similarly, Department of Communities and 
Neighbourhoods staff moves within 3 Knowsley Place have now been completed to enable Children’s Services to move in. 
 
People Strategy 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 36



19 

 

• The new structure for the HR and OD Team is now in place (incorporating Departmental HR for Chief Executive’s Department, 
Employee Relations, Emergency Planning, Business Support, Management Support, Health and Safety, Learning and 
Development, HR Information Systems, Policy Development, Equality and Diversity, Recruitment and Contracts and Workforce 
Planning 

• The Public Health Team has transferred to the council and HR issues have been supported 
• The car allowance and car parking review has taken place and has been implemented 
• Our Bury Behaviours have been approved and supported by SLT and Cabinet.  They are about to be launched. 
• We have a series of health and safety promotions in place 
• We have introduced a new audit procedure for the health and safety of our organisation and our employees 
• A revised Emergency Planning Initial Responder Reference Guide has been issued 
• We now have 11 Union Learner Representatives within the organisation and through the Joint Learning Forum are setting up a 

project to look at Digital Inclusion 
• We had a new cohort of Backing Young Bury apprentices starting in May 
• We held a Mock Council for Elected Member Development and continued to deliver our formal training days 
• We have revised and relaunched our mediation service  
• We have developed a timetable for updated policies in next 12 months 
• We have further developed our employee benefits 
• We have launched the Children's Services Management Development Programme  
• We have launched the Plan for Change support package. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 37



20 

 

Risk 
Risk management is a systematic approach to assessing risks and opportunities surrounding achievement of core strategic, departmental and operational 

objectives.  The council has a well established approach to risk management which assesses the likelihood and potential impact of a wide range of risks & 

opportunities.  Risk Registers are compiled for all activities and projects, and are subject to review on a quarterly basis. Risk Registers are reported to all levels of 

management, and to elected members. 

The following risks / opportunities have been identified that the council faces in meeting its own priorities and in contributing towards the council’s corporate 

priorities and community ambitions:  

 

Ref Risk Event Risk Owner 
Impact 

(New) 

L
ik
e
li
h
o
o
d
 

(
N
e
w
)
 

Q
u
a
rt
e
r
 1
 

S
ta
tu
s
 

Q
u
a
rt
e
r
 2
 

S
ta
tu
s
 

Q
u
a
rt
e
r
 3
 

S
ta
tu
s
 

Q
u
a
rt
e
r
 4
 

S
ta
tu
s
 

Measures 

1 

The potential liability facing 

the Council in respect of 

Equal Pay significantly 

weakens the Council's 

financial position 

Mike Owen / 

Guy Berry 
2 1 

 

2 

green 

   

Risk substantially addressed as 

most cases have now been 

settled. To remain on register till 

exercise complete. 

2 

There is no robust financial 

strategy or change 

management strategy to 

address effectively the 

significant funding reductions 

that the Council faces over 

the next 3 years and beyond 

in order to ensure there is a 

sustainable and balanced 

budget 

Steve 

Kenyon 
3 2 

 

6 

amber 

   

Risk mitigated as balanced 

budget is in place for 2013/14, 

and significant savings options 

have been identified for 

2014/15. 

 

These actions are 

counterbalanced by uncertainty 

around Comprehensive Spending 

Review (June 2013); hence 

scores remain unchanged. 

 

Impact of CSR to be reported 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 38



21 

 

when analysed. 

3 

The budget strategy fails to 

address the Council's 

priorities and emerging 

issues, e.g. demographic and 

legislative changes 

Mike 

Owen/Steve 

Kenyon 

3 2 

 

6 

amber 

   

Income pressures largely 

addressed in 2013/14 budget. 

Demand pressures remain a risk 

and will be monitored / managed 

through Star Chamber process. 

4 

The budget strategy does not 

reflect, or respond to, 

national policy developments, 

e.g. Council Tax Support 

scheme and changes to the 

Business Rates regime 

Mike 

Owen/Steve 

Kenyon 

4 3 

 

12 

red 

   

Monitoring arrangements in 

place – to be addressed monthly 

and through Star Chamber 

process. 

5 

The Council's asset base is 

not operated to its maximum 

effect to deliver efficiency 

savings and ensure priorities 

are fulfilled.  Ineffective use 

of assets presents both a 

financial and a performance 

risk. 

Mike Owen 2 3 

 

6 

amber 

   

Asset Management Plan now in 

place; office accommodation 

moves taking place Summer 

2013. 

6 

The Council needs to be 

prepared for the impact of 

the Localism Act; this 

presents both opportunities, 

e.g. power of competency & 

community right to challenge 

Jayne 

Hammond 
2 1 

 

2 

green 

   

A process for dealing with 

applications has been approved 

by Cabinet; none received to 

date. 

 

7 

 

The amount of money 

received from the NHS to 

manage public health is 

 

Pat Jones-

Greenhalgh 

 

3 

 

2 

 

6 

green 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Settlement now received giving 

greater certainty; risk remains 

around performance of contracts 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 39



22 

 

insufficient to meet the 

performance outcomes 

expected by Government 

inherited from PCT. 

 

8 

 

The Council fails to manage 

the expectations of residents, 

service users & other 

stakeholders in light of 

funding reductions 

 

Mike Owen 

 

3 

 

1 

 

 

3 

amber 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Widespread consultation took 

place re: Budget / Plan for 

Change. Consultation taking 

place in respect of individual 

service reviews. 

11 

The Government's changes to 

Council Tax Benefit impact 

adversely upon the Public / 

Vulnerable People.  Also 

budgetary risk to the Council 

in the event of claimant 

numbers rise 

Mike Owen 3 3 

 

9 

red 

   

Impact on residents being 

managed through Welfare 

Reform Board. Budgetary impact 

to be assessed through monthly 

monitoring / Star Chamber 

process. 

 

12 

 

Changes resulting from the 

wider Welfare reform agenda 

impact adversly upon the 

public / vulnerable people. 

Mike Owen 3 3 

 

9 

red 

   

Welfare Reform Board 

coordinating action plan with 

partner organizations (e.g. Six 

Town, CAB) 

13 

 

That the scale and pace of 

Public Sector reform impacts 

adversely upon key Council 

Services, compounded by the 

loss of capacity following staff 

leaving the Council (420+ 

since 2010) 

 

Mike Kelly 4 2 

 

8 

red 

   

Workforce Development Plan 

now in place and individual 

service workforce plans being 

developed to ensure continuity / 

succession planning. 

 

 

D
ocum

ent P
ack P

age 40



 

 1 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

ANNUAL COMPLAINTS REPORT 

APRIL 2012 – MARCH 2013 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

Jane Whittam 
Assistant Team Manager - Information 

20 June 2013 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 

 
 
 

 

CHILDREN’S SERVICES 

DEPARTMENT 

Agenda Item 7Document Pack Page 41



 

 2 

PURPOSE/SUMMARY: 
This report has been produced in line with the statutory requirement to update 

Members and provide current information in respect of complaints related to 

Children’s Social Care Services.  This report looks at the period 1 April 2012 to 31 

March 2013, and will allow Members to see the extent and complexity of Children’s 

Social Care Service’s span of activity and to receive information relating to the quality 

of the services delivered.  
  

Members are asked to note the content of the report and advise officers of future 

requirements in respect of the reporting of complaints relating to Children’s Social 

Care Services. 

  
1.0 INTRODUCTION 
1.1 In line with guidance from the Department for Education, Local Authorities are 

required to publish an Annual Complaints Report covering the council year.  

This report is to provide current information  in respect of complaints related 

to Children’s Social Care Services for the year 2012 / 2013. 

  
1.2 As part of our refined approach to monitoring performance, the status of 

complaints is also reported weekly to the Children’s Senior Management Team 

and monthly to the Children’s Services Social Care Performance Group Meeting 
  
2.0 WHAT IS A COMPLAINT 
2.1 A complaint may be generally defined as ‘an expression of dissatisfaction or 

disquiet’ in relation to an individual child or young person, which requires a 

response.  A complaint may be made by written or verbal expression. 
  

2.2 Complaints principally concern service delivery issues, including the perceived 

standard of these services and their delivery by service providers.  These 

recorded figures only represent a percentage of complaints received as many 

complaints/concerns are managed daily on an informal basis operationally and 

are thus, not registered formally by the complaints section. 

  

2.3 The Complaints Procedure is not designed to deal with allegations of serious 

misconduct by staff.  These situations are covered under the separate 

disciplinary procedures of the Council. 

  

2.4 It is a legal requirement that Children’s Social Care Services has a distinct 

complaints procedure.  This statutory procedure provides the means for a child 

or young person to make a complaint about the actions, decisions or apparent 

failings of a local authority’s children social services provision.  It also allows 

an appropriate person to act on behalf of the child or young person concerned 

or to make a complaint in their own right. 

  

2.5 For some service users and for children and young people in particular, it is 

not easy to make a complaint.  This can be the case when the person using 

the service may be apprehensive about what may happen if they do complain.  

It is important, therefore, that all complaints are treated seriously, in 

confidence, investigated and are given due attention.  It is therefore the role 

of the Complaints Co-Ordinator to provide a degree of independence and 

support to the complainant whilst ensuring the complaint follows the statutory 

Document Pack Page 42



 

 3 

procedure.  If a complaint is received directly from a child or young person, an 

automatic referral is made for advocate support to Bury Children’s Rights 

Service, which is an independent advocacy service commissioned by Children’s 

Social Care.  Feedback to complainants about their complaint is essential.  

  

2.6 A prime objective of the Complaints Procedure is to ensure the Local Authority 

develops a listening and learning culture where learning is fed back to children 

and young people who use services. Complaints present an opportunity for the 

Local Authority to learn why people who are using our services find them 

unsatisfactory, and how we can improve the services we provide.  

  

3.0 THE SOCIAL CARE COMPLAINTS PROCEDURE 
3.1 The handling and consideration of complaints consists of three stages:- 

• Stage 1: Local Resolution,  

• Stage 2: Independent Investigation  

• Stage 3: Review Panel 

  

3.2 Local Resolution requires the Local Authority to resolve a complaint as close to 

the point of contact with the service user as possible (i.e. through front line 

management of the service).  Emphasis is placed on resolving complaints 

under Stage 1, local resolution, because this should provide a more timely 

response and is user friendly.  The Department strives to investigate and 

resolve complaints within 10 working days although the procedure allows a 20 

working day time scale for more complex complaints. In most circumstances 

complaints are considered at Stage 1 in the first instance. 

  

3.3 Where the complaint is not resolved locally, or the complainant is dissatisfied 

with the Local Authority’s response, the complaint can be considered at Stage 

2.  An independent investigation is completed by a senior manager from 

outside the tem to which the complaint refers to.  This is overseen by an 

Independent Person from outside the Local Authority to ensure a full and fair 

investigation is carried out.  We aim to send a response with a full report 

within 25 working days, although this can be extended to 65 working days.   

  

3.4 Where Stage 2 of the Complaints Procedure has been concluded and the 

complainant is still dissatisfied, they will be eligible to request further 

consideration of the complaint by a Stage 3 Review Panel.  The Panel does not 

reinvestigate the complaint or consider any substantively new issues of 

complaint that have not been first considered at Stage 2.  The purpose of the 

Panel is to consider the initial complaint and, wherever possible, work towards 

a resolution.  The Panel should be convened within 30 working days of request 

and its report (including any recommendations) will be sent within 5 working 

days following the meeting.  The Department then issues its response to the 

complainant within a further 15 working days.   

  

3.5 Where a complainant remains dissatisfied with the Local Authority’s response 

to the Review Panel’s recommendations, the complainant has the right to refer 

his/her complaint to the Local Government Ombudsman.  The Complaints  

Co-Ordinator will assist with this process as far as possible. 

 

  

Document Pack Page 43



 

 4 

 ANALYSIS OF COMPLAINTS RECEIVED 
 

  
 All figures detailed below are from 1 April 2012 to 31 March 2013.  

Reference is also made to outstanding complaints or complaints which 

were reported as not being agreed or completed as of 31 March 2012.   
  
4.0 SOCIAL CARE COMPLAINTS RECEIVED 
4.1 A total number of 63 complaints were received across all social care teams 

during the 2012 – 2013 financial year.  This reflects a 10% increase in the 

number of complaints received when compared with the 57 complaints that 

were received during the last financial year (April 2011 – March 2012). 

  

4.2 

 
  

4.3 The six complaints which were received during March 2013 but which were not 

actually completed within the 2012 / 2013 financial year have now been 

responded to during April 2013, all within 20 working days 

 

4.4 In addition to the 63 complaints received in 2012 / 2013, 4 complaints 

received towards the end of 2011 / 2012 were also investigated during the 

2012 / 2013 financial year.  1 of these complaints was responded to within 10 

working days and three were responded to within 20 working days. 

  

5.0 WHO COMPLAINED? 
5.1 The vast majority of complaints were received from Parents.  Young people 

are encouraged to raise their own concerns with the assistance of Advocacy 

from Bury Children’s Rights Service.  Bury Children’s Services have a joint 

working protocol with Bury Children’s Rights Service and work to ensure that a 

consistent and timely service is offered to children and young people in the 

Document Pack Page 44



 

 5 

care of Bury Local Authority when they raise a concern via their advocate.   

  

5.2 

 

  

6.0 ADVOCACY 
6.1 14 complaints were made using the service of an external Advocate, compared 

to 12 during the previous financial year.  The number of complaints received 

through Bury Children’s Rights Service was 8, compared with 7 last year.  

We have seen an increase in complaints from children with health needs being 

received from the Hospital Citizens Advice Bureau, and work has been 

undertaken with the CAB to explain the thresholds and remit of Children’s 

Social Care. 
  

6.2 Concerns and complaints received from Children and Young People in Care are 

very important.  These young people are often supported to make a complaint 

by Bury Children’s Rights.    

 

The advocate from Bury Children’s Rights Service will initially raise the 

concern with the Young Person’s Social Worker, and if no response is received 

within a timely manner, this will be referred to the Social Worker’s Line 

Manager for a response. 

 

Should a response not be provided within a timely manner, or if the Young 

Person is unhappy with the response, their advocate will assist the child or 

young person to make a formal complaint at Stage 1 of the Statutory 

Children’s Social Care Complaints Procedure. 

  

7.0 TIMESCALES OF STAGE 1 SOCIAL CARE COMPLAINTS 

7.1 Performance Indicators show that for the third year running, staff have 

continued to make significant improvements to the timescales in which we 

have responded to complaints compared with the figures from 2011 / 2012 of 

Document Pack Page 45



 

 6 

the complaints received and investigated within 2012 /2013,  41.86% of 

complaints have been dealt with within ten working days, compared with 

36.36% for the same period in 2011 / 2012 and 90.69% of complaints have 

been dealt with within twenty working days compared with 79.55% during 

2011 / 2012.    

  
7.2 

 

Delays were agreed with the complainant for the 9.30% of the complaints 

which were dealt with outside timescales.  The additional time taken 

prevented these complaints being taken to stage 2. 

  

7.3 

 

  

8.0 COMPLAINTS  PER TEAM 

8.1 Figures show that 32.56% of complaints have been investigated and 

responded to by the Safeguarding team, which is an increase on the 29.55% 

during 2011 / 2012.  A reduction of complaints against the Advice and 

Assessment Team has been seen, with 20.93% of the complaints being 

investigated and responded to by the Advice and Assessment Team compared 

with 34.09% during 2011 / 2012.   

  
8.2 Neighbouring authorities have noted an increase in complaints over the past 

twelve months.  Despite budget cuts and staff restrictions and restructures, it 

is pleasing to note that we have only seen a marginal increase in complaints 

being made. 

  

8.3 Whilst the percentage of complaints between the two teams has changed from 

last year, the following figures clearly highlight that just over half the 

complaints received were with regard to the same two Teams as in 2011 / 

2012 and in 2012 / 2013. 

Document Pack Page 46



 

 7 

  

8.5 

 
  

9.0 WHAT PEOPLE COMPLAINED ABOUT 

9.1 

 

Document Pack Page 47



 

 8 

9.2 All complaints received in respect of staff conduct have also been addressed 

personally by Managers on an individual basis. 
  

9.3 The above graph shows that 57.14% of all complaints received between 1 

April 2012 and 31 March 2013 were with regard to the “Quality of Service”, 

however it should be noted that this is quite a wide category.  It is pleasing to 

note that the number of complaints made against individual members of staff 

has reduced for the second year running.  

 
10.0 HOW WE DEALT WITH COMPLAINTS 

10.1 Each of the 43 complaints investigated at Stage 1 was investigated by the 

relevant Service Manager or Team Manager, and a response was provided to 

the Complainant explaining the situation or what the service intends to do as a 

result of the complaint.  In the majority of cases, a letter of explanation or an 

apology was sufficient to resolve the matter. 
  
10.2 1 complainant remained dissatisfied with the Stage 1 outcome and progressed 

to Stage 2.  The Local Authority partially upheld this complaint at Stage 2, and 

has followed recommendations from both the Investigating Officer and 

Independent Person to change working practice. 

  

10.3 There have been 7 complaints which were received by the Local Government 

Ombudsman and which we were asked to supply information: 

 

Case Closed – no evidence of maladministration (2) 

Case Closed – No fault in the Council’s Actions & no need for the LGO to 

investigate (1) 

Case Closed – The Council has provided a satisfactory remedy (2) 

 

1 case is currently outstanding with the Ombudsman, awaiting a decision as to 

whether they are happy with the information supplied or whether they intend 

to investigate. 

 

At the end of the financial year, 1 case was being investigated by the Local 

Government Ombudsman.  The Council upheld the element of the complaint 

surrounding delay during a stage 1 and 2 investigation.  This was confirmed 

by the final decision of the Ombudsman who has stated that this delay was 

maladministration which led to injustice for the family.  A further apology and 

a small financial payment was made to the complainant in respect of the 

distress caused.  

  

10.5 At the time of writing this report, we have not received a copy of the 

Ombudsman’s draft complaints report. 

  

10.6 There have therefore been no complaints that progressed to Stage 3 and at 

the time of writing. 

 

 

 

 

Document Pack Page 48



 

 9 

 

  

10.7 

 

 

11.0 TIMESCALES FOR STAGE 2 SOCIAL CARE COMPLAINTS 
11.1 Out of the 2 complaints which were investigated at stage 2, 1 was completed 

within 25 working days and the second was completed within the maximum 65 

working day timescale.     

  

12.0 BUDGET POSITION 
12.1 With the current budget pressures within the Authority and the growing trend 

of increased complaints in neighbouring Local Authorities, Members should 

note that in order to minimise the costs of Stage 2 Investigations, this is the 

second year in which we have asked Team Managers rather than Service 

Managers and Strategic Leads to respond to the majority of Stage 1 

Investigations.  This enables Service Managers and Strategic Leads to carry 

out Stage 2 Investigations for other Services within Children’s Services.  This 

has resulted in costs being incurred for the Independent Person only rather 

than the Investigating Officer and Independent Person.  Whilst this has 

reduced the invoice costs of the recent investigations, it should be noted that 

this does have had an impact on staff time.   

  

12.2 A total of £1007.70 has been spent on Stage 2 Investigations from April 2012 

to March 2013, which is a saving compared with £2220.47 spent on Stage 2 

Investigations during the previous financial year.  

  

12.3 There is currently no dedicated budget for Complaint Investigations.  Whilst 

we have seen a decrease in complaints received, there is a national trend of 

people wishing to take complaints further; Therefore the potential remains for 

an increase in Stage 2 complaints.  It is too easy for a poor or partial response 

to be sent to a complainant as a quick fix.  Consideration could be given for 

Stage 2 Complaints Investigations to be funded by the budget for the 

Department for which the complaint is regarding.  

 

Document Pack Page 49



 

 10 

  

13.0 COMPLIMENTS RECEIVED 

13.1 

  
13.2 65 compliments regarding the Children’s Social Care Teams have been 

received over the last twelve months, which is more than double those which 

were received during the last financial year.  

  
13.3 It is pleasing to note that for the second year running, the Children and Young 

People in Care (CYPiC) Team have received an increase in the number of 

compliments received.  It is also worth noting that the compliments received 

and recorded by the Safeguarding Team have increased from 2.5 during 2011 

/ 2012 to 12 in the current year.  It is also heartening to see that other teams 

are receiving compliments.  The Victoria Family Centre is a resource for 

children in care to meet up with their families, which can be distressing at 

times.  It is therefore pleasing to see the high number of compliments that 

this team have received.  It is also pleasing to see the number of compliments 

being paid to Fostering and Adoption Team for their support in successfully 

placing children with new families. 

  

14.0 EQUAL OPPORTUNITIES MONITORING 

14.1 Whist efforts have been made to monitor the ethnic origin of the Authority’s 

complainants; many have not returned the diversity questionnaire.  
  

14.2 Due to the limited number of questionnaires being returned, a true and 

accurate reflection of the Authority’s Complainants cannot be reported. 

  

15.0 REPEAT AND VEXATIOUS COMPLAINTS 

15.1 It should be noted that there have been a small number of complaints which 

Document Pack Page 50



 

 11 

may be construed as either vexatious or repeated.  This is something that has 

also been noted by colleagues in neighbouring Authorities.  This type of 

complaint impacts greatly on the time of both the Complaints Co-Ordinator 

and Departmental Staff, and hinders the completion of other complaints.   

 
  

16.0 DEVELOPMENT OF COMPLAINT MANAGEMENT & EXPERTISE 
16.1 The North West Complaints Managers Group meets bi-monthly.  Meetings are 

well attended.  The network aims to raise standards for Complaint 

Management across Authorities.  Both this group, and the Children’s Subgroup 

continue to be a valuable source of advice and support.   
  

17.0 LEARNING FROM COMPLAINTS 
17.1 In order to demonstrate learning from complaints and the Department’s 

commitment to use complaints to improve standards of services, all Service 

Managers complete a “Lessons Learnt” form following each complaint 

investigation.  All recommendations arising from complaints have been 

recorded and followed up by Service Managers. 
  

17.2 During the last twelve months, a report has been issued to Service Managers 

on a quarterly basis to ensure feedback to complaints is reported back to staff.  

  

17.3 Feedback and discussion from complaints also takes place with Team 

Managers during the monthly Social Care Performance Group Meetings.  This 

feedback is then shared with staff during Team Meetings. 

  

17.3 Some complaints identify lessons learnt in dealing with an individual or family; 

others offer a wider learning experience 

  

17.4 The recommendations which have arisen from complaints during 2012 / 2013 

which have now been implemented are detailed below: 

 

• Additional resources for meetings with families to be minuted to 

ensure clarity of decisions 

• Changes have been made to the Short breaks Business 

Management to promote positive outcomes. 

• Continued staff training and implementation of surveys to ensure 

Children’s wishes and feelings are heard 

• Amendments to the process of social worker involvement 

following Special Guardianship & residency to ensure advice and 

support is available 

• Development of further links with the Jewish Federation to 

develop cultural awareness of needs and resources 

• Assessing Social Workers have all received a practice briefing 

regarding note taking and the quality of notes. 

• The AIM list is now maintained by the Safeguarding Unit to 

ensure timely allocation of assessments 

• Clear Practice guidance to be developed regarding Family 

Members caring for children 

• The Customer Care Charter is in the process of being updated 

Document Pack Page 51



 

 12 

and will be re-circulated to staff. 

• CSE BSCB Strategy Awareness Raising Schedule was delivered in 

March 2013 

• Ownership is taken for referrals made to other services by 

following up the referral to ensure progression and to ensure the 

service user is not waiting for an unacceptable period of time. 

• Procedures changed within the Emergency Duty Team regarding 

passing on details to the Advice and Assessment Team and the 

Fostering Team the following day.  

• Procedures amended so that families see conference reports prior 

to the day of the Conference 

• Staff regularly advised about the quality of their work which is 

monitored by regular supervision 

• All Initial Assessments which relate to an assessed need which 

needs consideration by the DRM Panel are to be completed giving 

a broad overview of need and not suggesting the package of 

care.  This will alleviate complaints regarding the package of care 

not being received where the child does not meet the threshold 

as determined by the DRM Panel  

 

18.0 CONCLUSIONS  
18.1 The Complaints process has been monitored and evaluated throughout the 

year to ensure that we not only meet the requirements of the statutory 

regulations and guidance, but that of our Service Users.  Improved feedback 

and learning from complaints may be a factor in the relatively small increase 

in complaints compared to increases seen in other Local Authorities.  We are 

able to evidence that changes to Social Care processes have been made and 

also that improvements have been made to the Authority’s response time to 

complaints.   
  

18.2 There is still further scope for the timescales in which we respond to 

complaints to be improved and for complaints to contribute towards 

improvements to the services we provide. 

  

18.3 Experienced Team Managers have worked to assist Assistant Team Managers 

in the investigation and response to complaints, to ensure that we continue to 

work to resolve complaints quickly and effectively.  

  

18.4 It is essential to the smooth running of investigating and responding to 

complaints that delays are kept to a minimum, and that any delays in the 

investigation process do not add to the initial complaint.  Whilst it is pleasing 

to note that staff have made huge improvements in the completion of 

complaints within timescales and have reduced the number of complaints 

responded to outside the statutory timescales, there is still scope to improve 

the number of complaints that we respond to within the statutory response 

time of ten working days.   

  

18.5 Strict monitoring and following up on complaint investigation continues to be a 

priority to ensure complaints are responded to effectively within the ten day 

timeframe. 
 

Document Pack Page 52



 1

Welfare Reform 

 

Welfare Reform is a key policy area of the coalition government. The 
timetable of individual reform is a long-term one currently leading up to 
2017. The reforms are driven by the ethos of work being the preferred 
option, localisation and the need to reform what is seen as a complex benefit 
regime.  
 
As a local authority, Bury has been affected by several aspects of Welfare 
Reform. These have taken effect from April 13- July13. The purpose of this 
report is to summarise the impact of these reforms on Bury residents and to 
update on actions taken by the Council and partners in relation to them. 
 
The main changes: 
 
Under Occupancy charge/Bedroom Tax  
 
Effective from 1st April 13 
 
Reduction in Housing Benefit if over-occupied: 14% of rent charged for 1 
spare bedroom: 25% of rent charged for 2 bedrooms and above. Pensioners 
excluded from this reform. 
 
Council Tax Support 

 
Effective from 1st April 13 
 
Council Tax Benefit abolished and replaced with a local scheme. LAs given 
funding for their scheme based on previous year spend less 10%. Pensioners 
excluded from this reform. 
 
Main features of Bury CTS scheme: 
 

• Payment restricted to Band B (ie no benefit paid above the Band B 
amount) 

• Backdating of benefit abolished 
• Increase in non-dependent deductions 
• Abolition of Second Adult Rebate 

 
Further, certain vulnerable groups protected, including disabled  
 
Social Fund 
 
This was previously a national scheme administered by DWP. It was localised 
from April 13 with each local authority being given a fixed grant to 
administer their own scheme. 
 
Other Welfare Reforms which impact on Bury residents: 

Agenda Item 8Document Pack Page 53



 2

 
Universal Credit: this replaces various state benefits with a single payment. 
It is paid monthly direct to the customer and is intended to replicate the 
experience of receiving a monthly salary. Implementation has been 
drastically scaled back with the number of pathfinders being reduced and 
customers receiving the benefit approximately only 1000 so far nationally. 
The type of claim currently being made as a UC claim has been restricted: ie 
single claimants with no children who have recently stopped working. 
Currently, the earliest it will start in Bury is April 2015, although it should be 
noted that this doesn`t include pensioner claims. 
 
Another issue which is affecting Bury residents is the impact of the revised 
sanctions regime administered by DWP.      
 
Bury response 
 
The focus has been on a partnership approach involving the sharing of 
information, publicity campaigns, approaches in terms of developing relevant 
policies and the sharing of funding opportunities. 
 
The Welfare Reform Board is the over-arching body in developing Bury`s 
approach to Welfare reform. This group comprises representatives from all 
Council departments, Six Town Housing, CAB, DWP, private landlords, 
Springs Housing Association and MP caseworkers. The group meets on a 
monthly basis and has been in operation since October 2011. 
 
Various initiatives have been developed by the Board including pre April 
publicity campaigns to customers and providing intensive training on the 
changes to a wide variety of staff and also to Members. The work continues 
and oversees various initiatives which have been developed in relation to the 
individual reforms which are referred to in the actions taken in each area 
below. The Board has also worked to together to identify and develop debt 
counselling and work related solutions which are available as part of a holistic 
response to those affected by Welfare Reform. 
 
Under occupancy/bedroom tax 

 
This refers to the impact on Six Town Housing as we don`t have access to 
any comprehensive information from Housing Associations. 
 
The position as at w/c 16.9.13 is illustrated in the table below: 
 
 Week 5 Week 25 
Number of tenants affected 954 795 
Number in rent arrears 496 453 
Total rent arrears of those tenants affected by 
under occupation 

£70,151 £108, 
869 

Amount of rent arrears associated with under £24,000 £68,253 

Document Pack Page 54



 3

occupation 
Estimated additional rent arrears £261,000 £158,308 
 

The reduction in the overall number of affected tenants is due to a number of 
reasons, including tenants taking in lodgers, changes in circumstances and  
people moving into work or home. The overall estimated increase in rent 
arrears predicted in the impact assessment has been downgraded to reflect 
the current position.  
 
The current position on under occupation rent arrears is worrying and 
continues to have an adverse impact on overall rent arrears.  
 
Although under occupation rent arrears continue to have an impact, it should 

be noted that the weekly increase has levelled off over the last eight 
weeks, fluctuating between £60,000 and £68,000. It is also worthy to 
note that the majority of affected tenants are attempting to meet the 
shortfall in Housing Benefit and the number of non payers has reduced 
significantly, as highlighted in the table below: 

 
 Paid in full Part paying Not paying 
Week 2 37.50% 8.10% 54.40% 
Week 25 41.70% 43.90% 14.40% 

   
 
Actions taken since the implementation of Under occupancy/bedroom tax 
 
Housing Review Team: this has been in operation since July 13 and is a 

temporary team funded by the Council consisting of staff from 
Benefits, Housing Options and Six Town Housing. This team is very 
pro-active in contacting customers affected by the charge who aren’t 
paying and provides advice and information to tenants affected by the 
reforms, with the view to identifying potential solutions, which include: 

 
• Paying and staying; 
 
• Rehousing, including offering priority rehousing through the Council’s 

Allocation Policy; 
 
• Advice on taking in lodgers;  
 
• Supporting customers to apply for Discretionary Housing Benefit; 
 
• Supporting customers to seek a mutual exchange;  
 
• Referral for debt / welfare benefits advice via the in house CAB team; 

and 
 
• Helping towards the cost of moving.  

Document Pack Page 55



 4

 
• Signposting to work options where appropriate 

 
 
A summary of the key outcomes achieved by the Housing Solutions Team 
since it became operational in July 2013 is given below:   
 

No. of 
tenants 
contacted 

No. of cases 
successfully 
resolved 

No. of tenants 
who have 
successfully 
secured DHP 

No. of 
tenants that 
have been 
helped to 
move 

No. of 
pending 
housing 
moves 

scheduled 
134 63 22 3 8 

 
A range of other steps have been taken by Six Town Housing address 
performance issues and support tenants affected by the under occupation 
penalty. These include: 

 
• The redirection of internal resources to create 3 temporary posts in the 

Rent Income team;  
 

• Holding a series of community road shows across the borough, aimed 
at offering tenants advice and information about the Under Occupation 
Charge, Total Cap on Benefits and Universal Credit roll out;  

 
• Launching the Steps to Success employment pledge to support 

customers into work and training; 
 

• Planning to launch the Credit Union on the 24th October 2013.  
 
• Ongoing staff briefings and communication to ensure they have the 

tools and skills needed, with over 100 Six Town Housing staff 
attending recent briefings.  

 
 
In order to give consistency and resilience to Implementation of a Multi-
Agency Review panel to consider cases requiring a court order or an eviction 
warrant. Consideration is given that every possible alternative has been 
explored by Six Town Housing as well as the Housing Review Team.  
 
Council Tax Support 
 
Number of households affected: 
 
01 April 13 808  
 
11 July 2013 - 699 households affected  
 

Document Pack Page 56



 5

30 September 2013 -  695  
 
In summary we saw a drop in affected cases straight after main billing but 
the number of cases affected appears to have levelled out at approximately 
700. 
 
 The impact on collection and customers is being closely monitored. To date, 
collection remains strong: as at the end of September we are only 0.57% 
down on collection in comparison to the same time last year. Further, we 
have issues less summons` in comparison to previous years: see below.     
 
2013/14 - 5,663 
2012/13 - 7,535 
2011/12 - 6,104 
 
Our experience to date does not appear to be replicated in other local 
authorities who seem to be experiencing much more difficulty in collection 
with large increases in the number of summons` they have issued this year.  
 
Action taken: 
 
Training: all staff have been fully trained in all aspects of debt advice and 
recovery options for customers affected by Welfare Reform.   
 
Debt advice: staff have been trained in where to signpost appropriate 
customers. CAB staff are sited with Revenue and Benefit staff at Whittaker 
Street to facilitate this.   
 
Although we have managed to avoid the cuts to our benefit scheme which 
other local authorities have had to implement, it is evident that we will have 
to make further cuts in year 2. Proposed options are currently under 
consideration.   
 
Social Fund 

 
The Bury Support Fund covers two main areas of financial assistance – 
people resettling in to the community and those in crisis/ short term financial 
need. Food parcels are also provided to those in crisis or who we cannot help 
financially.    
The service is delivered via a small team of officers within Customer Support 
& Collections and includes CAB staff funded temporarily by the Council to 
offer debt advice.   
Applications are either made via our contact centre or an online form – the 
form is proving more useful for resettlement cases where people are being 
assisted by other teams/ agencies, whilst crisis cases are best dealt with over 
the telephone. 
 
The first five months have seen the following  

Document Pack Page 57



 6

 
• 210 Food Parcels issued 
 
• 150 Crisis Payments (£10,079) Averaging £67 
 
• 102 Miscellaneous resettlement (£65,946) Averaging £646 
 
• 32 Domestic Violence resettlement (£18,728) Averaging £585 
 
• 13 Homeless Prevention (£5,482.00) Averaging £422 
 
 
 
Benefit cap 

 
The overall benefits cap was introduced in July’13 to limit the amount 
received by benefits claimants to an amount similar to the average earnings; 
£500/ week for a couple/ family, £350/ week for a single person. 
The cap is applied to the Housing Benefit paid to a claimant rather than the 
DWP/ HMRC benefits. 
Initial estimates by DWP suggested Bury may have upwards of 90 families 
affected, in reality we have 34. 
Weekly reductions range from £172 to less than £1, the average being £60 
and the total amount withdrawn £2,034 week. 
Thirteen are STH properties, 2 Housing Association with the remaining 19 
being privately rented. 
We have been working closely with the C.A.B. to assist the people affected 
with budgeting advice, assistance with looking for cheaper accommodation 
and advice about obtaining work.  
Unfortunately many families did not take advantage of the support offered 
and a recent meeting with housing providers suggested that many did not 
understand the link between their Housing Benefit reducing and their rent. 
 
Summary 

 
• A major issue which has emerged and is familiar to all partners 

involved is lack of understanding and engagement from customers 
affected. 

 
• On occasion where support has been accepted by customers it has 

been necessary to closely monitor that they have followed through 
with agreed actions. 

 
• Partnership working and awareness of other solutions such as work 

options available has been crucial. 
 

• The Sanctions regime administered by DWP is having a detrimental 
effect on customers. 

Document Pack Page 58



 7

 
 
Associated policies 
 
Appendix 1 
 
Corporate debt 

 
The Council recognises that in these economically challenging times and with 
the ongoing impacts of the Welfare Benefit reforms, many customers are 
struggling to manage and maintain their essential living expenses on lower 
incomes.  
The policy is the Councils statement on how it will work with its customers 
and partners (Six Town Housing and Bury District Citizens Advice Bureau) to 
effectively collect debts from customers. 
Our clear objective is to make sure that those who have the means to pay do 
and those individuals/families in genuine crisis, receive the targeted help and 
support they need to increase personal capacity, prevent raising debts and 
thereby protect Council revenue. 
This new approach the need for making full use of the resources available, 
often in different ways to the past, is clearly illustrated in the attached case 
studies. 
 
 

Appendix 2 
 
Discretionary Housing Payments 
 
Local Authorities have the power to award payments of DHP to claimants who 
are in receipt of Housing Benefits 
 
The recent Welfare Reform changes introduced in April 2013 made significant 
changes to the awards of Housing Benefit and it is therefore necessary to 
formalise a policy for the awards of DHP 
 
Housing Benefit reforms including, social sector size criteria changes and the 
introduction of a benefits cap means that there will be a significant number 
of claimants facing shortfalls since April 2013  
 
The Government recognised that Local Authorities would be faced with an 
increased number of applications for DHP and so from April 2013 increased 
funding from £165,667 in 2012/2013 to £357,994 for 2013/2014 
 
Whilst this has been a significant increase in funding we will not have enough 
funding to be able to provide assistance to all those affected by these 
reforms 
 
 

Document Pack Page 59



 8

A policy in relation to award of these payments has been drafted and is 
attached. 
 
Appendix 3 

 
Poverty Strategy     
 
This was approved by Cabinet in February and is currently being updated by 
members of the Welfare reform Board to highlight the best indicators to track 
the direction of travel of poverty in Bury: eg number of people accessing food 
parcels.  

 
 
 
   

 
 

Document Pack Page 60



 1

 

                                                                                                                  

                                                                                                                                   

 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 

Corporate Debt Policy 
 

 

 

Bury Council 
And 

Six Town Housing 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                 

 

 

 

Document Pack Page 61



 2

  

 

 

 

Contents 
 
 
 

 
1. Introduction  
 

 
3. 

 
2. Scope and Aims of the policy 
 

 
4. 

 
3. Recognising the Need for Change   
 

 
6. 

 
4. How Change Will be Achieved 
 

 
7. 

 
5. Clear Outcomes of a Partnership Approach 
 

 
10. 

 
6. Principles of Recovery  
 

 
11. 

 
Current Recovery Policies 
 

 
13. 

 
Appendix 1 Council Tax Recovery 
 

 
14. 

 
Appendix 2 Business Rates (NNDR) 
 

 
16. 

 
Appendix 3 Overpaid Housing Benefit 
 

 
18. 

 
Appendix 4 Parking Enforcement 
 

 
21. 

 
Appendix 5 Rent Arrears Recovery 
 

 
22. 

 
Appendix 6 Sundry Debt Recovery 
 

 
24. 

 
Appendix 7 Write Off Policy 
 

 
 
26. 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

BURY COUNCIL/SIX TOWN HOUSING 

CORPORATE DEBT POLICY 

Document Pack Page 62



 3

 

 
1.0 Introduction 
 

 
1.1 What is a Corporate Debt Policy 
 

The CDP is the Council statement on how it will work with its customers and partners to collect 
debts from customers. Bury Council and its partners Six Town Housing and Bury District Citizens 
Advice Bureau have developed a clear consistent approach to dealing with people in debt which is 
underpinned by the robust recovery processes already in place.  

 

1.2 Policy Objective 
 
Our clear objective is to make sure that those who have the means to pay do pay and those 
individuals/families in genuine crisis, receive the targeted help and support they need to prevent 
raising debts and increase personal capacity. 
 
In order to maximise income for the provision of services, Bury Council’s Corporate Debt Approach will 
ensure that we collect debt owing promptly, effectively and economically, while ensuring fair treatment 
to all debtors. 

 
1.3 Why have a Corporate Debt Policy 
 
The Council has formalised the policy for the following reasons:  
 
It is essential that all monies due are collected effectively by the Council in the most efficient way 
and that debt owed to the Council is kept to a minimum. This is because the Council has both a 
legal duty and a responsibility to its citizens to make sure that income due is paid promptly. 
 
With the significant challenges of the welfare benefit reform and the declining economy it is critical 
that we manage the risks and protect business revenue. It is essential that all income is collected 
as effectively and efficiently as possible to ensure we have the resources needed to deliver the 
valuable services required.   
 
The Council recognises that early intervention and professional debt advice is an important 
element of the Government’s Anti-Poverty Strategy. This policy promotes working with partners to 
help customers move towards self sufficiency and independency. Whilst recognising that some 
people will need support with new demands of managing online claims, maintaining monthly 
budgets and assisting those who may be unable to access mainstream financial services.  
 
Transparency is vital in maintaining public confidence, supporting our communities and 
empowering our people. It means helping people to understand what is expected of them and 
what they should expect from the Council. It also means explaining clearly the reasons for taking 
any recovery action and promoting ways to prevent this in the future, but also making sure we are 
working together to support our most vulnerable. 
 
Having a Corporate Debt Policy is not only good practice, it is now essential that we are working 
together to provide a clear and consistent approach which promotes efficiency in the collection of 
debt. The policy makes sure that every customer is treated equally and fairly and supported 
through these changing times. It also ensures that every customer in debt is able to access advice 
and support, affordable lending facilities and employment opportunities. 
 
The Corporate Debt Policy will make sure we are effectively working together to support our 
customers, promoting positive cultural changes to reduce dependency and helping to maintain and 
protect the Councils and Six Town Housing’s cash-flow. 
 
 

Document Pack Page 63



 4

  

1.4 What is a Debt 
 
For the purposes of the CDP, a debt is any amount of Council and Six Town Housing income 
covered by this policy that has not been paid by the due date.  
 
All bills and invoices will be raised at the earliest opportunity, will be written in plain English and 
will contain clear and concise information as to:  
 

 What the bill is for  
 When payment is due  
 How to pay 
 Who to contact for additional advice or information.  

             
 

1.5 Why are people in debt. 
 
A debt is when you owe somebody money, so anyone who receives a bill or request for payment from 
the Council or Six Town Housing is in debt until this is paid. A positive payment culture is promoted 
across the borough to ensure effective collection of Council and Six Town Housing revenue and 
prevent customers falling behind with payments.  
 
Debt is not a problem until somebody cannot pay it. If a customer cannot pay a debt it is essential they 
contact us immediately in order to prevent debts spiralling out of control and to try and prevent further 
action being taken against them which could also result in additional costs. 
 
 

 

2.0 Scope and Aims of the Corporate Debt Policy 
 

 

2.1 What debts are covered by this policy 
 
The policy cover all debts owed to the Council and Six Town Housing. 
 
Including: 
  
Current Rent Arrears 
Council Tax 
Parking Fines 
Housing Benefit, Council Tax Benefit and Fraud Overpayments 
Business Rates 
Former Tenant Arrears  
Council Car Loans 
Garage Debts  
Council Sundry Debts  
Including:  
Adult Care Services – Contributions to care fees & accommodation, care link, transport charges, and 
community resettlement charges. 
Housing Services – Repairs, damages, leasehold services and recharges to departments. 
Property Services – Commercial rents, ground rents and garage sites. 
Children’s Services – Nursery fees, recoupment charges and school meals. 
Environmental and Development Services – Building inspection fees, commercial waste collections, 
leisure services fees and charges. 
 
 
 

 
 
 

Document Pack Page 64



 5

 
2.2 Early advice is essential to prevent further action and costs. 
 
The Council has a duty to make sure that all revenue owed to the Council is collected effectively and 
efficiently for the benefit of all Council Taxpayers.  
 
In striving to continually improve collection and recovery performance, the Council recognises that 
some people do not pay their debts for a variety of reasons. This may include poverty or other financial 
hardship, which the Council will endeavour to balance against its duty to collect.  

 
Conversely, the policy aims to take a robust approach to those who can pay, but won’t pay and 
each service will apply their own robust recovery procedures to ensure collection is maximised. 
The policy does not prejudice any legal action the Council or Six Town Housing may wish to take.  
 
It is essential that any customer struggling to make a payment lets us know as soon as possible. We 
can then work with individuals to resolve their issues and prevent unnecessary hardship. Where 
customers fail to make contact or maintain arrangements then recovery action will continue. The 
general collection policy is to pursue the collection of all debts owed to the Council and Six Town 
Housing. This will be done as vigorously and efficiently as possible in line with current legislation and 
the most appropriate methods of recovery. 
 
A range of partnerships have been put in place to ensure that any customer needing help to manage 
their money or deal with debts have access to free, independent help and advice. 
  

This policy details the Council’s Corporate Debt Approach to debt recovery and the additional 
measures introduced. Best practice will be applied to all debt collection and recovery activities 
within appropriate legal powers. 

 
2.3 Policy Aims 
 
The key aims of this policy are as follows:  
 
To use fair and effective recovery practices in the pursuance of all debts owed to the Council and  
Six Town Housing and ensure that those with the means to pay do pay.  
 
Ensure a professional, consistent and timely approach to recovery action across all of the Council 
and Six Town Housing’s functions. 
  
To fully consider the nonpayer’s circumstances and ability to pay, so a clear distinction can be 
made between the nonpayer who won’t pay and the nonpayer who genuinely can’t pay.  
 
Make sure any customer falling in to debt is referred for advice in dealing with debts and 
supported to manage their finances better in order to prevent future problems. 
 
Effectively access and utilise the valuable resources available within the private and third sectors.   
 
Raise awareness on basic bank accounts and affordable lending facilities therefore helping 
customers avoid high interest pay day loans and door stop lenders. 
 
Improve the levels of income collected by the Council and Six Town Housing and reduce levels of 
arrears. 
  
Treat individuals consistently and fairly regardless of age, sex, race, gender, disability and sexual 
orientation and to ensure that individual’s rights under the Data Protection Act and Human Rights 
legislation are protected.  
 
Ensure that debts are managed in accordance with legislative provisions and best practice.  
 

Document Pack Page 65



 6

Deliver an alternative approach based on flexible working to achieve better outcomes for individuals 
and families.  
 
Streamline service delivery by targeting help and support where it is needed and at the level it is 
needed at in order to increase independence and protect future revenue.   
 
 
 
 
 

3.0 Recognising the Need for Change 
 
 
 
3.1 The Changing Landscape  
 

The Council recognises that in these economically challenging times and with the ongoing impacts of 
the Welfare Benefit reforms. Many customers are struggling to manage and maintain their essential 
living expenses on lower incomes and levels of debt both locally and nationally are increasing. 
 

3.2 Reasons for debt.   
 
We have asked customers about the main reason they had got in to debt and they range from the 
following: 
Change of circumstances 
Unemployment 
Change of working hours 
Other debts 
Benefit changes 
Pay day loans 
Not being able to budget 
Relationship Issues 
Large unexpected bills 

 
Therefore as reduced income and multiple debts are the root cause to many of the symptoms our 
customer face, this is where we need to put additional measures in place to support our customers and 
protect our revenue.   
 

3.3 Efficient and Fair Debt Collection. 
 
This policy has been developed to ensure a Corporate Debt Approach is implemented across the 
borough. It aims to adopt fair, effective and efficient debt collection and recovery practices including: 
  
Providing appropriate and easy payment methods and ensuring that bills are accurate, timely and 
clear.  
 
Encouraging customers who fall into arrears to contact us at the earliest opportunity and agree to 
sustainable payment arrangements appropriate to their circumstances.  
 
Conducting early risk assessments and raising awareness at the first point of contact. Informing 
customers how to access additional services and ensuring that advice and support is tailored to meet 
the individual needs of the customer.  
 
Identify deliberate non-payers or those who delay payment and increase customer awareness on how 
to avoid further action and prevent additional costs.  
 
Take timely and effective enforcement action where appropriate against those customers who wont 
pay and don’t pay.  
 
Help to reduce the effect of debt of people on low incomes by working together to support customers 
through the welfare reform changes and raising awareness of local provisions.  
 

Document Pack Page 66



 7

Provide joined up holistic services to remove duplication, streamline the customer’s journey and secure 
positive outcomes.  
 
Deliver targeted campaigns to ensure that maximum benefit take-up occurs and is sustained by 
working with our customers to help them manage the new demands. Work in partnership targeting help 
and support to where it is most needed to; improve budgeting skills, increase financial capacity and 
support customers in to work. 
 
Maximise the valuable services available from our new local Credit Union, promoting the benefits of 
affordable lending to our customers and utilising it as a valuable tool to protect Council and Six Town 
Housing revenue. 
 
 
4.0 How Change will be Achieved. 
 
 

4.1 The Legal and Policy Framework for Legal Recovery  
 
The Council has a legal duty to ensure cost effective billing, collection and recovery of all sums due to 
it. This policy is in addition to existing legislation and is designed to enhance the robust procedures 
already in place to collect debt.  
 

 
4.2 Additional Measures Introduced 
 
People owing the Council and Six Town Housing money will be encouraged to make contact as soon 
as they get into difficulty with making a payment, in order to resolve problems and prevent increasing 
debt problems. 
 
Advice and information will be provided at the first point of contact in relation to all council debts. An 
initial risk assessment will be done early in the recovery stage and an arrangement to pay will be 
made. Customers will be advised about free independent money advice services provided locally and 
given information about free on line help available.  
 
In order to provide clear up to date information to all of our customers, details of all non profit making 
debt advice and money management facilities across the borough have been mapped. This will be 
updated on to a central information store with direct links to partners and is easily accessible to 
customers.  
 
We are also working in partnership with Step Change (formally CCCS) who is the UK’s leading debt 
charity. We are utilising this valuable, free independent service and have hot keys in place within the 
Council and Six Town Housing. 
  
This enables us to make sure any customers who needs help dealing with debts gets help dealing with 
their debts. 
 
This service is free and independent, therefore it helps us steer our customers away from costly profit 
making debt management companies. The customer is given budgeting advice and sustainable 
payment arrangements are put in place to deal with the priority debts and help prevent further action 
and costs.  
 
If customers continue to fall into debt, do not pay or break repayment arrangements, then robust 
recover processes will continue. The council recognises it is essential to act on any information 
received on the income and expenditure form. 
 
We now have a corporate debt manager in place to over see the policy, act as a single point of contact 
for multiple debt cases and work with partners to review and progress our highest risk cases in the 
most appropriate way. 
 
 
4.3 A Corporate Approach  
 
In cases where multiple debts are identified and the customer is struggling to pay, a referral will be 
made to CAB. Once a referral for additional help and advice has been made then normal recovery 
action should continue in line with recover procedures. 
 

Document Pack Page 67



 8

All cases where multiple debts are identified need to be brought to the immediately to the corporate 
debt manager. These multiple debt cases are often the symptom of some other root cause therefore 
need to be carefully monitored and reviewed.  
 
All customers referred to the CAB, will be provided with initial help and advice needed and re-payment 
arrangements will be put in place to prevent further problems. If the customer has multiple complex 
debts or multiple complex issues, they will be referred on to get specialist help from a money advice 
worker. 
 
The specialist money advice workers already have several established points of contact across the 
Council and Six Town Housing, which they will continue to utilise when needed as this is working really 
well. In cases of multiple debts and/or multiple issues, the money advice worker will contact the 
corporate debt manager as the single point of contact. The corporate debt manager will review all of 
the surrounding facts, negotiate across departments where needed and work with Six Town Housing, 
CAB and other agencies to make sure all appropriate measures are in place to support the customer. 
 
After conducting a full review of the case, if the corporate debt manager has concerns about the 
customers mounting debts and inability to cope and/or the increasing costs to the council, then the 
case will be progressed as a ‘family in crisis’.    
 
4.4 New Measures in line with a Corporate Debt Approach. 
 
4.5 Early Identification 
 
Early identification of multiple debts, professional debt advice and clear sustainable repayment 
plans are essential to prevent further problems and protect the Council and Six Town Housing 
revenue. 
 
Identifying deliberate non-payers or those who delay payment and taking timely and effective 
enforcement action to protect Council and Six Town Housing revenue 
 
Whilst it is the role of the individual department to collect monies owed to the Council and Six 
Town Housing by ensuring robust recovery methods are carried out within its own powers and in 
accordance with legislation. The corporate debt approach will ensure that we are working together 
to protect Council and Six Town Housing revenue and prevent increasing debts for the customer.  
 
Individual departments will maintain responsibility for offering welfare benefit and debt advice. The 
corporate debt policy also ensures that all customers can access these services at the first point of 
contact. 
 
In line with current procedures, whilst it is the individual departmental responsibility to consider 
individual circumstances, financial commitments and other debts. The corporate debt approach 
ensures that multiple debts are identified and the most effective and efficient way of recovery can 
be considered.   
 
Any non-payer who is identified as having multiple debts across the Council and Six Town 
Housing needs to be flagged up immediately to the Corporate Debt Manager. The account should 
be marked with the appropriate code on the respective computer systems. Whilst recovery 
proceedings could continue in line with current procedure and legislation, consideration should be 
given to reviewing current actions taking account of the possibility that the corporate debt 
approach may resolve their problems.  
 
 
4.6 Intervention 
 
The Council recognises that in certain circumstances the usual enforcement procedures (such as 
bailiff action, committal proceedings or eviction) may not be appropriate for some people who find 
themselves in debt to the Council and Six Town Housing.  
 
This could be because the person might be viewed as vulnerable owing to their individual 
circumstances or a ‘Family in Crisis’. The current vulnerable person’s protocols provide guidance 
for staff and the Council and Six Town Housing’s collection agents on how to manage the situation 
and support a vulnerable person who owes a debt to the Council and Six Town Housing.  
 
They are to be used to support and assist advisors and collection agents to be able to promptly 
identify vulnerable individuals in order that each person can be treated with dignity and that their 
individual situation can be dealt with in a sensitive and responsible way.  
 

Document Pack Page 68



 9

People who are considered vulnerable will find themselves in a range of situations and it is 
important to remember that in many cases people will have tried very hard to manage and will not 
have deliberately created the situation they find themselves in.  
 
By the time the individual comes to the attention of the debt recovery service it is important to 
consider that in many cases they may be very concerned and worried about owing money to the 
Council and/or Six Town Housing and are highly likely to have many other debts as well. 
 
The corporate debt approach will ensure we are working together to support our vulnerable. 
Having early indicators will highlight potential problems then tailored help and support can be put 
in place a lot sooner. Cases can then be closely monitored and reviewed and costly, crisis 
management avoided. 
 
4.7 People who are Vulnerable  
 
People are considered to be vulnerable for many different reasons. Some of these reasons are as 
follows: -  
 

• Appears to be elderly and it appears may be easily confused. 

• Appears to be physically or mentally ill, severely disabled and/or appears to be suffering mental 

confusion. 

•  Is heavily pregnant or has young children less than 5 years old and severe social deprivation is 

evident. 

• Is having difficulty communicating due to profound deafness, blindness or language difficulties 

and there are no local facilities available to reduce these difficulties. 

• Long term serious health problems or terminal illness. 

 
The above lists are not exhaustive and each situation will be viewed individually but it is essential 
that vulnerabilities are captured and flagged up for the effective delivery of a corporate debt 
approach. 
 
4.8 Indicators  
 
Based on the above descriptions, the member of staff or collection agent can make a decision 
about whether a nonpayer may be considered vulnerable. The initial request to consider a person 
as vulnerable may come from a third party, for example the Citizens Advice Bureau, Social 
Services, Housing.  
 
The examples above are only a guide and each case has to be considered based on the person’s  
individual circumstances. 
  
Any non-payer who is considered potentially vulnerable needs to be flagged up immediately to the 
Corporate Debt Manager. The account should be marked with the appropriate code on the 
respective computer systems and full details of vulnerabilities made available. Recovery 
proceedings will be amended or adjusted accordingly in line with current procedure and legislation.  
 
Any non-payer identified as being vulnerable and having multiple debts across the Council and Six 
Town Housing needs to be referred to the corporate debt manager immediately, using the agreed 
referral process. 
 
The Corporate Debt Manager will fully consider any referral and explore any additional measures 
that could be used more effectively to collect money for the Council and Six Town Housing whilst 
supporting the customer.  
 
All referrals are assessed on a case by case basis to ensure that the right level of support is 
delivered to the right person for the right period of time. This will maximise success rates by 
offering a more efficient and effective alternative approach to customers where historical traditional 
methods may have failed.  
 
With the nonpayer’s consent, further information may be obtained from medical practitioners, 
social services and other relevant professional partners. It is imperative that this stage is 
completed as quickly as possible so as to limit any uncertainty or anxiety on the part of the 
customer concerned.  

Document Pack Page 69



 10

 
4.9 Family in Crisis 
 
In order to determine a ‘Family in Crisis’ a comprehensive review of the individual/family circumstances 
will be carried out based on the individual circumstances of the case and all other options will have 
been explored. 
 
For Corporate debt purposes a Family in Crisis’ will be: 
 

• A family/individual who is unable to financially cope and is in genuine need 
 
• A family/individual who has multiple debts across the Council and genuinely no means of 

repaying them 
 
• A family/individual who is high costing to the Council and getting deeper and deeper into debt 

with the Council  
 
The corporate debt manager will fully review all cases, consider alterative methods to effectively 
support the customers capacity to re-pay outstanding debts and arrange case conferences where 
appropriate.  
 
 
 
5.0 Clear Outcomes of a Partnership Approach 
 
 
 
5.1 Additional Help and Support 
 
We are in a period of financially challenging times and with the significant impacts of the Welfare 
Benefit Reforms, many of our lowest income families and vulnerable customers will be struggling to 
cope. 
 
The council recognises that we need to support our customers through these radical changes. 
 
The Corporate Debt Policy ensures we have a professional consistent approach to separate the 
nonpayer who won’t pay and the nonpayer who genuinely can’t pay.   
 
It also ensures we are committed to developing and delivering additional measures to protect our most 
vulnerable and support our families in the most genuine need. 
 
We have developed excellent partnerships across the public, private and third sector. As a result of 
joint working are able to provide a range of valuable services and opportunities for our customers. 
 
5.2 Our Joint Partnership Approach  
 
5.3 To Increase Personal Capacity, Prevent Raising Debts and Reduce Dependency. 
 

• Increasing personal capacity – We are working with the third sector to provide free, 
Independent advice and support with welfare benefits, dealing with debts and increasing 
personal budgeting skills. A three tier approach to debt advice will be delivered to meet the 
individual needs of customers and move towards self sufficiency and independence. A 
variety of free debt advice and support will be available online and over the telephone 
utilising the services of Step Change Charity (formally CCCS).  Face to face contact, home 
visits where needed and a direct route for customers needing specialist debt advice is 
available through our partnership with Bury District CAB. Joint work with the ESF providers 
ensures that intensive flexible support is in place for our most disadvantaged families in order 
to reduce dependency and increase opportunities. 

 
• Creating sustainable employment opportunities – An excellent partnership approach has 

been developed delivering a range of valuable services to tackle multiple problems at the first 
point of contact and help customers help themselves. We have local partnerships in place 
with the Department of Work and Pensions (DWP) and the local contractors delivering the 
work programme within the private sector. A fully integrated reception area is operational, 
delivering a range of local services to meet the specific needs of individuals and prepare and 
support people into work. Joint work with the National Careers Service ensures our 
customers who need help, are able to access flexible support and training opportunities. 
Building confidence, gaining new skills and supported in to sustainable employment.  

 

Document Pack Page 70



 11

 
• Providing access to affordable lending facilities and basic bank accounts – Bury Council has 

worked in partnership with Six Town Housing to successfully secure relevant approvals and 
funding to establish a Credit Union across the borough. This will provide a range of additional 
measures to support our most disadvantaged customers, reduce financial exclusion and 
protect future revenue. A Credit Union will provide an alternative to high interest pay day 
loans which are commonly used amongst our families on the lowest income. Access to 
budgeting skills and money management training. It will also provide a range of accounts 
which can help our customers manage their money better, support our most vulnerable and 
protect future revenue.  

 
 
5.4 High level case conferences 
 
Will be introduced to a limited group of customers in genuine need where there are multiple complex 
debts and issues in order to take a direct, pro-active corporate approach.  
 
The Council and Six Town Housing will agree a protocol that will be used by the corporate debt 
manager to signpost ‘Families in Crisis’ to be considered on an individual case conference format. This 
will ensure that a fair and consistent approach is being used across the borough. 
  
The members of the case conference will be heads of service/director level and any specialist advice 
worker or advocate who have a direct interest or involvement in the case and the ability authorise the 
measures agreed at the case conference. 
 
The purpose of the case conference will be to review all of the surrounding circumstances, agree 
immediate remedies to prevent further risk to Council/Six Town Housing revenue and support the 
customer in genuine need. With the immediate risks removed it will also include an established way 
forward for the customer that is sustainable and the customer is able to maintain.   
 
These could include: 
 

• Writing off some current debts, where they are high costing to the council with low or no ability 
to repay by the customer.  

 
• Exploring the use of existing grants or funding which could be utilised to repay current debts 

and appropriate measures needed to support the customer to prevent future problems. 
 

• Considering the current cost of recovery, for example, eviction / re-housing against the current 
amount of debt and agree the most appropriate way forward. 

 
•  Utilise new local provisions like the credit union and hen project, to provide customers with an 

alternative way of dealing with debt, accessing support and building personal capacity.    
 
.  
The case conference will also agree short and medium term strategies to secure repayment of debt 
and will give consideration to timescales, options to prioritise some debts and consider suspended 
recovery on others. Make sure the customer has a sustainable way forward with agreed support in 
place.  
 
The Assistant Director of Finance (Section 151 Officer) will make any overarching decisions as 
appropriate in relation to a Corporate Debt Approach. 
 
 
6.0 Principles of Recovery 
 
 
 
6.1 Consistency and Proportionality 

 

Measures are taken to ensure that all people are treated in a consistent manner. Special arrangements 
may be entered into for payments outside the statutory procedures and payments are usually 
requested which clear the ongoing debt and an amount off the arrears. Where extreme cases of 
hardship are identified, these may be given extra consideration.  All debts owing to the Council and Six 
Town Housing will be collected in a clear and consistent manner. 

 
As part of the action plan, further analysis of low value cases and case studies where the value of the 
debt is significantly increased by court; bailiffs’ and agents’ costs will be carried out. 
 

Document Pack Page 71



 12

 

 

 

6.2 Information sharing 
 
Debtors should be encouraged to tell the Council/Six Town Housing or advice agencies where they 
owe money to more than one department of the Council and to seek advice as quickly as possible. 
 
Where information comes to the attention of one department that the debtor also owes money to  
another department, that knowledge shall be shared and a common approach agreed, having regard to  
the current limitations imposed by the Data Protection Act 1998.  This will be developed and included 
in the action plan. A form of authority will be obtained from the customer in all corporate debt  
cases in order to remove any barriers that prevent the sharing of information across the Council and 
Six Town Housing. 
  
 
 
 
6.3 Procedures and Training 
 
Although there are variations in the procedures of different departments, they must reflect the Council's 
requirement for a corporate approach to recovering debts based on the debtor's ability to pay. 
 
Procedure manuals should be available for employees to follow, reinforced by training and 
management control. 
 
A procedural statement, including a code of conduct, already forms part of the Council's contract with 
bailiffs acting on its behalf for the recovery of Council Tax. 
 
 
6.4 Monitoring 
 
Information about the effectiveness of the Council's policy will be used to carry out reviews at regular 
intervals. This includes ensuring the `crisis approach` encompasses the right customers and 
consideration of its` effectiveness in helping solving debt problems.   

 
In future monitoring, it will be important to assess the effectiveness of the policy in bringing to light 
cases of hardship and responding to them sensitively, the effect on the collection of money owed and 
the effect on the workload of the advice agencies 
 
All outcomes in relation to debts reduced, income maximised and increased dependency will be 
captured, monitored and reported on. As well as measuring the success of a corporate debt approach 
this will also help to identify future risks and mitigate against the impacts. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Document Pack Page 72



 13

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                     

 
Corporate Debt Policy 

 

Current Recovery Policies 
 
 
 
 

Bury Council 
And 

Six Town Housing 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
                                                                                                               
                                                        

                                                                   
 

Document Pack Page 73



 14

 

 
Council Tax                                                                                                              Appendix 1 
 

 
In accordance with the provisions of the Local Government Finance Act 1992, the Council is 
responsible for levying and collecting Council Tax that is payable on all occupied and unoccupied 
domestic properties, which are not exempt and are situated within Bury. 
 
The Revenues Operational Manager on behalf of the Council has a duty to recover all outstanding 
amounts of Council Tax and at all times staff within the Revenues Department will operate 
according to the Council’s strategy. 

 
Policies Specific to Council Tax 
 
It is important that anyone who does not pay their Council Tax by the due date is pursued for 
payment quickly. 
 
The collection and enforcement of Council Tax are governed by the “Council Tax (Administration 
and Enforcement) Regulations 1998  
 
When an instalment or part of an instalment is missed a first Reminder letter will be sent. 
 
Where any overpaid Council Tax Support has been made the amount will be debited back to the 
charge payer’s account.  
 
If the charge-payer fails to make payment or contact the Council following a first Reminder, a 
Summons will be issued without further notice and costs will be incurred. If payment is received 
following receipt of 2 Reminders, and they fail to make payment on time on a 3rd occasion, a Final 
Notice will be sent meaning they will lose the right to pay by instalments and the full balance will 
become due within seven days. 
 
If no contact has been made following the Final Notice, the Council will issue a summons for the 
charge payer to appear before the Magistrates’ Court for non-payment of the outstanding balance 
of the Council Tax. 
 
Explanatory notes will be issued with the summons notice explaining the implication of Council 
Tax enforcement. 
 
If the charge-payer contacts the Council and agrees an arrangement to pay following a summons 
the resident’s employer details will be recorded. 
 
Should the account not be settled by the Court hearing date, the Council will make an application 
for a Liability Order plus costs. 
 
Where employer details are supplied an attachment to earnings may be considered as an 
alternative to recover the outstanding debt. This course of action would supersede the use of 
bailiffs to call/remove goods if appropriate.  
 
Where information about relevant benefits is provided an attachment to benefit may be arranged 
to recover the outstanding debt. This course of action would supersede the use of bailiffs to 
call/remove goods. 
 
The council tax recovery section has established links in place with the CAB for any customers 
obtaining third party help and advice.  
 

Document Pack Page 74



 15

The Council encourages charge payers to contact prior to the Court hearing to pay in full or make 
an arrangement. They can also resolve any queries they may have, and reduce the need to attend 
Court as a Liability can be obtained in their absence and kept on file pending an arrangement 
being kept to. 
 
Staff attending Court will be fully prepared to assist the charge payers who may choose to attend 
Court for the Liability Order hearing and ensure they have a written breakdown of summons and 
Liability Order costs available. 
 
A Council Tax Notice of Liability Order and information request with details of the possibility of 
bailiff action or other recovery action will be issued to the taxpayer within 3 working days of the 
Court hearing. 
 
Should the debt fail to be recovered by the bailiffs, they will return the case back to the Council in 
order that they can consider the next form of recovery action. 
 
The Council may consider, where appropriate: Charging Orders, Petitions for Bankruptcy, or take 
steps to instigate petition for a means enquiry hearing. In addition, the Council may consider 
Committal to Prison action against habitual late payers for those that intentionally refuse to make 
payment and/or fail to contact the Council. 
 
Bailiff/External Agency Recovery 
 
When the services of Bailiffs/External Agency Recovery have been determined a service level 
agreement will exist along with formal written procedures specifying the standard of service to be 
provided and will cover the following matters:- 
 
• The initial bailiff visit will be expected to be made at the earliest opportunity of receipt of the case. 
• Where no contact has been made within office hour’s then at least one visit will take place 
outside normal working hours. 
• There will be specific procedures agreed with Council officers for the removal of goods. 
• The Council will be able to access the external bailiff’s system via a complete link in order to 
make appropriate enquires. 
 
Committals 
 
The Council will send a pre-committal warning letter prior to commencement of proceedings, 
allowing the charge payer the opportunity to attend an appointment and make payment.  

Any committal summonses will be served using methods agreed by the Council.  

Where the resident fails to respond a means enquiry summons will be issued.  

The Council will charge costs up to the statutory maximum at the time of issuing a means enquiry 
to cover reasonable costs against the charge payer. 
 
Write-Offs 
 
Any Council Tax debt which is identified for write off will be considered in accordance with the 
Council’s Corporate Write Off Policy (See Appendix 7). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Document Pack Page 75



 16

 

 
Business Rates  (NNDR)                                                                                         Appendix 2 
 
 

Council Policy 
 
The Council is responsible for the levying and collection of Business Rates (NNDR) for all 
occupied and unoccupied hereditaments on the Rating List which are not exempt.  

To ensure arrears are kept to a minimum, it is essential that the Council operates an effective and 
efficient approach to the collection of Business Rates using the methods determined by legislation 
and regulation.  

The Business Rates Manager on behalf of the Council has a duty to recover all outstanding 
amounts of Non Domestic Rates and at all times staff within the Business Rates team will operate 
in compliance with the Council’s Corporate Debts Policy. 
 
Policies Specific to Non-Domestic Rates 
 
Billing, collection and recovery of Business Rates is managed by the Councils Business Rates 
team.  
 
It is important that anyone who does not pay their Business Rates by the due date is pursued for 
payment quickly.  
 
When an instalment or part of an instalment is missed a Reminder letter will be sent.  
 
If the charge payer fails to make payment or contact the Council following the reminder letter, a 
Summons will be issued without further notice and costs will be incurred. 
 
If payment is received following receipt of the reminder letter but the charge payer then fails to pay 
on time on a 2

nd
 occasion, a Final Notice is sent which cancels the right to pay by instalments. If 

no payment or contact is made following the issue of the Final Notice, a Summons will be issued 
without further notice and costs will be incurred. 
 
Explanatory notes will be issued with the Summons notice explaining the implication of Business 
Rate Enforcement.  
 
If upon receipt of a Summons a charge payer contacts the Council and agrees to a special 
arrangement, the agreement will be confirmed in writing.  
 
Should the account not be settled by the Court Hearing date, the Council will make an application 
for a Liability Order plus costs. This includes cases where a special arrangement has been made.  
 
The Council encourages charge payers to contact prior to the Court Hearing date in order to pay in 
full, make an arrangement or resolve any queries.  
 
Staff attending court will be fully prepared to assist those attending court for the Liability Order 
hearing and ensure they have a written breakdown of summons and Liability Order costs 
available.  
 
If no arrangement is made to clear the Liability Order debt, the usual form of recovery would be to 
pass the case to the bailiff for collection.  
 
 
 
 
 

Document Pack Page 76



 17

Should the debt fail to be recovered by the bailiff they will return the case to the Council so that the 
next form of recovery can be considered. For example, a petition for 
bankruptcy/liquidation/winding up may be sought. In the case of individual liability a means enquiry 
could be undertaken. 
 
Bailiff/External Agency Recovery 
 
When the services of Bailiffs/External Agency Recovery have been determined a service level 
agreement will exist along with formal written procedures specifying the standard of service to be 
provided and will cover the following matters:-  
 
• The initial bailiff visit will be expected to be made at the earliest opportunity of receipt of the case.  
 
• Specific procedures for the removal of goods.  
 
• The Business Rates office applies a “fast track” method with the bailiff where the van bailiff 
proceeds with immediate effect.  
 
• The Council should be able to access the external bailiffs system via a link in order to make 
enquiries. 
 
Write Offs  
 
 Any charge payers debt which is identified for write off will be considered in accordance with the 
Bury Council’s Corporate Write off Policy (See Appendix 7). 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
  
                                                                                                                                                                 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Document Pack Page 77



 18

 

 
Overpaid Housing Benefit                                                                                      Appendix 3 
 

 
An overpayment of Housing Benefit (HB) is any amount which has been paid but to which 
there was no entitlement. This includes any amount of  
 

• Rent rebate or rent allowance paid in excess of entitlement 

• Rent rebate credited to a rent account in advance of entitlement 

• Rent allowance paid on account which is in excess of entitlement      
 
The Benefits Manager on behalf of the Council has a duty to recover all outstanding amounts of 
overpaid Housing Benefit and Council Tax, and at all times staff within the Revenues Department 
will operate according to the Council’s policy. However, some overpayments are irrecoverable; for 
example, those caused by official error where the claimant could not reasonably have known that 
they had been overpaid or where they had not contributed to the error.  

Officers assessing claims will decide if the overpayment is recoverable at the time of processing 
the overpayment. Any overpayment considered irrecoverable will be referred to a senior officer for 
a final decision.  

It is at the discretion of the Council whether to recover an overpayment. Where known, the 
personal circumstances of the claimant should be taken into account when deciding whether to 
recover the overpaid amount. 

 
Who to recover from 
 
When deciding who an LA can recover an overpayment they must. 
 

• Decide whether the landlord has reported the overpayment in writing, and if so whether all 
criteria listed in HB Reg 101(1) have been satisfied. 
 

- If it has, then it can’t be recovered from the landlord 
- If it hasn’t , the LA must consider whether to seek recovery from the landlord when 

considering HB Reg 102 (2) 
 

• Decide whether the overpayment was caused by an official error 
 

- If it was, the overpayment is only recoverable from the persons who could 
reasonably have been expected to realise they were being overpaid. This could be 
the landlord and claimant 

- If it wasn’t, the LA must consider whether the overpayment was caused by 
someone who misrepresented or failed to disclose information.    

 

•    Decide who misrepresented or failed to disclose information.  
 

- If one person misrepresented or failed to disclose information, the overpayment 
would be recoverable from them 

-  If more then one person misrepresented or failed to disclose information, the 
overpayment could be recoverable from both or either if  

~ One person was more at fault, recover from them 
~ Both people were equally at fault, recover from both of them  
 
 
 

Document Pack Page 78



 19

- No one misrepresent or failed to disclose information, the overpayment would be 
recoverable from the  

~ Clamant and 
~ Person to whom the overpayment was paid.  
 

Once an LA decides on who an overpayment can legally be recovered from (this decision holds a 
right of appeal) they must then make a further decision on who they are actually going to recover 
from (this decision does not have a right of appeal). The Council will make this judgement based 
on evidence available to them at the time.  
 
Recovery Methods 
 
The Council can recover overpayments by any lawful means. One or more of the following 
methods of recovery may be employed dependant upon the individual circumstances of each 
case. 
 
Recovery from Ongoing Benefit – Rent Allowance or Rent Rebate  
 
Where a customer continues to receive Housing Benefit the Council will make deductions from 
ongoing payments of Housing Benefit having regard to their financial circumstances. Where 
appropriate the Council will recover debts at the weekly amounts set by the Department of Works 
and Pensions (DWP). 
As well as the above-mentioned rates of recovery, the Council will also increase deductions, 
where appropriate, by half (50%) of any of:-  
• The earnings disregard, if applicable  
• Regular charitable income or voluntary payments, if applicable  
• War Disablement or War Widows Pension, if applicable. 
 
In all above-mentioned cases, the recovery amounts are subject to an overall maximum deduction, 
which does not reduce the benefit payable to less than £0.50 pence.  
 
In addition the Council can ask another Council to recover overpaid benefit on its behalf. 
 
The Overpayment notification letter provides information to the claimants about the overpayments 
and their appeal rights.  
 
Invoice  
 
If HB is no longer in payment then the person who is to be held responsible for repayment will be 
issued with an Invoice for payment in full with in 14 days.  
 
If after 15 days we have had no contact then a reminder notice will be issued.  
 
If after a further 15 days we have had no contact then we will attempt to contact them by to 
arrange a repayment but if this is unsuccessful then a Final Notice will be issued.  
 
If the customer contacts us and a suitable re-payment arrangement is made then the following 
payments methods will be accepted: -  
 

• Cheque/debit card 

• Standing Order 

• At any Post office or shop with a Pay point sign by using a barcode 

• At any Council payment office or library  

• Over the internet at www.Bury.gov.uk  
 
If after 30 days we have had no contact we will attempt to try and recover the overpayment by one 
o the following methods.  

Document Pack Page 79



 20

 
 
The recovery of fraud overpayments are prioritised by interviewing claimants immediately after 
they have been issued with a Formal Caution or Administration Penalty and making arrangements 
with them to clear the debt. The Council’s Benefit Fraud manager may make use of the Proceeds 
of Crime Act to try and   secure any assets that are deemed to have been accumulated through 
criminal activity 
 
Deduction from certain DWP benefits 
 
The Council may ask the DWP Debt Management Office to recover a Housing Benefit (HB) 
overpayment by deduction from certain DWP benefits, as prescribed by Regulation. 
 
Where necessary entitlement to benefits will be identified through the Customer Information 
System (CIS) connected to the Department for Works and Pensions Database. 
 
Debt Recovery Agency  
 
The overpayments can also be sent to a debt recovery agency that will phone and write to the 
claimant to try and get an arrangement to pay. If no contact/arrangement is made a doorstep visit 
will be made. This is all within a service level agreement we have with the debt recovery agency.  
 
County Court action 
 
Where standard recovery action has failed to recover the debt, it may be recovered in the County 
Court. An application for an order will have to be made and this allows us to attempt the following 
recovery action. Recovery via  
 

• Attachment of Earnings,  

• Garnishee Order,  

• Bailiff or  

• Charging order (enforcing the sale of a property).  
 
These action’s and the obtaining of the County Court order all incur added costs which are 
payable by the debtor.  
 
Tracing Nonpayer’s 
 
All available resources will be used to trace nonpayer’s including data matching options, Experian 
searches, and utilisation of the DWP Customer Information System. External Tracing Agents may 
also be deployed when all other avenues have been explored and it is cost effective to do so. 
  

Write Off  
 
Write-Off action will be taken in accordance with the principles set out in the Council’s Corporate 
Write off Policy. (See Appendix 7)  
 
The Housing Benefit Overpayment Officer will retain details of all outstanding overpayments where 
benefit is no longer in payment, in the event of future benefit being awarded, enabling recovery in 
the future. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Document Pack Page 80



 21

 

 
Parking Enforcement                                                                                              Appendix 4 
 

 
Council Policy  

To ensure compliance with the restrictions within the Council car parks and the Borough highways 
the Council is authorised to issue Penalty Charge Notices to vehicles parked in contravention of 
the restrictions as stated in the Traffic Management Act 2004.  

Policies specific to Parking Enforcement  

Penalty Charge Notices (PCNS) will be issued to contravening vehicles whenever an enforcement 
officer deems it necessary.  

The recovery of the fines is the responsibility of Parking Services and for reasons of segregation of 
duties and safety, the enforcement officers are not allowed to take payment for the PCNS they 
issue.  

Collection of penalty charges will be in accordance with the Traffic Management Act 2004.  

Through-out the life of the PCN, Parking Services should make every attempt to recover the 
amount due at every stage in the proceedings.  

The Council has the discretion to cancel a Notice for various reasons and therefore not proceed 
with the fine. The powers of discretion in these cases can only be exercised by the Car Parking 
Manager.  

At all times the Council will act legally and promptly in all cases where payment is overdue.  

Before a notice is passed to a bailiff for collection all statutory methods of enforcement must have 
been taken. Notice to owner, Charge certificate, and statutory declaration.  

Where every effort has been made to recover up to the statutory declaration stage, Parking 
Services in conjunction with the Car Parking Manager will consider cases to be put forward for a 
warrant of execution.  

Once the Court are happy that all the statutory steps have been taken and the warrant has been 
granted to the council further recovery action can be considered.  

Should the office team not be able to collect the amount due then the warrant can be passed to 
one of the Council’s bailiffs for collection.   

Write-Off  

If Parking Services and bailiffs have not been able to recovery the money the office team must 
consider the case to be listed as unable to recover and put onto a write off list to be considered 
and signed by the Executive Director of Resource. As well as the name, address and amount the 
list should also show the types of recovery action that have been taken. Write off action will be 
carried out in accordance with the Corporate Write off policy. (See Appendix 7)  

 
 
                                                                                                                                                   
 
 
 
 
 

Document Pack Page 81



 22

 
 
Rents Arrears Recovery                                                                                          Appendix 5 
 
 
 
Rent collection and arrears recovery is vital to the sustainability and financial viability of Six Town 
Housing.  The service is delivered through our Rent Income Team which has a clear focus on : 
 

• Developing a positive payment culture. 

• Prevention and early intervention. 

• Welfare and debt advice services. 

• Timely intervention, including legal action where required. 

• Provision of affordable credit and banking facilities through the credit union. 

• Clear contact with tenants. 
 

All customers whether in rent arrears or not have an equal right to a service that offers advice and 
assistance on how to maximize their income. 
 
Polices specific to Rent Collection 
 
Six Town Housing adopts a structured approach when dealing with tenants in rent arrears.  There 
are clear stages that must be followed in every case with appropriate contacts. 
 
Stage 1: Contact must be made within the first 2 weeks of rent arrears occurring. Ideally this 
would be within the first week as this will assist in debt prevention 
 
Stage 2 : Contact with the tenant when they owe a maximum of 3 weeks rent but again ideally at 
two weeks rent, if stage 1 has failed to adequately resolve the situation. 
 
Stage 3: Serve Notice of Seeking Possession (NSP) once the tenant owes 4 weeks rent, or £100 
if four weeks payable rent is less than this. Tenant is advised with regard help available through 
external agencies. 
 
Stage 4:  An application to court for possession should be made immediately on expiry of the 28 
day period specified in the NSP if payments are not maintained or the tenant has not made 
contact and made an acceptable offer to pay. Tenant is advised with regard help available through 
external agencies.  All risk assessments are carried out. 
 
Stage 5: A date for hearing the possession application will be set by the County Court. Tenant 
advised and invited in for an interview, where help will be provided to try and resolve any queries 
they may have. 
 
Stage 6: On the court date a Rent Officer will attend and the tenant will be interviewed before the 
hearing where help will be provided to try and resolve any queries they may have.   The outcome 
of the Court hearing will be recorded and a letter sent to the tenant. 
 
Stage 7: If the tenant fails to maintain payments in line with the terms of a court order, contact will 
be made with the tenant to arrange a pre-eviction interview.  
 
Stage 8: If the tenant does not pay as agreed , request an eviction warrant . All risk assessments 
are carried out. 
 
Stage 9: Eviction date set by the court, inform the tenant. 
 
 
 
 

Document Pack Page 82



 23

 
It is important that the recovery procedure is followed and all the necessary checks are carried out 
when considering the next stage of action.  It is important to discover all the facts from the 
customer when discussing rent arrears and debt advice should be given in appropriate cases. 
Where a tenant is known to have multiple debts we will work with external agencies for assistance 
where necessary.  Referrals can be made at any stage and preferably as early as possible.  
Referrals should be made in any event at application to court and/or eviction application as per the 
Pre Court Protocol. 
 
All our  letters contain information where payments and help is available.  We also have 
information on our website, with details of Housing Benefit and Citizens Advice Bureau surgeries 
and appointments that can be made at Six Town Housing.    
 
Write-Offs 
 
Write-Off action will be taken in accordance with the principles set out in the Council’s Corporate 
Write off Policy (See Appendix 7) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Document Pack Page 83



 24

 
 
Sundry Debts                                                                                                           Appendix 6 
 
 

Council Policy 
 
The Executive Director of Resources on behalf of the Council has a duty to recover all outstanding 
amounts. 
 
It is essential to maintain Council services offered by recovering any costs for those services 
provided. It is imperative that invoices are paid to ensure the continuance of services. 
 
Policies Specific to Sundry Debts 
 
Sundry nonpayer invoices are raised by whichever department is responsible for provision of the 
service provided. A full individual’s name or company name and address, including postcode is 
required. Invoices should be charged to the correct cost centre and VAT code. A detailed 
description of the service should be provided. Authorised other evidence and details of the 
relevant legislation applicable must be retained by the originating Department in order to provide 
an audit trail confirming the debt raised is valid and to enable the original documents to be used if 
applicable for court proceedings. 

The responsibility for the billing, collection and recovery of sundry nonpayer demands is held by 
the Corporate Director of Finance & Corporate Governance.  

A sundry nonpayer debt can be cancelled at any stage of recovery action providing the proper 
procedures are followed.  

Service providers must endeavour to obtain payment in advance or at the time of service delivery 
wherever possible. 
 
At all times the Council will act legally and promptly in all cases where payment is overdue. 
Invoices will be issued promptly with sufficient information to explain the charge. In the event of 
non - payment a reminder will be issued. If payment is still not made, a Letter Before Action (LBA) 
will be issued. 

           Debts at LBA stage may be reviewed by a member of the Sundry Debtor’s team, who will decide 
on the progression of the debt based upon the debt type, amount, previous recovery history and 
legally appropriate recovery methods.  

           If the debt has been deemed to be recoverable, the Sundry Debtor’s team will review the debt and 
the next steps to be taken in accordance with the Council’s Vulnerable Person’s Policy. This may 
include the use of Experian where appropriate to carry out financial/ historical searches and the 
Insolvency Services website to check that the non - payer is not bankrupt. The use of Experian for 
searches will be monitored by the Collections and investigations Manager. A Land Registry search 
to verify property ownership may also be carried out at this stage.  

After the methods discussed above have been exhausted, where legally permissible, the provision 
of future services to the non - payer may be suspended until outstanding debts are settled after 
discussion with the appropriate service manager. 

 If a LBA has been issued, and if after the specified time payment has not been made, a County 
Court Claim may be issued. Alternatively, the debt may be referred to a debt collection agency to 
collect the debt on behalf of the council.  Should a County Court Claim be issued, this will result in 
a County Court Judgment (CCJ) being lodged. This may affect an individual’s credit rating and 
make any type of future credit agreement difficult. It should be noted that once a County Court 
Claim has been issued, Court costs and interest will be added to the debt.  

Document Pack Page 84



 25

           Once a CCJ has been obtained, the Council will act to enforce it, which may include an attachment 
of earnings order, bailiff action to seize goods to the value of the debt, an order to attend Court for 
questioning, bankruptcy proceedings (for debts above £750), High Court Sheriff collection, 
Garnishee Order or outside debt collection agents visiting the property.  

A charging order may be obtained on the non-payer’s property, which will remain in place until the 
property is sold, although this may be enforced sooner by proceeding with an order for sale. 

To prevent any of the recovery action shown above, it is important that contact is made between 
the non-payer and the Council to seek reasons for non payment. If appropriate and agreeable with 
the Sundry Debtor’s Team, instalment agreements can be arranged depending on individual 
circumstances. 

If the debt is deemed as non–recoverable, the Customer Accounts Team leader will apply the 
write - off procedure (See Appendix 7). 

Ownership of all Sundry Debts rests with the originating departments. It is their responsibility to:  

• Issue an instruction to cancel an invoice, using a credit note request form.  

• Correspond with or discuss with the non-payer issues relating to the validity of the debt; and 
determine what, if any, services should be provided to non-payers who are in arrears.               
The Sundry Debtors Team will provide reports to the originating Departments on a regular basis 
as to the value of their outstanding accounts with a monthly report showing the status of debts 
raised by each department.  

• Request that any debt be written off. 

It is the responsibility of the service department to determine how to supply services to a non-
payer who is already in arrears. However, prior to a Council service being withdrawn completely 
from a non-payer, the service Department must identify if the service can be legally stopped and 
then contact the nonpayer to explain the action about to be taken and the reasons behind it. 

Where a non-payer has legally passed on his/her responsibility of their finances to their 
representative, the representative will be held liable for all charges incurred by the customer. In 
the event of non payment the Council will pursue recovery of monies owed against the appointed 
representative. This may result in Court action to recover any outstanding sums.  

Cancellation of Sundry Debt Invoice                                                                                            
Where a charge has been found to be incorrectly raised, in full or part, it is the responsibility of the 
originating department to raise a credit note to cancel, or reduce, the original charge.                 
The department should complete a credit note request form, detailing the reasons for the 
cancelation/reduction, duly signed by an authorised officer, and keep the details available for 
inspection by internal audit as required.   

 
Write Offs  
The Sundry Debtors Team will provide the following details to the Executive Director of Finance to 
enable that officer to decide on whether or not to write off a debt: 
  
• Non-payer reference  
• Total sum 
• Reason for debt  
• Action taken to date to recover the Sundry Debt which is identified for write off will be considered 
in accordance with the Council’s Corporate Write Off Policy (See Appendix 7).  
 
The Council recognises that there will be instances where there will be credit balances on 
accounts and as such reference is made to the Write On Policy (See Appendix 7).This will apply to 
all of the debt types as set out within this document. 
 

Document Pack Page 85



 26

 

Document Pack Page 86



Corporate Debt Case Studies 
 
Case Study 1. 
 
Customer is a single parent with two children, a little girl aged 4 and a young boy 
diagnosed with autism aged 9 years. She is in receipt of income support of £71.70 and 
also receives £114.00 child tax credit and £33.70 child benefit per week. 
 
The case was referred from Bury CAB who were helping the customer deal with multiple 
debt issues. However they were very concerned as the customer had been served 
notice at the tenancy where the customer and her family were living and they were at 
serious risk of becoming homeless. Her private landlord had sold the property and the 
customer was struggling to find alternative affordable housing in the area. 
 
The customer sufferers with anxiety and depression and was clearly struggling to cope. 
She was also very concerned of the potential negative impact that changing her sons 
school would have on her son’s health condition, if she was forced to do this. 
 
As a result of a single case ownership approach the corporate debt manager took 
responsibility as the single point of contact to deal with all the multiple complex issues 
and fantastic outcomes have been achieved. 
 
The customer had got deeper into debt when she was using her income support to 
contribute to rent payments and she became reliant on pay day loans to maintain her 
essential living expenses and before she knew it her debts were spiralling out of control. 
She has now successfully applied for a Debt Relief Order which has reduced her 
personal debt by £8,000 and brought an end to costly pay day loans. 
 
With the right advice and support in place the customer has been able to successfully 
secure appropriate housing with Six Town Housing. It is close to her son’s school and 
therefore removing the risks of negative impacts on his health. This was achieved 
without the customer actually being made homeless and needing the local authority to 
provide and pay for emergency housing for the family. 
 
The customer has been given clear budgeting advice and has voluntarily engaged with 
the family support programme who will help embed her new budgeting skills in order to 
prevent further problems. 
 
The customer already had an NVQ level 3 in child care, she is now being supported with 
a refresher skills and confidence building course and there is already a marked 
improvement in her health. The customer is being supported to reach her goals and is 
working towards becoming a self-employed child-minder by the year end.     

 
Other outcomes include – In order to reduce the impacts of under occupancy until her 
sons 10th birthday - An award of DHP has been awarded as this is a temporary situation 
and the customer is also actively helping herself. 
The customer is hoping to be in sustainable employment which accommodates the 
needs of her family before her income support ends when her youngest child becomes 
five. Therefore preventing future stress and anxiety, removing future risks and avoiding 
potential sanctions.  

Document Pack Page 87



Case Study 2. 
 
Customer is a married man living in a Six Town Housing property with his wife and two 
dependent children, a boy aged nine and a girl aged five. 
 
The case was referred by the strategic case conference review board as the customer 
had increasing debts across the council, including £1,151.81 Council Tax arrears and 
£502.32 rent arrears. The family was also impacted on as result of the under-occupancy 
charges. 
 
The customer was working until he has an accident in March 2013, due to his ill-health 
he was no longer fit for work and made a claim to employment and support allowance. 
His other income is made up of £110 child tax credits and £33.40 child benefit.  
 
A full review of the customer’s circumstances was carried out and several things came to 
light. Although he had applied for employment and support allowance at the right time, it 
was never actually awarded. Despite ongoing telephone calls to DWP the customer was 
not able to get his benefits sorted out. As a result the only income available for the family 
to live off was the child tax credits and child benefit.  
 
In order to help this customer deal with his debts we needed to make sure he had the 
means in place to pay. A full update on benefit entitlement was given and due to his 
improved health the customer feels he is now fit and available for work. He agreed to 
attend the local library to complete his online application as he does not have access to 
the internet at home. When I followed up his progress it came to light a second visit had 
been needed as he had struggled and it had taken longer than expected.  
 
A backdated claim to housing benefit and council tax support has submitted which if 
awarded will reduce this customers debt with the council by approx £1,300. 
 
As the customer is actively taking positive action to address his situation a Discretionary 
Housing Payment has been awarded to help support the family in the short term. The 
customer is getting help from the CAB to apply for a backdated payment of Employment 
and Support Allowance. 
 
On-going budgeting advice is being provided and payment arrangements have been put 
in place for his outstanding Council Tax and rent arrears. The customer agreed he would 
benefit with some additional support in order to reduce risks of the increasing sanctions 
being imposed on people. The National Careers Service who are now working in 
partnership with Customer Support and Collections and are working with the customer to 
support him back to work.  

Document Pack Page 88



Case Study 3.    
 
Customer is a single lady who is suffering from anxiety and depression who currently 
lives in a Six Town Housing property. The customer has lived at the property for 28 
years and her children have now grown up and left the family home. The customer has 
been admitted to hospital on a couple of occasions in the last two years when she has 
attempted suicide. 
The case was referred from the under- occupancy team as the customer has mounting 
debts across the council including Council Tax arrears of £2,296.74 and rent arrears of 
£1,367.40. The team grew increasingly concerned when this customer threatened 
suicide whilst on the premises at Six Town Housing when being interviewed about her 
rent arrears and she has stated she is not prepared to move from her home.   
 
Although an application was made for a Discretionary Housing Payment an award was 
not made, as it was not thought that this short term fix would enable any long term 
positive solution. A corporate debt approach was adopted to offer an alternative 
approach tailored to meet the needs of the customer. 
 
The customer is currently in receipt of employment and support allowance of £71.70 per 
week which is paid fortnightly. The customer receives £69.77 of Housing Benefit per 
week towards her rent which is currently £93.03. As a result of the under occupancy 
charge the customer is expected to make up the weekly shortfall of £23.26 out of her 
ESA. This would leave the customer with £48.44 per week to live off and this is without 
allowing any contributions to meet her priority debts and is therefore clearly not 
manageable. 
 
Previous to this recent significant decline in mental health she held down full time 
employment, managed her mental health condition and coped with everyday life.  
 
Some quality time was needed with this customer to start to build trust and explore how 
she could start to effectively deal with her current situation aiming for long term 
solutions. 
 
The customers preferred option would be to secure paid employment this would then 
reduce the impact of all the other issues she faces but she accepts she will need support 
to reach this goal. 
 
We agreed that a family support key worker was her best option to provide ongoing 
consistent support for twelve months and I agreed to put this voluntary support in place 
for her. Funding can be secured from the private sector to provide access to training to 
improve skills and increase confidence. An application has been made to United Utilities 
trust fund for a grant to clear outstanding debts of £2,500 with them. Further action in 
respect of her rent and Council Tax have been put on hold and minimum arrangements 
have been put in place to deal with these priority debts. As long as these arrangements 
are maintained there will be no further action at this time. In order for the customer to 
effectively manage the arrangements they have been aligned to her benefit payday. As 
the customer now has a clear way forward and is actively doing something about her 
situation, an award of DHP has been made, increasing her income by £23.26 per week.  
 
This customer was suffering serious social and financial exclusion and because of her 
declining health was at serious risk, if she had just been left unable to cope. Although we 

Document Pack Page 89



cannot predict what the future holds we have given her a clear way forward and are 
providing the positive support needed to help her make the transition back to work.       

 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 

Document Pack Page 90



 
 
 
 
 

 
The Discretionary Housing Payment scheme provides a small amount of 
funding to deal with anomalies and hardship in situations where normal 
Housing Benefit does not cover all the rent.  
 
This policy contains general principles which officers, who are responsible 
for processing applications for Discretionary Housing Payments follow. It 
should be stressed that this is a guide only and is not prescriptive or 
exhaustive. Each case should be considered on its own merits. 
Underpinning the policy is a general criteria that successful applicants 
must be doing all they can to alleviate their own situation. 
 
To qualify for some consideration for assistance under this scheme the 
customer must already qualify for some Housing Benefit. 
 
From April 2013 the government is providing extra funding to ease the 
introduction of the household benefit cap but also to meet continuing and 
unavoidable needs resulting from the application of size criteria in the 
social rented sector rather than catering for these in the Housing Benefit 
scheme itself. 
 
Many people have difficulty paying their rent. Among these are 
 

• those whose benefit is restricted because their rent is considered 
too high 

 
• those whose benefit is restricted because their home is 

considered too large under the government’s size criteria 
 
• those whose benefit is reduced by deductions for non-

dependants who may not contribute adequately to cover those 
deductions 

 
• those whose benefit is reduced by the taper for excess income 
 
• those who for all sorts of reasons have other calls on their 

income (additional expenses or outstanding debts) which they 
prioritise ahead of rent 

 
• those who are returning to work after a long period of 

unemployment who have difficulty in managing finances during 
the transition from benefit to a stable in-work income 

 
• those who are in affordable housing but at risk of becoming 

homeless due to difficulty in meeting their full rent liability 
because of severe financial difficulties resulting from the effects 

Discretionary Housing 

Payments – 2013 

Document Pack Page 91



of the current economic climate or their attempts to take up 
paid employment 

 
 
 
Awards of Discretionary Housing Payments should focus on enabling 
people to secure or retain and pay for appropriate and sustainable 
accommodation through temporary difficulties or in circumstances not 
addressed by the benefit system. This is in order to reduce the risk of 
homelessness and support the stability of families and communities. 
 
 
Discretionary Housing Payments should not seek to undermine the 
purpose and nature of the Housing Benefit scheme, nor support 
irresponsible behaviour, nor should they assist in situations so common 
that a consistent approach to such payments would involve expenditure 
above the maximum permissible. 
 
 
The Council therefore expects payments to be made in unusual or 
extreme circumstances where additional help with current rent will have a 
significant effect in alleviating hardship, reducing the risk of homelessness 
or alleviating difficulties that may be experienced in the transition from 
long term benefit dependence into work, for example: 
 
  

• Circumstances unusual/exceptional among customers in that 
tenure 

 
• Costs that are beyond their control and do not arise through the 

actions or failures of others 
 

• Housing choices which are forced on or required by the customer 
because of urgency, care needs or significant health 
requirements 

 
• Tenants whose benefit has been restricted because their home is 

considered too large under the government’s size criteria and 
are actively looking to move into smaller accommodation e.g. 
tenants who have sought the advice of the Councils Housing 
Options team and may be on the waiting list to move to a 
smaller property 

 
• Extreme and temporary situations which make it difficult to 

move in the short term or where decisions had to be made in an 
emergency 

 
• Imminent loss of the home where meeting some or all of the 

current shortfall between the benefit and eligible rent will 
prevent the customer from becoming homeless. However in 
considering awards under this provision the Council will have 
regard to 

Document Pack Page 92



 
• the reasons that the debts arose 

 
• the involvement of other advisory services engaged in 

providing assistance to the customer to manage debt in order 
that any arrangement to accommodate agreements for 
repayment of debt might be realistically obtained and sustained. 

 
 

• whether any proposed Discretionary Housing Payment award will 
have the desired effect of preventing the customer from 
becoming homeless 

 
• the consequences of any potential increased demand on the 

fund in the event that the award was not made (such as having 
to move from affordable accommodation into highly priced 
private sector accommodation with reduced security of tenure) 

 
• temporary hardship and difficulties which may arise during the 

transition for those who are coming off long term benefits into 
work. 

 
 
 
The Council may also provide temporary assistance in the early months of 
a tenancy where a claimant has moved from homelessness provision and 
additional help is likely to increase the chances that the claimant will 
sustain a stable and secure home. 
 

 
 
 

 
 
Awards are expected to be made to meet current needs rather than past 
debts. No significant degree of payment for past periods is anticipated as 
requests for payment should be made promptly within the benefit period 
of the main benefit to which they relate and within a reasonable time of 
knowing the outcome of a claim for the main benefit.  
 
Awards are expected to last for a short fixed period, depending on the 
individual circumstances. Given the limited scope of the scheme and the 
funding available, awards are expected to be at a modest level other than 
for very short periods in extreme circumstances. Awards to claimants with 
high rents are unlikely to be made 
 
The Council recognises that a small proportion of awards will need to 
continue for longer periods, particularly where the current home has been 
significantly adapted to meet the needs of a family member with 
substantial and continuing disability. 
 

Awards of Discretionary Housing Payments 

Document Pack Page 93



Decisions on the level and duration of awards will also take account of 
what is affordable within the agreed budget, bearing in mind that the level 
of grant available is decided nationally by the Department for Work and 
Pensions rather than on the basis of any local assessment of need. 
 
 
The Council expects to give higher priority to assisting people to retain an 
established home and to relieving temporary difficulties where the 
arrangement is likely to be sustainable longer term; and low priority 
to assisting people who take on housing costs which because of the 
nature, location or price of the property, are unaffordable and 
unsustainable from the start. 
 
The Council recognises that some social sector tenants affected by the 
size criteria after April 2013 will live in properties that have been 
substantially adapted structurally to meet needs arising from severe and 
persisting disability or because of such disability will depend on the care 
and support of relatives and friends in the immediate vicinity. If it is 
unreasonable to expect the claimant to move in the short to medium 
term, awards of Discretionary Housing Payment, if appropriate, may be of 
much longer duration than usually expected. 
 
In addition, where resources allow, the Council may also assist other 
social sector tenants affected by the size criteria if it would be beneficial 
for them to stay in the property because of the care and support they 
provide in, or other recognised contribution to, the immediate community. 
 
The Council recognises the difficulties faced by absent parents who 
regularly look after children normally living with the other parent or who 
hope to make such arrangements. The benefit system does not provide 
for this situation. It is a common situation. The Council will therefore only 
rarely be able to assist with discretionary payments, mainly where 
existing arrangements are threatened by difficulties that are likely to be 
short-lived. 
 
The Council recognises that welfare reform changes greatly increase the 
number of claimants who face a reduction of Housing Benefit that will be 
of relatively short duration such that it is unreasonable to expect them to 
move. This will most commonly be 
 

• Where a social sector tenant is affected by the size criteria but 
will shortly reach the age for state Pension Credit and so become    
exempt from the restriction. 

 
• Where at the start of a size restriction, an imminent birthday of 

a family member will increase the room requirement under the 
size criteria 

 
• Where a single woman or couple expecting their first child live in 

two bedroom accommodation suitable for their new family while 
still assessed on the one-bedroom or shared accommodation 
rate. (This would apply where the family were already in social 

Document Pack Page 94



sector accommodation but newly affected by the size criteria or 
where private tenants move to larger accommodation relatively 
late in the pregnancy.) 

 
 
 
• Where a single private tenant in one-bedroom accommodation is 

restricted to the shared room rate of Local Housing Allowance 
but will shortly be 35 and thus exempt from it 

 
 
In making decisions on discretionary payments, the Council expects also 
to be mindful of incentives to responsible behaviour, for example in the 
choice of a home or engagement in activities to address worklessness, 
debt or problematic behaviour. 
 
Where a request for payments has been refused, it is not expected that 
repeated requests will be considered unless the customer can 
demonstrate that the situation has worsened significantly or a substantial 
period of time has elapsed. 
 

 
 
Regulations provide that the Council can not make an award of 
Discretionary Housing Payment if the customer is not in receipt of an 
award of Housing Benefit. 
 
A Discretionary Housing Payment can not be made to accommodate the 
cost of any services which are not eligible for help under the Housing 
Benefit scheme such as  
 

• ineligible service charges,  
• water & sewerage,  
• fuel  
• heating charges. 

 
It is not normally expected that Discretionary Housing Payment payments 
will be made because of 
 

• significant overcharging by a landlord 
 

• the ordinary impact of rent restriction either resulting from a 
Rent Officer decision or the use of Local Housing Allowance rates 

 
• the preference for a size or type of accommodation or location 

which is not strictly necessary for pressing reasons 
 

Circumstances where the Council can not make an 
award 

Document Pack Page 95



• the failure of non-dependants to make up the deduction 
attributable to them when they have the means to do so 

 
• the inadequacy of benefits for disability to cover the costs of 

disability towards which they are paid 
 
• the unwillingness of the customer to use other available 

resources or to apply for other more appropriate forms of 
assistance 
a move from social sector accommodation to unaffordable 
private accommodation, other than for the most compelling of 
reasons 

 
• a move to private rented accommodation where it should be 

clear to the claimant that the property is too large or 
unaffordable 

 
• an increase in rent to cover rent arrears 
 
• certain sanctions and reductions in benefits 

 
 
 
The Council is aware of calls for discretionary funding to cover the cost of 
deposits and advance rent to assist a person to move to affordable 
accommodation. Given the limited nature of the funding available and the 
risk of landlords levying such costs where they may presently waive them, 
the Council would not normally expect to help with items of this sort. It is 
also possible to use Discretionary Housing Payments to help with removal 
costs and other expenses associated with moving. The limited funding 
available makes it unlikely that the Council can afford to help in this way 
given its priority of assisting people to remain in existing homes where 
appropriate but will keep this under review in the context of awards and 
expenditure, particularly for situations where it would release larger social 
sector accommodation. 
 

 
 
 

 
 
A claim for a Discretionary Housing Payments must be made in writing 
and signed by the customer. A letter or signed statement made at a 
designated office will be deemed as sufficient.   
 
On request or in appropriate circumstances, the Council will issue the 
customer with a Discretionary Housing Payments application form. 
Alternatively a form can be downloaded from the Councils web pages. 
 
The customer will be required to return the form to a designated office 
within one month of its issue and will be encouraged to include any 
relevant supporting evidence. However the one month time limit can be 

How to claim a Discretionary Housing Payment  

Document Pack Page 96



extended at the discretion of the Council. 
 
The Council may request any (reasonable) evidence in support of an 
application for a Discretionary Housing Payments.  The customer will be 
asked to provide the evidence within one month of such a request 
although this will be extended in appropriate circumstances.  
 
The Council reserves the right to verify any information or evidence 
provided by the customer in appropriate circumstances. 
 
The Council will seek to maximise the customer’s income by checking the 
availability of state benefits and other sources of financial assistance that 
may be available to the customer upon application 
 

 
The Council may need to revise an award of Discretionary Housing 
Payments where the customer’s circumstances have changed. 
 
As applications for Discretionary Housing Payments must be in receipt of 
Housing Benefit, they remain under a general requirement to inform the 
Council about any changes in their circumstances that might affect their 
claim for Housing Benefit 

 

In the event that a Discretionary Housing Payment is found to have been 
overpaid, officers will consider whether it is appropriate to recover it in 
full, in part or not at all. As a general rule the Benefits Section will seek to 
recover any Discretionary Housing Payment found to be overpaid. 
Normally this will involve issuing an invoice to the customer or the person 
to whom the award was paid. However, if the overpayment was caused by 
an official error and it is not reasonable for the customer to have known 
that they were being overpaid, recovery of the overpayment may not be 
sought 

 

 

Changes of Circumstances 
 
Overpayments  
 

Changes in circumstances 

Document Pack Page 97



 

 

Discretionary Housing Payments are not payments of Housing Benefits 
and are therefore not subject to the statutory appeals procedure.  
However, all Councils are expected to set up an appropriate review 
process.  
 
The Council will operate the following policy for dealing with requests to 
review a decision not to award a Discretionary Housing Payment, a 
decision to award a reduced or lesser amount of Discretionary Housing 
Payment, a decision not to backdate a Discretionary Housing Payment or 
a decision that there has been an overpayment of a Discretionary Housing 
Payment. 
 
A customer (or their appointee or agent) who disagrees with a 
Discretionary Housing Payment decision may dispute the decision. A 
request for a review shall be delivered in writing to a designated office 
within one calendar month of the written Discretionary Housing Payment 
decision being issued to the customer.   
 
A Senior Officer, who has not been involved in the case previously, will 
then consider the request and review the decision made, to ensure that it 
was reasonable. The customer (or their appointee or agent) will be 
informed of decision in writing.  

 
This decision will be final and binding and may only be challenged via the 
judicial review process or by complaint to the Local Government 
ombudsman. 

 

 Publicity 

 
The Benefits Service will publicise the scheme and will work with all 
interested parties to achieve this. In particular the Housing Options Team, 
Citizens Advice Bureau, housing associations, Six Towns Housing and 
voluntary sector organisations. A copy of this policy statement will be 
made available for inspection and will be posted on the Councils web site. 
Information about the amount spent will not normally be made available 
except at the end of the financial year.   

 

 

The right to seek a Review 

Document Pack Page 98



 

The Council is committed to the fight against fraud in all its forms.  A 
customer who tries to fraudulently claim a Discretionary Housing Payment 
by falsely declaring their circumstances, providing a false statement or 
evidence in support of their application, may have committed an offence 
under the Fraud Act 2006. Where it is alleged, or the Council suspects 
that such a fraud may have been committed, the matter will be 
investigated and if fraud is found to have occurred, action will be taken 
including the recovery of overpaid monies and, if appropriate, criminal 
proceedings. 

Fraud 

Document Pack Page 99



Document Pack Page 100

This page is intentionally left blank



�

�

� � � � � � � � � �
�

�

�

�
�
��
��
��
	
��


��
�
��

�

�


�
�
��
��


�
�
�

�

Document Pack Page 101



�
��
��
�
�
�
�

�� �
�
�
��
�
��
�

�
	


��


��













































































































































































































































































�
�

�
�
��
	
�
�
��
	
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
��
��
	
�
�
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
�


































































































































































































�
�

�

��
	
�
�
�
��
	







































































































































































































































































�
�

�
�
�
�
�
�	
�


�







































































































































































































































































 
�

�
	
�
�
��
�
��


��
�
��































































































































































































































































!
�

�
�
��
�
��
"
�	
�
#
�

































































































































































































































































$
�

�
	


�
�
��
�
��
	







































































































































































































































































%
�

�
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
�&
�
��
	


�
��
	
�'
�
�(






































































































































































































































)
�

��
�
�
�
�
�*
��
�
�

�































































































































































































































































+
,
�

-
�


�
�
�

�
��
�
�
�-
	


�
�
.















































































































































































































































+
�
�

�
��
��
�

�
��

�
�
��
��
�/
�
�
.











































































































































































































































+
�
�
�

�
	
��
��

	
��
�
.

































































































































































































































































+
!
�

�
��
�
�
�

�
��
�
�
��
�
�
��
.



















































































































































































































































+
%
�

�
��
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
�
�
�
.

























































































































































































































































�
,
�

0
�
�
��
��
	


��
�
��
�
	
�


��
.













































































































































































































































�
+
�

�
�
�'
	
��

�


�
�
��


�
��
�
�	
��












































































































































































































































�
�
�

"
�	
�
�
�
��











































































































































































































































































�
$
�

�
	


��
�
��
�
�







































































































































































































































































�
)
�

�

Document Pack Page 102



�
��
��
�
�
�
�

��
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�


�
��
�
��
��
�
��
��
��
	
��


��
�
��

��
�
�
�#
��
�
�
�
�
��
	
�#
��
�
�


��
��
�
��
	
�
�
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
�
�'
	
��
�
�
��
��
,
+
�
1�
,
+
!

�
*
��
�
�

�
��
	


�
��
��
�
�
�2
��
��
��
�

	
&
��
��
��
��
�	
��
��
�
3
�
��
�
�
�


��
'	
��
�
��
��
	
�
�
��

�
�
��
	
��
��
�
�
��
	
��
�
�
�
��
��
�
��
�
�#
	
�
�
��
�
��


�
��


��
�
��
�&
�
�'
�
�
��
��
�
��
�	
��
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
�&
�
��

�
�
��
�	
	
�
��
��
#
	
�
�
��
�
��
�
�	
�
�
��
��
�	
�
��
�
	
�
�
�


��
��
�

�
�

�
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
#
��
��
��
�	
&
�

�
��


�
��
�
�


�
�

�
�4
	
�	
�
�
�
�&
��
�
�#
	
�
�
�
��
�	
'�
�
�
�
�
��
�#
	
�
�
��
�
��


�
��
�
#
��
�
�
��
	



�
�
�
�
��
	


��


�
�
�
��
�
�
	
�
��
#
�
��
��
�
�


�
�
�
��
�
�
��

��
�
�4
	
�	
�
�
�
��
�
�#
�	
5�
�
��
�
��
	
��
6
#
�
��
�


�
�
2�
�
	
�
4
�

�
�
�&
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
#
�
�
��
�	
'�
��
�
�'
�

�


�
��
��
��
�
�
�
�
�	


��


�
��

�
�'
�
��
�7
�
'	
��

2�
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�

�
�

#
	
�
�
��
�
��

	
��
��
�
#
	
��
�


��
��
�


��
�
�
�

��
�
�
��
�
�
��
	
��
�
�
�
�
�
�
'�
��
�
��
�
�
�
�
�

�
2�
�


�
��
�
�
�
�


�

�
��
�
�
��
''
�
�
��
�	
'2
�#
	
�
�
��
�
��


��
�
��
�&
��
��
4
�
��
�5
	
�

�
�
1�
#
�

�
#
#
�	
�
�
�
��
�
�	
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
�
6
��
��
�
�
��
�
#
#
	
��
��
	
�	
�
��
��
�
��
�


��

�
�
�
�
�
��
�
��
��


�
��
�
�
�
2�
�
�
��
��
	
��
�
�
�
2�
�
�
��
��
	
�


�
��
2�
�
�
��
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
�	
��

/
�
�
�
�	
#
�
�


��
*
�
�


�
�
�8
�
�
�
/
*
92
�"
��
�
��
��
-
�


�
�
�
�
��
��
:
��
�
��


�
�7
�
�
�
�
�
2�
"
��
�
��
��
-
�


�
�
�
�
��
��
�
	
��
�
�
2�
"
��
�
��
��
-
�


�
�
�
�
��
��
�
�	
4
�
��
	


��
��
�
�2
�;
	
��
�

�
�	
�
�
��
	
��
�
�
�
2�
<	
4
��
�


��
�
��
��
�
�1
�"
��
�
��
��
-
�


�
�
�
�
��
��
/
��
��
��
�2
�=
;
�
��
�
��
2�
�
�




�

�
��
�
��
�=
;
�
��
��
�
��
�


�
��
�6
��
	
&


�;
	
�
�
�

�

�

�
�
�
�

�
��


�	
��
	


�
��
�
��
��
	


��
�
�
��
�
�
��
�


�
�

�
��
�
	


	
�
��
��
��
�
�
��
��


�
�&
��
�
�'
�
&
�
��
��
�
	
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
4
��
2�
�
�#
�
��


�
��
�
�#
��
#
#
�	
�
�
�
��
�
��

	
��
��
�
#
	
��
�


��

��
�


��
�
�
�2
��


�
��
��
�#
�
��


�
��
��
�
�
�
��
��
	


��
�4
�
��
	


��
	
��

�
�
�
��
	
��
�
�
�
��


�
�#
	
�
�
��
�
2�
�


�
�4
�
��
�
��
�
	
�
�
�


��
�
��
	


�4
�
�&
�
�


�	
��
�


��
�
��
	


�
��
�


��
�
��
�
�
��

4
�
��
�
��
	
�
��
	
�
�
�
�'
	
��
��
	
�
�
��
''
�
�
��
�
�4
�
�#
	
�
�
��
�

�
�

'	
��

�
��
	


2�
4
�
�
��
#
��
�
��
�
�
��


�
��
�
�
	
�
��
�
�
��
�


�4
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
�
�	
�
�
��
�
�
�#
�
��


�
��
�
�#
�

	
��
�


��
�
��
	


�
��
�
�
�
��
�

�
��


�4
�
��
�
��
�
	


�
��
��


�
�
��


�
��
''
�
�
��
�
�


�
�
�
��


�	
�
��
�
#
#
�	
�
�
�
��
	
��
�
�
�
��


�
�#
	
�
�
��
�
��


��
�
��

�

��
��
�
�&
�
��
��
�
�
	
�


��
�
�
��
�
�
��
#
	
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
��
��
�


��
��
�
''
�
�
��
	


�'
�
��
��
��
�'
�
��
�
�


�
�
�
��


�
��
6
#
�
��
�


�
�

�
�#
	
�
�
��
�
��


��
�
��
�
�
	
	
�
��
�


��
�
#
�
�
��
	


��
�

�
�
��
�
>�
��
�
�
�
�
��
	


�
��
�
��
�
�

�
�


�2
��
�'
�
��
�
�


�
�
�
2�
�
�
�
��
�
2�
�


�
��
�
'�
��

�
;
	
&
�
�
�
�2
�4
��
�
�
�

�
��
�
�
��
�
�
��
�	
'�
#
	
�
�
��
�
��
�
�

	
��
	


��
��
4
	
�
��
��
#
�	
�
�

�
�'
�
��
��
�

	
#
#
	
��
�


��
��
�
2�
4
�
��
�
��
	
��
�
�
��
�
�
�

�
��
�
�
��
�
#
�
�
��
�	
'�
#
	
�
�
��
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
��
	
��
	


��


�
�
��
	
��
�
#
#
	
��
�#
�
	
#
��
��
	
��
�
��
4
�
�
�
��


�	
�&
	
��
2�
�


�
��


�
�
��
��
�
�
��

�	
&
1�


�
	
�
�
��
�
�

�

�
��
�
�
��
�


��
��
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
	
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
�

�
�
�
��
	
��
�
#
#
	
��
��
�
�
��
�'
�
�
��
��
�

�

�
�
�
��
��
��
	
��
	
�

�
�
�
��
�
��
�
��


�
�
�


��
�
�


�
��
��
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
�


	
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�

�
��
�
��
��
�


��
�
�
�


�
��
	
�
�

�
�
	
�


�
�


	
�


�
��
��
�
�
�


�
��
��

� � �

�
��
��
-
��
�
��
	




	
��
�
�

�


�
�


�
��
��



�
�
�
� 
�
�
	
�
��
��

Document Pack Page 103



�
��
��
�
�
�
�

���
��
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�

�
�
�
�
��
�
��
��
�
'�


�
�
�#
	
�
�
��
�
��
�
�&
�
�


�#
�
	
#
��
>�
��


�
	
�
�
��
	
�
�
�

	
��
�
�
�
��
��
�
��
	
�
��
�	
'�
��
�
��

�
��
��
�
�2
��
�
��
�
��
��
�


�
��
	
�
��
��
��
�
	
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
�

��
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
�

�
�
�
�
�
�
��
��
	
�#
�	
�
��
�
��
��

�

��
�
�
��
�
�
�
#
��
4
��
�3
�
�
��
��
�	
'�
��
'�
��


��
�
��

�
�

�
�
�


�&
�
��
�
��
��
4
	
�
��
#
	
�
�
��
�
2�
&
�
�	
'�
�


�'
	
�
�
�
�	


��
�
	
�
�
�#
�
	
#
��
��


��
�
�
�&
	
��
�
��
��
�

�
��


��
4
�
	
��
��
�#
	
�
�
��
�
2�
&
��
�
	
�
��
��
�
��
�
�
	
�
��
�
�
�

�
�
�
�
�
��
	
�'
�
�
�
�

��
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�	
��
��
�
��
�'
�
�
��
�

�
��
��
�
�


�4
�
��
�'
'�
�
�
��
��
	
��
�
�


��
'�
�&
�
�
��
&
�
��

�
�


�4
�
�#
	
�
�
��
�
��


�	
�
��
	
&


��
	
�
�
�


��
��
�
2�
�


�
2�
�

�
�
�
�
2�
��
	
�
�
�#
�
	
#
��
�

&
�
	
�&
�
��

�
�
��
�
�


��
'�
��
�
��
��
�

�
��


�#
	
�
�
��
�
�&
	
�
��
��
�
��
��
��
	


�
��
�
��
��
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
	
�4
�
��
	

�

�

��
,
,
%
?,
)
� 

�
��

��
��
	


�#
�
	
#
��
�&
�
��
��
�
''
�
��


�
�'
�	
�
��

�
��
�#
��
��
��
�
�
�
�


��
�
�
�
��


��
�
�
�@
A
2�
+

)
��

��
��
	


��
�
��
�
��


��
��
�
�
��


�&
	
��
��
�
�
��
	
�
�
�
�
	
��
�
2�
�

%
�

�
��
��
	


��
�
��
�
��


�&
�
��
��


��
�
��
��
�
�
��


�
	
�
�
�#
	
�
�
��
�
�8
&
�
�
��
��


�
	
�
�
�
��
��
�!
,
B
�	
'�
��
�
��

�
�
��


��
	
�
�
�
�
	
��
��


�
	
�
�
92
��

�
��

��
��
	


��
�
��
�
��


�&
�
��
��


�

4
	
��
��
	
&
��


�
	
�
�
��


�
��

�
��
��
�
��
�
�
#
��
�
�
��
	


��


�
�+

!
��

��
��
	


��
�
��
�
��


�&
�
��
��


��
4
�
	
��
��
�#
	
�
�
��
�

�
�
�
�
��
��
��
�

	
&
�+

%
��

��
��
	


�#
�


�
�	


�
��
��
��
�

�
��


�

#
	
�
�
��
�
�&
�
��
�
��
�
#
��
�
�


��
�+
!
B
�	
'�
@
A
�#
�


�
�	


�
��

�

��
��
�
�'
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
�
�


�
�
�
��


��
�
�
�4
�


�
'�
��
��
�
�
��
�
2�
�

�
��
�
�
�
�
��


��
�
�
��
	
�
��
	
'�
��
�
�

�
2�
��
�
�

�
��


�
�
#
�	
�
�
�


��
�


�
�'
�
&
�
��
5	
4
�	
#
#
	
��
�


��
��
�
��

�
�
��
�
�
�
�

�


��
�
#
�
�
��
	


��
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�	
'�
#
	
�
�
��
�

�
�
�
�
��
��
�
��


��


�
��
�
�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�
�
��
�
��
	
��
	
��
��
�&
�
��
�


��
	
��
�
�
�
�
�
�#
	
�
�
��
�
�&
�
��
�
�&
��
��
4
�
��
�
�
��
�


�
�

�
�4
�
�
�
�
�
�
�	
'�

��
�
��
�
�
�
�
��
	


��


�'
�


�
�

�
�'
	
��
#
�
4
��
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
2�
�


�
��
�
��
�&
��
��
��
#
�
�
��
	


�&
�
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
��


�
��
�
#
#
	
��
�&
��
��
4
�
��
�
�
��
�
4
��
��
	
�	
�
��
��
�
��
�


��

�

�
	
�
�
�'
�
�
��
��
�
��


�
��
�	
�
#
�
��
6
#
�
��
�


�
�
��
�
�
�C
�
�
�
��
�	
'�
#
	
�
�
��
�
>�
&
�
��
�
��
�
��
�
#
�
�
��
�
�'
�	
�
��
�


�
��
��
	


��
	
��
�


�
��
��
	



�
D
��
�

�
��


��
�#
	
	
��
'�
�
��
�
��
�
��
�

�
�
��
�
��


�
��
�
�


��
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
�
��
��
��

	
��
��
��
�
��
��
	
��
�
''
�
��
'�
	
�
��
��
1�
�
�
��
�
2�
4
�
��


�
�
#
�	
�
�
�
��


�
��
	
�
�
��
�
�
2�
4
�
�
	
�
�
��


�
	
��
�
�
��


�	
''
�


�
�

�
2�
�
��
�
�

�


�
��
��
	
�
	
��
�
4
�
�
�
2�
�


�
��
4
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
��
	


�
�
�#
�

�
;
	
&
�
�
�
�2
��
�
�
��
��
��
��
	
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
6
#
�
��
�


�
�
�
��
��
�
�


�
�
��


��
�'
�
�
��
��
��
�
�
�
��
�
�

��
�
�


�
�


�
�
�	
��
�
6
#
�
��
�


�
�
�
�	
��
�
��
��
'�
��
�
�


��
��
�
�
��
��
#
�
�
��
	


��
�
�
��
��
	
�
��
	
'�
��
�
�

�
��

�

�
4
��
��
�	
'�
�
��
�
��
�
2�
�
�
��


�
��
�
�
#
	


�
�4
��
��
��
�

�

�
�
�
��
��
�
�

�
��
��
�
!

�
��
�


�
��
�


"�

•
#
�
	
�
�
�	
�
��
�


��
�
	


�
�E
�-
�


�
��
�
�
��
�


��
�'
�

�
��
��
�
�'
'�
�
�
��
��
	
��

�


�
�
�
��
�
�
��
�'
�

�


�
�
�
��


�
��


�

�
�
�
�	
'�
�
�
�
��
�
��
	
��
�
�
��
&
��
�
��
�
4
��
��
�
�
�
�

�
�

•
 
��
��
�	
�
�$
�
�
��
��
��
�


�E
�7
�
�
��
�


��
��
�
3
�
��
�

�
��
�
�
��
�
��
	
��


�
�
��
��
�
�
�
��
��
��
��
�
�
�4
�


�
'�
��
��
�
�
�
��
��
��


��
��
�
�
��
	

�

•
%
�
�
�
�$
�
�
�
�
�E
�*
�
�
��
��


�
��
�
	
�
�
�#
�
	
#
��
�&
�
	
��
��
��
4
��
��
	
�&
	
��
�4
�
�
�
��


�	
��
�
#
�	
�
�
�


�

�

•


�


�
�
�	
�
��
�


��
�
�
�

�&
��
��
�
�


��


�
��
�
�
��


��
��
�


�
��
��
	


�
��
�
�
�
��
�	
'�
#
	
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
#
�
	
#
��
��
��
�4
	
�

��


�	

�

•
'
��
�
�

�
��
��
�
�
�


�
�&
�0


�
�
��


�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
��
�
��
��
�
#
��
�
�


�2
��

	


��
	
��
�


�
��
�
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
��
	


�#
��


�4
�
��
�
�
#
�

�
�#
	
�
�
��
�
��
��
�
�	


��
�
�
�

�
�
�


�
�

�

•
(
�


�
�
��
�
	
��
�
��
�
�
�
	
��
�&
0


�
�
��


�
��
�
�
��
�


��
��
��
��
4
��
��
	
��
�
�
�
�
�
��
��
��
�
�
�
��
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
�
��


�
��
	


'�
�
�


��
�
��
��


�#
	
�
��
&
�
�


��
�
3
�
��
�
�

�

Document Pack Page 104



 
��
��
�
�
�
�

��


�
 
�
��
�
�
�
�

 
�
��
�
�)
�
�


�
��
�*
�
��
�
�
+
�
�

�
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
	
�
�
��
�
�*
�
��
�
,
+
,
��
�
3
�
��
�
�
��
	
�
�
��
�
�
��
	
��
��
�
�
��
	
�#
�	
�
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
�#
	
�
�
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
��
�
��


�
�&
	
��
�&
��
�
��
	
�
�
��
#
�
��


�
��
��
	
��
�
�
�
�
�
��


�
�

#
��
�
�


��
�
�
��
�
�#
	
�
�
��
�
��


��
�
�
��
��
��
�

�
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
�	
'�
��
�
��
�
�
�
��


�
��
�
�
��
�
��
	


�

�
�
�
�
�
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
��
��
�
��
��
'	
��
��
	
�
�
��
��
�
�
�&
��
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
��
��
��
�
�	
'�

�
�
��
�
�#
	
�
�
��
�

�

�
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
	
�
�
��
�
�*
�
��
�
,
+
,
��
�
��
4
��
�
�
�
�
�'
	
�
��
�
�
#
�
��
��
��
�
��
�
��
��
	
�4
�
��

�
��


�
��
	


�
��
�
�4
�
��
,
�
,
?�
+
.�

•
7
�
��
��
�
�
�#
	
�
�
��
�
�E
��
	
��
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�#
�	
#
	
��
�	


�	
'�
�
�
��
�
��


�&
�
	
��
��
�
��


��
�
��
��
�
�
��
	
&
��


�
	
�
�
�8
�

�'
�
�
��
��
�
�&
��
�
��


�
	
�
�
�4
�
�	
&
�!
,
�#
�
��
�
�


��
	
'�

��
�
��

�
�
��


9�
�	
��
�
�
�
��
�
�


�+
,
�#
�
��
�
�


��

•
�
	
�
4
�

�
�
��
	
&
��


�
	
�
�
��


�
��

�
��
��
�
��
�
�
#
��
�
�
��
	


�E
��
	
��
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�#
�	
#
	
��
�	


�	
'�
�
�
��
�
��


�&
�
	
��
��
�
��


��

�
��
��
�
��
�
�
#
��
�
�
��
	


��


�
��
�
�
�
��
�

�	
&
��


�
	
�
�
��
	
��
�
�
�
��
�
�


� 
�#
�
��
�
�


��

•
�
�
��
��
��


��
#
	
�
�
��
�
�E
��
	
��
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�#
�	
#
	
��
�	


�	
'�
�
�
��
�
��


��
�
�
��
�
6
#
�
��
�


�
�
��
	


�
�#
�
��
	
�
�
�	
'�
��
��
��
�
�
�#
	
�
�
��
�
2�
&
��
�
��
�
�
��
#
�
�
�'
��
��
�
��
�
��
�	
�

4
�
��
�
��
�
��
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
F�
�


�
�

•
*
4
�
	
��
��
�#
	
�
�
��
�
�E
��
	
��
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�#
�	
#
	
��
�	


�	
'�
�
�
��
�
��


�&
�
	
��
��
�
�4
�
�	
&
��


��


�
	
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
	
��
�'
�6
�
�
��


��
�
�
��
��
��

�
��
	
��
�
�
�
��
�
�


� 
�#
�
��

�
�


��

�
&
	
��


�
�
#
�


�
�


��
��
�
��
&
�
��
�
�
�
�4
�
�


��
	
�
#
��
��
�
��
�

�
�
��
�
�
�*
�
��
4
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
&
.�

,
�
�
	
�
�,
�

��
-�
�.
	
�


�


	
�


	
��
/


�
�

$
��
��
)
�
�


�
��
��
	
�
��
��


� 
�
�
	
�


�
�0
1


�


�
�


�
��
�
+
�
2
�

�
�
�
��
�
#
	
��
��
�
�
	
�
�
�


�
�
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�"
	
�
�
�

�
�


��
�
�
	
�
��
��
��
�
�'
	
�
�
�
�	


��
�
�
�:
	
�


�
�
��
	


�G
�
�
��
�8
,
1 
9�
�


�
��
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
	
'�
D
�'
�
��
�
�


�
�
�
��


�
��
�
�	
��
�

8D
�
��
9�
�
�
	
�
��
�4
�
��
�
��
4
��
�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
&
��
��
	
�#
�	
#
	
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
�	
�
�
��
�
�
��
	
��
��
�
�
��
�
	
�
��
��
��
�
��
��
�
��
�	
'�
D
�
��
��
	
��
	
��
�
�
#
	


�
�&
��
�
��
�
�
�

�
��
	


�
��

�

�
��
�
�	
��

�
�

� 3
�
�
�
�
�
�*
��


	
-�
�.
	
�


�


	
�


	
��
/


�
�
�
�"
�(
�
�
��
�.
	
�

�
�


	
��
�
	
"�
4
�


�5


6
��
'
�

�
�
�0
7
�
	
�
�
�
�
��
�
+
+
2
�

�
�
��
��
�
#
	
��
�'
	
�
�
�
�
�
�
�	


��
�
��
�
��


��
��
�


��
	


��


�
��
�
�
�

�
�
�
�'
	
��
��
�
#
	


�
�4
��
�#
�
��
��
�
��
	
�&
	
��
��
	
�
�
��
�
��
�	
�#
��
�
�


��
��
��
��


��
��
�


��
	


�&
�
��
�
��
�
�4
	
��
�

�
6
#
�


�
��
�
��


�
��


�
''
�
�
��
�
�

�
�

� 5
�
��
�
	
�
��
 
�
��
�
�)
�
�


�
��
�'
��
�
�

�
�
�

�
�
�
�"
	
�
�
�

�
�


��
#
�
4
��
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�'
��
�
��
=
�
��
	


�
��
�
�
��
�
��
	
�
�
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
�
��


�*
#
��
��
�
,
+
+
�&
�
��
�
��
��
�
��
	
��
��
�
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
�#
	
�
�
��
�
�4
�
��
,
�
,
�4
�
�

��
#
�	
�
�

�
��
�
�
��
�'
�
��
�
�


�
�
�
�	
'�
�
�
��
�
��


2�
#
�	
��
�
��


�
��
�
�

�
��
4
��
�'
�
�
��
��
�
��


�
��
�
�
�
�
�

�
��
�
�
�

�
��
	


>�
�'
��
�
�
��
�
�
'�
�
��

�
�

Document Pack Page 105



!
��
��
�
�
�
�

��
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
��
�

�
�
��
��
�
�
��
�#
	
#
�
��
��
	


�	
'�
+
%
 
2+
,
,
��


�
��


��
,
,
%
?,
)
2�
+
%

�
B
�	
'�
�
�
��
>�
��
�
�
��
�


��
�&
�
��
��


�#
	
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
	
��
�

�
��
	
��
�
�
�	
''
��
��
��
�
�
'�


��
�	


�	
'�
#
	
�
�
��
�

�

�
�
�
��


�
��
�
�
�	
'�
-
�
��
�#
��
�/
�
#
��
�
�
��
	


�8
�-
/
9�
��


�
�
�
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
�
�)
$
��
��

	
�
��
�
�
#
��
�
�
�
��
��
��
��
��
�
��
�
��


��
,
,
�
��


�
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
#
�	
�
�
�
��
	
�+
+
�
��
��


�

�
,
+
,

�
�
�
��
��
	


��


�
�
�
��
	
�4
�
��
�
�
��

��
��
�
�
�
��
�
�
#
��
�
�
�
��
�
��
	
��
��
��


�"
��
�
��
��
-
�


�
�
�
�
��
��
8"
-
9�
4
�
�
�

�
��
�	
�
�
#
	
��
��


�
��
��
''
	
��

�
�

� �
��


�
�)


�
�
�

��
	
�)
�
�


�
��
�

*
�
�
	
��
�

�
��
	
�H
''
��
�
�'
	
��
=
�
��
	


�
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
�
�8
H
=
�
9�
�
�
��
��
�
��
�


��
�
��
�
�
��
�
2�
�
,
��


�
��
��
�
�
��
��
��
��
�

�
��
��
��
��
�#
�


�
�	


2�
&
�
��
�
��
�
�
	
�


��
�'
	
��
+
)
B
�

	
'�
��
�
��
	
��
��
#
	
#
�
��
��
	


��


�
��
�
��
6
#
�
�
��
�
��
	
��
��
�
��
	
�	
�
�
��
�
 
B
�4
�
��
,
 
,

�
��
�
�
�

�
�
4
�
��
	
'�
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
�


��
��
��
��
�

�
��
�


�
�	


�
��
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
�
�

4
�
� 
B
�4
�
�&
�
�


��
,
,
%
��


�
��
,
+
+
��
	
&
�
�
�
��
��
�
�4
�


�
'�
��
�#
�
�
�
�


��
�
�
�
��


�
��
�
�
�
�
�4
�
�+
 
B

�
�
�
	
#
��
��
��
�

�
�	


�#
�


�
�	


�
��
�
��
�	
'�
�


��
�
�
�
��
�'
�6
�
�
�

�

�
	
�
�
�&
�
��
�
��
�


��

�
�


��


�
��
�
�
�
�
��


��
�
�
�#
��
�
�
�
�	
'�
�
�
�
�


��
�
��
��
�
�
�
��
�
�'
�
�
��
�


�
�'
	
	
�
��
��


�'
��
�


��
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
4
��
��


�
	
�
�

�

� (
�
�
�
�
��
�
	
��
	
�
�(
�
�
��
�8


�
�
�
�

�
�
��
�
�#
	
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
��
	


�
��
��
�

�
�
�
��
	
�#
�	
4
��
�
�
��


��
�
��
��
��
'�
��


�
��
�
�

�
��
�
�
�
�
��
	


�
��
�
��
�
�

�
�


�

��


��
�
��
�+
�

$
B
�	
'�
��
�
��
	
��
��
�
�
�
	
	
��
#
	
#
�
��
��
	


�

��
�
�
��
�
�'
��
�
��
�
�
	
	
��
�
�
�
��
��


�
��
��
��

	
��
��
��
�
��
��
	
�4
�
�
	
�
�
�=
	
��
�

�0
�
�
�
�
��
	


2�
0
�
#
�	
�
�
�


��
	
��
�
��
�

�

�
�8
=
0
0
�
9�
��
��
�
��
�
�
��
��
'�
�
��
�
	
�
#
��
��


�
�

�
	
�
#
�
��
	
��
��
�
�
�
�
��
	



�
�

��
�
#
��
�
4
�
��
�
,
+
+
2�
 
 
 
��
	
�


�
�#
�
	
#
��
�&
�
��
�=
0
0
�
�8
4
�
�&
�
�


��
�
�
��
�
�
�
�	
'�
+
!
��


�
�+
%
��
�
�
��
9

��
�
��
��
�
��
��
	
��
�
�
	
�
��
��
�
�

&
��
�
�

�
�
�
��
�
�
�	
�
��
	
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
�

�
��
��
��
�
�

�
��
��
�
	
��
2�
#
	
	
��
�
�
�
��
�
2�
��
�


�
�
�
�#
�
��


��
	
	
�
��


�
�

�
�
�
��
�
�
�#
�
�
�
�
	
�	
�
��
�
��
	
�
��
	
�
�
�

�

� (
�
�
	
�
�
�
�

�

�/
�
�
�
�
4
�
��
�
,
+
�
��
�
�
��
�&
�
��
�+
2)
,
 
��
	


�
1�
�
��

��


�
�
#
�	
�
�
�
�8
�
�6
��

	


��
�
�#
��
�
9�
<	
4
��
�
�
�
�
��
�*
��
	
&
�


�
�
�8
<�
*
9�
�
��
��
�


��
��


��
�
��
�&
�
��
�
��
�
�

�
4
	
�
�
��
�
�
�

�
��
	


�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�

�
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
�

�

�
�
�	
'�
�
�'
�
��
1�
��
�
�&
	
��
�
��
��
�
�

�
��


��
�
��
��
��
�I
�
!
2+
+
+
�#
�
��
�




�
�
�&
�
��
�
��
�
��
4
	
�
�
��
�
�
�"
��
�
��
��

-
�


�
�
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
��
�
�

�
;
	
&
�
�
�
�2
��
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
�

�

�
�
�	
'�
�
�#
�
��
1�
��
�
�&
	
��
�
��
�
��
��
	
&
�
��
��
�


��
�
�
�"
��
�
��
��
-
�


�
�
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
��
�
�
��


�
��
�
�
�



�
�
4
�
��
�	
'�
#
�
��
1�
��
�
�&
	
��
�
��
��
�
�
��


�
��
�
�
�
�
��
�

�
�
��
,
,
 
2�
�
�
�


�

�
��
�
�
��
�
	
��
��
�
�
��
�


��
�&
��
��
4
�
��
�
�

�

�
��
�
�
�

�

� .
	
�
�
�


�

�
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
��
	
�
�
�
�#
��
�
�
��


��
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
�


�4
�
�+
+
�
B
�4
�
�&
�
�


�+
)
)
 
��


�
��
,
+
�
�&
�
��
�
��
�
	
�
�
�
�
	
��
��


�
	
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
�
��
�

�
�
��
,
,
%

�
�
�
�
��
��
�
�



	
&
��
��
��
�
��
��
��
�
�
�	
'�
�
	
�
�
�
�
	
��
�
�'
�
��
�

�
��


�	
��
�
��
��
�
�
�#
	
�
�
��
�
�&
�
��
�
��
�


�#
	
��


��
�
��
�
��
�
#
�
�
��
��
�
�#
�
�
�
��
�
��
�


�
��

�


��
��
�
�
�
��
�
�	
'�
�
�
�
4
�
��
�	
'�

��
�
��
	
�
�
�
�
	
��

�
��

� 9


�
��
�
�

�
�
��
��
�
�
��
	
�
#
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
	
&
��
�
�
�
��
�	
'�
�

�
�
#
�
�
��
�
��
�


�
'�
��
8�
�
9?
0
�
#
�	
�
�
�


��
�
�
#
#
	
��
�*
��
	
&
�


�
�
�8
0
�
*
9�
�
��
��
�


��
��


�
��
�
��
�
��
�
��
	
&
�
�
��
�

�

"
��
�
��
��
-
�


�
�
�
�
��
�

��
�
��
��
6
#
�
��
�


�
�
�
�#
�	
4
��
�
�
�&
��
�
�	
4
�
�
��
�
��


�
��
��
�
��


�
��
��
	
�
	
��
�
��
�
�
�
�&
�
��
�
��
''
�
�
��
��


�
��
��
�
�
��
��
'�
��
�
�


�
�
�

�
�

��
�
��

�
�

	
'�
'�
�

�
�
�
2�
&
�
�	
''
�
��
�
��

�
�


�
��
�
�
��
�
�*
�
��
�
�
�D
�'
�
�
��
��
�/
��
�
	
�


��
�
�
��
�&
�
��
�
�#
�	
�
��
�
�
��
�
4
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
��
�
��

�
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
4
	
�
�
��
�
�
�

�
��
	


�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�
�

#
�	
#
	
��
�	


�	
'�
�
	
��
�
��
��
�
	
�
�

�
��
�
��


�
�#
��
�


�


�
�

�
�

�-
�
�
��
,
+
+
2�
�
�
B
�	
'�
��
?0
�
*
��
��
��
�


��
��
��
��
�	


��

�


��
��
�
�
�
��
�
��
�	
�


�
�

�
�

Document Pack Page 106



$
��
��
�
�
�
�

��


��
�
��
!
��
�
"
�
�

�
	
��
�
�
�
��
�#
	
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
��
�#
�
��


�
��
�
�#
�	
��
�


��
�
��
	


�
�

�
�
�
�
��
	
��


�
�
��
��


�
�4
	
��
��
��
��
��
��
�

�
�#
	
�

��
�


�
��
	
&
��
��
&
�


��
��
	
��
�
#
�	
�
�

�
�

-
�
�
�
�
��


�
�#
	
�
�
��
�
��
�
�

	
��
�
�
�
�
.�
-
�


�
�	
'�
��
�
�

�
��
	


�
��
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
��
��
�

	
��
�
�
�
��
�
4
��
��
��
�
��
	
�
�
��
��
�
�
�2
�	
��
�
��
�

	
��
#
�	
�
��
�
�
�'
��
3
�
�


��
�
��


	
�
�
�
��
	
�

#
�	
�
��
�
��

�
�


�

�
'�
��
�

�
��
�
�	
��
�	
'�
#
�	
�
��
�
�

�

�
�
�
�	
�
�
�1
�
��
�
�

�
��
�
��
�
��
��
�J
�	
��
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�

�
�
4
�
��
	
'�
�
�
#
�
��
H
�
�#
�
��
*
��
�
�
�&
��
�
�

��
�
��
��
�
�
��
��


�
�&
��
�
�

��
�
�
��

	
�
�1
�
�
#
��
�
�
�
��
 
B
�	
'�
�
�
#
�
��

H
�
�#
�
��
*
��
�
�
��


��
�
�
��
	
�


��
�

K
�

�

'	
��

�
��
	


�	


�#
�
�'
	
��

�


�
�
��
�
�
�

�
��
��
��
��
�
��
�
��
&
	
�
��
�	


��
�4
�
��
�
�
��
�
4
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
��
�
��
	
�'
	
�
��
�
�
�
��
2�
�
�
��


�
�&
�
�


��
�
�
�

�
��
	


�
��
�

�
�
6
�	
'�

-
�
��
�#
��
�/
�
#
��
�
�
��
	


�8
�-
/
9�
��
�#
�
4
��
�
�
�
�
�4
�
��
�


��
�
��
�
	
�
�
�

�
�


�

��
;
	
&
�
�
�
��
��
�
��
-
/
��
�
��
�
�
�#
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
	
�


��
�
�
��

�
�
�
�
��
�	
'�
�
�
#
��
�
�
��
	


��
�
�
�
�

�

��
�
��
��
	
�


��
�
2�
��
��
��
	
&
�
��
	
�
#
�
��
�
	


�
��
	
�4
�
��

�
�
�
�	
�
�
��
��
�
�
��


�
�&
��
�
�	
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
2�
�


�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
4
��
��
��
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
	
�
��
#
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
�2
��
��
	
&
�

�
�

#
	
�
�
�
��
�	
'�
�
�
#
��
�
�
��
	


��
	
�4
�
��
�
�


��
'�
�
�

�
��
�
��
��
�
�#
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
#
	
��
�


��
'	
��
�
�
��
��
�
�&
�
��
	
��
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
��
��
�
�
�&
�
�
��
�#
�
	
#
��
��
��
��
��
�

�
��


�

�
�
#
��
�
�
��
	


��
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
�
�	
�
�
��
�
�
�4
	
�	
�
�
�

�

�
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
�
�	
�
#
�
��
��
.�

+


;
	
�
�
�
�
	
��
�
��
��
�

�
�	


�4
�


�
'�
��
�E
�&
	
��
�

�
��
�
�
�5
	
4
��
�
�
?&
	
��
��
�
�
��


�
��
�
�

�
��
�
	
�
�
�&
��
�
��
�
#
�


�
�


��
�
�
��
�
��



�

�


�
�
	
#
��
��


��
	
&
1#
�
��
��


�
?	
��
�	
&
1�
�
��
��
�
��
�
#
�	
�
�
�


��
E
��
�
�
�&
	
��
�

�
�#
	
	
�

�

�


L
�
�

�
��
4
��
��
�
�
��
�
��
��
�

�
�	


�'
�6
�
�
?�
	
&
��


�
	
�
�
�
��


�
?	
��
4
�


�
'�
��
�E
��
�
��
�&
	
�
��
��


�
��
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
��
�
�#
	
	
�

�

�
�
��
�&
��
��
�
�
#
��
��
��
��
��
�
�
��
�


��
�&
�
	
��
��
��
��
�

�
��


�#
	
�
�
��
�

�
��
�
��
��
�
�#
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
#
	
��
�


��
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
�


��
	
��


�
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
��
�

	
�
��
	
�
�
�'
	
�
�
�
�
�
�	


��
��
��
�
�
��
�


��
��


�#
	
�
�
��
�
2�
�


�
�

	
��
�
	
��
��
�	


��
�
��
�
��


��
��
�

�
��


�#
	
�
�
��
�
2�
�
�
��
�


��
�
��
�
�
��

�
�

�'
	
�
�
�
�	
'�
�
�
��
�


��
�
�


��
�
��

�
	
�
�
�

�
�


��
#
	
��
�
�
��


�
��


��
��
��
�
�
�

�

��
��
�
��
�
#
	
��
�


��
�	
�

	
��
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
�	
'�
��
�
��
�
�
�
�
��
�
2�
�


�
��
�
�
�'
	
�
�
�
��
�	
�
#
�
��


�
�
��
�
�
�


��
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
#
�
	
#
��
��
	
�

	
��
��
�
�
��
�
��
�
�


��
'�
�

��
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
�4
�
�

�
��


�#
	
�
�
��
�

�
��
�
��
��
�
��


��
�
#
	
��
�


��
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�&
�
��
�
�

�
�
�
�
��
	
��


'	
��

�	
�
��
&
	
��
��
	
��
�
#
#
	
��
��
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
�
�	
�
#
�

�

Document Pack Page 107



%
��
��
�
�
�
�

��
�
�
�
�
��


��
�
�
�

#
�
�
��
�
�
��
$�
%�
�
�
�
��
��
�
"
�

*
�'
	
�
�
�
��
�	
�
#
�&
�
�
��
�
��
��
�
�	
�
��
�
�
��


�
��
�
�
��
	
�
�
��
�
�;
�"
;
D
�"
;
�
�7
�
�
��
&
��


�
	
��
�

�
��
�


�#
�
	
#
��
�&
��
�
��
�'
'�
��


��
�
��
�
�
�
�
��


�
�
�

�
�
�
�
��

�
5	
��
��
�	
'�

��
�
��
�	
�
#
��
�
'�


�
�
�#
	
�
�
��
�
��
�
�&
�
�


�J
�
	
�
��
�


>�
��
''
	
��
��
	
��
�
��
	
��
�
�	
��
�
��
	
�
��
�
�'

K
��
�
�
��
�	
�
#
��
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
	


�
��
	
�
�
��
	


�'
	
��
4
�


�
'�
��
��
�
�
��
�
2�

��
�
�
��
	


'�
�
�

�
�#
�
#
�
�&
	
��
2�
�
	


'�
�
�


�
�
�4
�
��
�
�

�
��
	
�
��
�
�
2�
��
�
�

�

�
��


��
�

	


1'
	
��

�
��
�


�
��
	


�
�


�2
�'
��
6
�4
��
�5
	
4
�
��
�
�
��
'�
��
�
�
��
�	
�


�
��
�
��
�
�
�
��
��


�
�

'�
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
�
��
�&
	
�
��
��
�
�#
��
�
�
��
��
�
��
�


��
�
��
�
�
��
	



�

�


��
�
�
��
�
�"
��

�
� 
�
�
�
"
�

*
�&
	
��
�
�
	
#
�&
�
�
��
�
��
��


��
�
#
��
�
4
�
��
�
,
+
+
��


�
	
��
�

�
��
��
''
�'
�	
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
��
�	
��
�


��
�
��
	


�

�
*
�
�&
�
��
��
�
�#
�
��


�
��
�
�#
�	
��
�


��
�
��
	


�
2�
�
�
��
�
��


��


�
�

�
	
�


�
�#
�
	
#
��
2�
#
�
	
#
��
��
�
��


�
��

	
�
�


��
�	
'�


�
�
�
2�
�	


�
�#
�
��


��
2�


�
��
�
4
	
�
��


�
��
�
��
	
��
��
�
�
2�
�
�
��
�
��


>�
��
�


��
�
�
2�
�
�
�
	
	
��
��


�
��
	
��
�
�
�
�
2�
�
�
��
��
�
�

�
�
�
��
��


�
�7
�
�
�


�
�
�
��


�
��
�


�
'�
��
��
�
	
�
��
�4
�
��


�
	
��
�
�
��


�'
�
��
��
��
	


�
�
��
�
��
	



�
*
��
�
��
�
��
�	
'�
�
�
��
	
�
�
�&
�
��
��
�
�
�
�
�
��
�

�
�

�
�
�
��
�	
�
#
��
��
	
��
�
�


��
'�
�
�
��
�
�
�

�
�
�
��
	
��
�

�
��


�&
��
�
��
�
�
�<
	
�

��
�
��
�
��
�
��
�=
�
�
�
�
�*
�
�
�
�
�
�
�


�2
�&
	
��
�&
��
�
��
	
�
�
�

�
��
�
��
��
�
�
2�
�
��


#
	
�
��


�
��
	
�

�
�
�


�
��
�
2�
'�


�


�
��
��
�


�
�4
�
�
�
�
��
��
�
�

�

�
2�
�
��
�
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
#
	


�
�
��
�
��
�
3
�
��
�
�
2�
�


�
�
�
�
�
�


��
&
��
�
�'
�
�
��
��
�
��


��
��
�
��
2�
C�
�
�'
��
�
�#
>2
��


�
�


��
�
�
�
��
	
�

��
#
�	
�
�
��
�'
�
2�
'�
�
��
#
	
�
�
��
�
��
&
�
��


�
�
�
��


�
�4
��


�
�

�
�&
	
��
��


�	
�4
�
��
��
�
#
�	
�
�
�


��
�
��
�
�

�

&
�
�
�
�
�!
��
�
"
�
�

*
�

�
�
4
�
��
	
'�
'	
�
�
�
��
�	
�
#
�
�&
�
��
��
�
��
��


�:
�
4
��
�
��
��
,
+
�
�&
��
�
��
	
�


�
�#
�
	
#
��
2�
#
�
	
#
��
��
��
�

�
�	


�4
�


�
'�
��
��


�
�#
�
	
#
��
�&
��
�
��
��
�
4
��
��
��
�

�
*
��
�	
'�
��
�
�

�
�	
�
#
�
��


�
	
��
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
��
#
	
�
�
��
�
��
�
��


��
�
�
�
�
��


��
�
��
��


�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�&
�
��
�#
�
��
	


�
��
�
��
&
�
��
�	
'�
#
�
	
#
��
��


�#
	
�
�
��
�

�
�
�
�
��
�	
�
#
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
��
�

�
��
��
�
��
��
�
#
	


�
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�

�
�&
�
�
��
��
�
�
�'
�
��
�#
	
�
�
��
�
�&
�
�
��


�
��
	
&
��
��
�
	
�
��
�4
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
�

�

�
�
�
��
�	
�
#
�
�#
�	
�
��
�
�
��

�


�
��
��
&
�
��
�
��
	
��
	
&
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
�	
'�
#
	
�
�
��
�
��
�


�4
�
��
�
�
	
��
�
�
��


�
��
�
�

�
��
�
��
�
��


�
��
�
��
�
��


��
	
�4
��
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
��
�	
'�
#
	
�
�
��
�
2�

'�


�


�
��
��
�
�
#
#
	
��
2�
�
	
�


�
�
��
�

�
2�
�
	
��
��
#
#
��


��
�
�
�
�
�#
�
2�
�


�
��
�
#
#
	
��
�&
��
�
�'
�

�
�

�
��
�
#
�	
�
�
�


�2
��
�
�
��
��
�'
�


�
��
��
�

�
�	
#
#
	
��
�


��
��
�
��


�
��

	
��
�

�
�
�
��
��


�
�
�'
	
��
#
�
	
#
��
�&
��
�
��
��
�
4
��
��
��
�
��
	
��
�
1�
��
�

�'
	
��
5	
4
�

�
��
�
�
��

�
5	
��
��
�	
'�
��
�
#
	


�
�
�
�&
�
��
��
�


��
�
�
�	


�'
�

�


�
�
2�
�
�
#
�	
�
�
�


��
�


�
��
��
�

�

�
2�

�


�
��
�
�
�4
�


�
'�
��
��
�
�
��
�

�

Document Pack Page 108



)
��
��
�
�
�
�

��
�


��
�


��
�'
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�%


�(

�

)
��
�
��
�
�
��
#
�
��
�
'
�

�
�
�
�
��
�
��
��


�
�
��
	
	
�
��


��


��


�
��
�
��
�6
1&
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
&
�	
'�
#
	
�
�
��
�
�&
��
�
�

��
�
�
�4
	
�	
�
�
�
��


��
,
,
)
1+
,

�
�
�
�
��
��
�	
'�
��
�
��
�
�
��
&
�&
�
�
��
	
��
�
��
4
��
�
�
�&
�
�
��

�
�
��
�


��
�

��
��
�


��
	


�
�&
�
��
��


�#
��
�
�
2�
�
	
&
��
''
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
��


��
��
�


��
	


�
��
�
�
�
�4
�
�


��


�
�&
�
�
��
��
�
	
�
�
�


�
�
��
	


�
��
	
�
��
�4
�
��

�
�
�
��
	
��
�
#
�	
�
�
�

��
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
��


�
��
�
�
��


�
�	
'�
�

'	
��

�
��
	


��


�
�4
�
�
��
#
��
�
��
�
�

�
��
�&
	
�
��
��
�
��
�
�
�
��


�
��
�
�'
�	
�
��
	
�
�
�


��
��
�
2�
'�
	


��
��


�
�&
	
��
�
��
��


�
�#
�
��


�
��
�

�
	
�
��
��
�
�
��


�

�
&
��
#
#
�	
�
�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�
��
�	
�
#
�&
�
��
��
4
��
��
	
��
�
�


��
'�
�4
�
��
��
��
��
�
�
��
��
3
�
��
�
�
�'
�
��
�
�
��
��
#
�	
�
�
�
�


�

��
�
�
�'
�

�
�

�
�
��
�
�
�
�4
�
�


�

�

�
	
�#
	
��
��
�
��


�	
��
�
��
��
��
�
��
�
�

�
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
&
��
	


�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
�
��


�
�
�
�
�
��
	
�4
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
�&
�
��
��
��
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
�
�
�
2�
4
�


�
'�
��
��
��
��
�
2�

&
	
��
��
�
�


�
�
�
2�
�


�
��
	
�
�
�


��
�
��
	


�&
��
�
��
	
�
�
�


��
��
�
2�
4
��
�
�
�

�
��
�
�
�#
	
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
��


�
��

�


�
�
�

�
�'
�

�


�
��
��
�
&
�
��


�
�
�

�

*
�'
	
�
�
�
��
�	
�
#
�&
��
�
��
�
�
��
�


��
�&
�
�
��


�
�
��
�
�
�


��
�
�#
�
��
�	
'�
��
�
�;
�"
;
D
�"
;
�
��
�
�
��
&

�
�
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�
�	


�#
	
�

��
�&
�
��
��
�	
�


�
��
�
'�


�

�
�#
	
�
�
��
�
��


�
�

��
�
�4
�
��
��
��
��
�
#
�	
�
�

�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
	



�
�
	


�
�
��
�
��
	


�&
��
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
��
�#
�
��


�
��
�
�#
�	
��
�


��
�
��
	


�
��
	
	
�
�#
��
�
�
�'
	
��
	
&
�

�
��
�
�
��
�
�
��
&
��
	
��
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�

�
��
�
�
��
	


�	
'�
��
�
�

�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
�
�


��
�


�
��
��
�
��
�
�

�

*
�
�
�
�
�+
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
�
��

*


��


1�
�
#
��
�#
	
�
�
��
�
�

�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
�
�


��
�
�
�
�4
�
�


��
	
�
#
��
��
�
��


�
��
�
��
��
�
�
	
�
#
�


��
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
��
�
�

�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
�
�


��
'	
�
�
�
�
�
�
�	


��
�
�
�'
	
��
	
&
�

�
�

�
��
�
�
.�

•
0
�
�
�
�
��
	


�

•
0
�
	


	
�
�
��


�
�0
�
#
�	
�
�
�


��

•
�

�
	
�
�
�

•
D
�'
�
�
��
��
?"
�


�
��
��
;
�
�
��
�
�

•
-
�


��
��
;
�
�
��
�
�

:
�
��
�
�
��
�
	


�
�
��
�
��
	


��
�
�
��
�
�
�


�#
��
�
�
��


�
�&
��
��
�
	


��


�
�
��
	
��
�
�
�
�#
��
�
�
�&
��
�
�#
�
��


�
��
�
�#
�	
��
�


��
�
��
	


�
2�
��
�
��
�


��
��


�
��
��
�
�
�
	
��
�
��

�
��

� �

Document Pack Page 109



+
,
��
��
�
�
�
�

���
�
�
�
�
�+
��
�
��
�
�

,
�
��
�
��


��
�
��
�
��
��

�

�=
	
�
�
�
4
�
��
�
,
+
,
�"
	
�
�
�

�
�


��
#
��
�
�


��
�
��
�
�
�@


��
�
��
�
��
�
��
�
��
.�
�
�
�'
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
	
��
�
��

�
��
�
��
�
#
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
�
�	
�
��
#
��


�
�'
	
��
�
�'
�


�
�
�
�


��
��

&
�
�'
�
��
��
�
'	
��

�&
��
�
��
�
�
��
��
�	
'�
��
�
�
�
�

�
�&
�
�'
�
��
��
�
#
�


�
�


�
�
2�
�	
��


�
�
��
��
�
�
��
C&
	
��
�#
�
�
�
��


�
��
�
��
�&
�
�
�
��
�
�


��
	
�#
�
�
>

�0
��
�
�


��
�	
'�
��
�
�

�
&
�

@


��
�
��
�
��
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
�&
��
��
4
�
��
�
#
��
�
�


��
�
�'
�	
�
��
,
+
�
�	


&
�
��
�
��


�
��
�
��


�
��
�
�
�
�
��
	
��
	
�
4
�
��
&
	
��
��
�
�


�
�
�
��


�
�#
	
�
�
��
�

�
��
�&
��
��
��
#
��
�
�
��
�
�
�

�
�
��
�


��
&
	
��
�

�
��
�
�
��

�
�


�
��
�
�
��
�
�4
�


�
'�
��
��


�
�&
��
��
�
�
#
#
	
��
��
�
	
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
	
�4
�
�
�
��
	
�&
	
��

�
��
�&
��
��
�
��
	
�#
�	
�
��
�
��
�4
�
�
��
��
��
	
&
�


�
�
�&
��
�
�

�
�
�
��
�	


�
��
�
��
�
�


��
�'
	
��
�
�
��
�
��


2�
�
��
�
4
��
��
�
2�
�
	
�
�
�

�
��


�
��
�
��


�

�
�

� &
�
�
��
"
�
��
��
��
�

�

��
,
+
,
��
#
#
�	
6
��
�
��
��
�+
�
2%
+
,
�	
'�
��
�
�

�
��
	


�
��
#
�	
#
	
��
�	


�	
'�
#
�	
#
�
��
��
�
�&
�
��
��
6
#
�
��
�


�
�

�
�'
�
�
��
#
	
�
�
��
�
��


��
�
��

�
:
�
�
��
#
	
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
�4
�
��
�

�
	
�
4
�

�
��
	


�	
'�
�	
&
��


�
	
�
�
�
2�
�
6
#
�


�
��
�
��


�
��
�
��


�
��


�
��
�
1�


�
''
��
��


��
�
	
�
�
�

�
�
�
��
>�
�*
''
	
��
�
4
��
��

�
��

��
��
��
�
��
�
�
��
,
+
+
�1
��
,
+
!
��
�
�
�4
�
�


�

#
�	
�
�
�
�
�
��


��
�

�
�&
��
�
��
�
�
�

�
��
	


�
��
��
��
�
��
��
�
��
�

��
�
�
�=
�
��
	


�
��
:
�
�
��
�
	
�
�
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
�
��
,
,
+
4
�
��
&
�
��
��
��


��
�
�
��
��
	
��
��
�
��
�
��
�'
�
�
��
#
	
�
�
��
�
�4
�
�

�
,
+
!
��
�
�
��
	
��
��
�

�
�'
�
�
��
#
��
�
�
�
��


�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
�	



�
�;
	
&
�
�
�
�2
�&
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�
��

�


�
��
�
�
�
�
�
�
'�
��
#
�	
5�
�
��
�	
�
�
��
��
�
��
�
�
��
��
�

�
�
�	
�
��
	
��
�
�

�
��

�
��
�
��
�
�
�&
�
�
�#
�	
�
�
�
�
�
��


��
,
,
 
��

�

�
�

�
�
��
��
	


��
�
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
�M
�
	
�
�
��
��
�
��
M�
�
�
�
�
�
�
2�
&
�

��
��
&
�
��

��
��
�
�
#
�
��


�
��
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
�M
A
��
��
��
�
�

�
�
��
�M
��


�
��
�
��
�;
�
�
��
�
�
�;
	
�
�
�
�#
�	
5�
�
��
�&
�
��
�
��
�
�
�
��
	


��
�4
�
��
�
��
	
&
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
�

�
��
''
	
��
�
4
��
�&
�
��

��
�'
	
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
�


��

�

� �
��
�
-
��
�
�&


�
��
��
�
�

�
�
�
��
�
#
#
	
��
�

�
��
	
�
�
�


��
��
�
2�
��

#
�	
�
�

�
�D
��
�
�
��
�	
�
��
�
�
�
�4
�
��
�
�
�	


��
6
��
��


�
�&
	
��
�4
	
��
�&
��
�
�

��
�
��
��


�
��
�
�	
�
�
�"
��
�
��
��
-
�


�
�
�
�
��
��
�	
�

��
#
�	
�
�
��


�
��
�
'	
��

�#
�
4
��
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
2�
&
��
�
��
�
�
��
&
�

��
��
�
�	
'�
��
�
�
�
�

�
��
�
#
�


�
�


�
�
?�
	
�
��
	
'�
#
�
4
��
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
��


�
��
�
#
�	
�
�

�
�	
�
��
	
�
�
�
�'
	
��
��
	
�
�
�

'�
�
��
��
�
�&
�
	
��

�
�
�4
�
��
�
'�


�
�
��
�
��
�	
�
4
��
�
2�
�
	
�
#
��
6
�	
��
�
6
#
�
��
�


�
�

�
��

�
��
�#
��
�#
�	
4
��
�
�

�
0
�
�
�


��
�
��
�
��
�
�
�#
�	
�
��
�
�
�
�'
	
�
�
�
�
�
�	


��
�
	
�
�
�

'�
�
��
��
�
�&
�
	
��
��
��


	
&


��
	
2�
�


�
��
�
�
�
��
�

�
��


��
��
�


��
	


�
�'
�	
�
2�
�
��
�


�
�
�	
'�
�
�
��
��
�
�

�
��
��
&
��
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
��
�
��
�


��
�
�
��
��
�
�
��


�
��
��
��
	
�

�
�
�
�
�	
#
��
�
#
�	
�
�
�
��
	
��
��
	


�
��
	
�4
	
��
��
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�

�
�
�
�
�	
'�
'�
�
��
��
�
��
�
��
�


��
�
��

�
�
��


�
��
�
�
��
��
��
��
�
2�
�


�
�#
��
�
�


��
'�
�
��
��
�
�4
�
�
	
�
�

�
��
	
�
#
��
6
��


�

��
�
�'
�
��
��

�

� �
�
�
�#
�	
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
��
>�
�#
��
	
��
��
�	
'�
J-

�


�
�
�

�
��
	
�
#
��
6
�

�
�
�
�
��


��
	
�
�
�


��
��
�
��


�
�

�
��
�
4
	
�
��
	
	
�
�
��


�
�#
�	
�
	
��


�
�#
�
��
	


�
��

��
�
#
	


�
�4
��
��
�
K�
�


�
��


�
	
�#
	
��
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�	
'�
�
�
��
>�
��
	
�
�
��
�
�


��
�	
��
�
�
�

�
��
	


�
��
�
�	
�
4
��
�
�:
�
�
��
��
�
�#
�	
�
��
�
�
�

�
�

� �
�
��
��
��
�
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
�#
�
"
�
��
��


�
�
�

�
�
�
�"
��
�
��
��
-
�


�
�
�
�
��
��
�
	
�
�
��
�
��
	
�
�
��
�
�	


�#
�
4
��
�
�
�
�
��
��
�'
�

�
�

�
�
�	


�+
 
�<
�


�
�
��
��
,
+
�
��


�
��
�
��
�
�'
	
��
�
#
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
�&
�
��
�
�&
��
��
�
�
�
��
��

�
	
��
��
�
�


�!
,
,
2,
,
,
�"
��
�
��
��
-
�


�
�
�
�
��
��
��
�
��
�


��
�&
�
	
��
��
��
6
#
�
��
�


�
�

�
��
�
�
��
''
�
�
��
�	
'�
�
6
��
�
�
�
�#
	
�
�
��
�

�
�

��
�
�
��
�	


2�
��
��
�
��
�
�'
	
��
�
�
��
	


��
	
�

#
��
�
�


��


�
�
��
�
�+

!
��

��
��
	


�#
�
	
#
��
�8


�
�
��
�
��
�
�'
��
�
�
�#
	
#
�
��
��
	


�	
'�
"
��
�
��
��
-
�


�
�
�
�
��
�9
��
��
�
�

�
��


��
	
��
�
�
#
�
��
#
	
�
�
��
�

�
D
	
�
�
��
�
�
��
	
��
��
�
�
��


�
�

	
��
�
��
��
��
��


�
	
�
��
�
�
�
��
	
��
�
��
�
#
��
�
�
��
�	
&


��


�
��
�
�#
�	
�
��
�
��
�
	
�
#
�


��
�
2�
�
��
�
��
��


�	


�
��


�
�4
�
��
�'
	
	
�
�#
�
��
�
�
�
�
�C
�
�
#
�
��

�
��
�
��
?'
	
	
�
4
�


�
�
>

�

�
�
��
�&
	
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
	
��
�
��
#
�	
'�
��
��
#
��
�
�
�
�&
��
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
�
�#
��
�
�
�
2�
�
	
�
��
��
��
�
#
	


�
�4
��
��
�
��


�
��
��
�
��
��
4
�


�
'�
��
�	
��
�
�
��
	
�
�
��
�
	
�
�
�


��
�

�

Document Pack Page 110



+
+
��
��
�
�
�
�

�� � � � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

�

.
�
��
	
��


��
�
��
�

.
-
/�
�
��
��
�
�

�

Document Pack Page 111



+
�
��
��
�
�
�
�

�0


�


�
��
�
��
�
�
�0

�
�
�
��
��

D
��
�

�
��


�#
	
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
�
'�
�

��
�
�
�
��
��
��
��
	
�
#
�
��


�
��
�
�
�


�
�
�	


��
��
��
��
�
�
��


�
	
�
�
2�
�


�
��

�


�
��
�
�
��
�


��
�'
�

�
��
��
�
�'
'�
�
�
��
��
	
��

�


�
�
�
��
�
�
��
�

'�


�


�
�
�

�
��
�
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�	
'�
&
	
��
��


�
��
�
�
.�

•
7
�
��
�

�
�:
�

�


�
��
��
*
&
�
��


�
�
�
�E
�"
��
�

�
�#
�
	
#
��
��
�
�
��
�
��
��
��
	
��
�
�
�
��
�
�
#
	


�
�4
��
��
�
�'
	
��
��
�
��
�	
&


�'
�

�


�
�
�
��


�
��


�
�
��
��


�
��
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
	
�
��
	
'�

4
	
��
	
&
�

�
��

	


�
�
2�
�
	
&
��
	
��
�
�
��
&
��
�
��
��
�
��
	
��
��


�
�#
��




�

�
�'
	
��
��
�
�'
�
��
��
��
�
��


�
�
��
�
4
��
��


��
�
�#
�

�
�#
�
	
#
��
��
	
��
�
	
��
��


�
?	
��
�
�


�
�
�
�

�
�
4
�

��
�

•
/
�
�
�
�	
#
�
�


��
	
'�
*
��
��
�
��
�@


�	


�E
��
��
�
��
�@


�	


�
�	
''
�
��
�


��
��
�
�

�
��
�
�
��


�
��
�
�
�
#
�
��
�
	
�
��
�
�	
'�
'�


�


�
�
��
�
�


�#
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
��
'�


�


�
�
�

�
	
�
#
�


��
�
��


�
��
��
�
�
�
��
�	
�


��
�
�
��
�
2�
�
�


�
�	
'�
&
�
	
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
6
��
�
�
�
��
��
��
�
��
�
�
�
��
�	
'�
�

��
��
�
�

��
�

•
7
�
�
�
�
�

�
�/
�
�
�


�
�
�E
��
�
��


�
��
��


��
�
�
�
��
�
��
�

�
�
�
��
	
��
�
�
�
�	
#
��


��


�
�
��
��


�
�

�
�	
'�
�
	
&
��
�
�
��
�&
	
��
�

�
�#
��
�
��
�
�
�
��
�


�#
��
�
�
��
�
�
�


�
�
�

	


�#
�
	
#
��
��
��
�

�
��


�#
	
�
�
��
�

�
��

�
�
��
�
��
��
��
�
��
	
&
�&
�
��
�
�
	
�
�
��
�
	


�
�
�&
�
��
��
�	
&
�
�
2�
	
��
�
	
&
��
�
�
	
	
��
��
�
�
�'
	
��
�
	


�
�
�'
	
��
�
�
�
	
	
��
��
�#
�
2�
&
�
�



�
�
�
��
	
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
#
�
��


��


�
��
�
�
��
&
�	
'�
�
	
&
�&
�
��
��
�#
��
�
�

�
��
�
�
��
�


��
��


�
�
��
�
	
��
��
��
�
�
�

�
��

�
��
/�
�
��
�

,
�	
�
	
�
��
��
.
	
�
��
�
��
	
��
	
�
�%

�
�
�
�

�
�
	


�
�
�3
�
�
�
�
�E
��
��
�
��
	
��
�
#
�	
�
�
��
�
�
�'
�

�


�
��
��
�
��
�
�
��
	


�	
'�
��


�


��
��


�
��
�
�
��
�


��
�	
'�
�
�
��
��
��
��
��
�


�
�
�	
'�

�
#
#
�	
�
�
�
�
�
�4
�
��
�
��
4
��
�
�
�

�
��
��
	
�
�
��
�
�


��
�	
��
�
�
��
�
�
�'
�

�


�
��
��
�
6
�
��
�
�	


2�
�
��
�
��


�
�#
�
��
&
�
�
�
��


�	
�&
	
��
��


�
��
��
�

�

�
�'
	
��
��
�
��

	
�
��
��
	
��
��
�
�

�


�
��
�
�

�
��
4
��
��
�
�
��
�


��
2�
�
	




�
�
��


�
�#
�
	
#
��
��
	
�	
#
#
	
��
�


��
��
�
��
	
��
�
�

��
�
�
��
��
�
��
�
�
��
��
��
	
��
�
�
�
�
�
��
	
	
�
�5
	
4
�
2�
�
�
�
��


�
�4
�
�
��
#
��
�
��
�
�
2�
�
	
�
4
�

�

�
�

��
�
	
�
��
�
�
��
	
��
�
�
�
��
��
	
�
�
	


�#
�	
4
��
�
�
2�
�
�
�
�
�	
#
�

�
�

�
&
�#
�
��


�
��
�
�#
�
��


�
��
�
4
�
�
�
�

�
�'
�

�


�
��
��
�
6
�
��
�
�	


��


�
�&
	
��
��
�
�


�
�
�
��
�

�	
��
��
��
�
#
�
�
��
�

	
'�
��
�
�	
��
�


��
�
��
	



�



�
�
�
��
�
�
�#
�
	


�
�'
�
��
��
�&
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
�


�
��
�
�&
	
��
�

�
��


�#
�
��


�
��
�
�#
�&
��
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
	
��
�
�
�
�	
#
�#
�	
5�
�
��
��
�
�
��
4
�
��
�
�'
�

�


�
��
��
�

�
��
�
�	


2�
'�


�


�
��
��

�
�
#
�
4
��
��
�
��


�
��
�
#
#
	
��
��


��
�#
��
�
�

�
�
�
��
��


��
��
��
�
�
�&
��
��
#
�	
�
��
�
�	
#
#
	
��
�


��
��
�
�'
	
��
	


�
��

��
��
	


�#
�
	
#
��
�4
�
��
�
��
�
��
��
2�
�

�
��
�
�
�
��


	
&
��
�
�
�
��


�
�

�
	


'�
�
�


�
�
��
	
��

�


�
�
�
��
�
�
��
��

	


�
�
��

	
��
��
''
�
�
��
�
�
��

�
��
�
�
�#
�	
�
��
�
�
�
�&
��
��
�
3
�
�#
��
�
�
�
�
�
��
2�
�
	
�
��
�&
	
��
�
��
��


�
�	
��
�
��
�
�
�
��
��
�#
��
�
��
��
	


�
��
2�

�
�
�&
�
��
��
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
>�
�
�
#
�	
�
�
�
�
��
	
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
	


�
�
��

�


�
�
�
�
�


��
�
�
�
�
�	


�
��
�
�&
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
	
�
2�
�
�
�
�
�
2�
�
�&
�
4
�
��
�
��


�
��


��
��
�
��
�
�
��
��
��
�
��
�
	


��


�

�



�
�
�
� 
�
�
	
�
��
:
'
�6
�4
�
$
	
�9
�
�
�
�	
�
� 
�
�
�
�
�
�
�

�1


�
��
)
�
��
�
�
�&
�#
�	
�
��
�
�
��
��
��
�
�2
��
	


�
��
��


��
�


�
��
��


�
#
�
��


��
�
#
#
�	
�
�
�
��
	
��
�
4
��
�
	
��
�
�
��
	


�'
	
��

��
�
��
	
�


�
��
2�
�
�6
��
	
&


�;
	
�
�
�

�
��


�
��
��
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
�	
��
#
�
��


�
��

�
H
�
��
�
��
�
��
	
4
5�
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
	
��

�
�
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
	
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�
��

�
�


�
��
	
�#
�
�
��
	
�#
�
�
�

�


�
��
�
	
�
�
��


�
��
��
�
�
��
�?
�'
�
�
��
��
�
��


��
�


�
�

�
��
��
�
��
��
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
�
��
�
�#
��


�
��
�
#
#
	
��
��
�
�
�
�

�
�
�
��
	
�#
��
�
�


��
�

�
��
�
�
�

�
��
�
4
��
2�
#
�	
�
	
��
�

#
�
��
	


�
��
�
�
#
�
�
��
�
��


�
��
��
�
��
�4
�
��
�
��
��
'�
��
�
�


�
�
�

�
;
��
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
��
	


'�
��


�
�
�
�&
��
��
4
�
��


��
	
�
�
�
�
�
��
	
��
��
��
��
�
�
�

�
�
4
�
��
	
'�
�
�
�
�	
�
�
��
��


�

Document Pack Page 112



+
�
��
��
�
�
�
�

��
�


�
�

�
�

�
�
�
�&
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
��
��

�
��
�#
��
��
	
�
#
��
6
��
�
4
��
��


�
��

�
��
�#
��
��
	
�
#
��
6
��
�
�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�
��
	
�#
	
��
��
��
�
4
��
#
	
��
�
�
�&
��
��
�


�
�
��
��
��
��
�
��
�


�
�

�
	


�
��
��


��
�
#
#
�	
�
�
�
��
	
��
	
�#
	
��
��
��
�
4
��
�


�
��

�
�
�
��
�
��
�&
�
��
��
�&
	
��
�

�
��
	
�
�
��
�
��
�	
��
�
#
#
	
��
�	
�
��
�
	
�
��
�
�
�

�
��
4
��

�

 
�


�
��
�;
	
��
	
�)
�
�
!

�
��
�&
��

�
��
�
�
	
�


��
�
��
	
&
��
�
�
�&
�
�'
�
��
��
�
'	
��

�&
��
��
�
�
�
�
��
�

�
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
#
�
�
��
	


��

�


�
�	
'�
	
�
��
�
	
�
��
�
�
#
��
�
�
�
�'
�
�
��
��
�
��


�
�

�

�
��
��
�
�
��
�&
��
�
�

��
�
�
�4
	
�	
�
�
�

�
-
�


�
�	
'�
��
�
�
�
�'
�
�
�

�
��
�
�
�4
��
�
�
�
��
��
#
�
�
��
�
��
�	
'�
�


��
6
�
��
�
�
�
�'
�	
�
��
''
	
��
�
4
��
��
�


�
�

�
�'
�
�
��
��
��
�
��


�
��
��
�
�
�
��


�
�

�	
��
�
�
��
&
��
�
��
�
4
��

�
�

�	
��
�
��
�	
�#
��
�
�


��
'�
��
�
�
��
�
�
#
��
�
�
��
	


��
��
��
��
�
�
�


��
�
��
��
�
��
�
��
�#
�
	
#
��
��


��
�
�
�4
	
�	
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
��
	
��
''
	
��
�
4
��
��
�


�
�

�
�

'�
�
��
��
��
�
��


�
��


�
��
�
�
�
�'
�

�


�
��
��
�
�
#
�
�
��
�

�
�
�
��
��
	
�


�
��
��


�
��
�6
��
	
&


��
	
�
�
�

�
��
�
�
�
��
	


�
��
��
��


�'
��
�


��
�
�
	
�


��
	
'�
5	
�

��
&
	
��
�&
�
��
�
��
�
�
�4
�
�


�

'�
��
�
��
�
#
#
	
��
�
�
�4
�
�	
��
�
��
#
�
��


�
��

�
�
�
��
�
�
�
�

	
&
��
�
�
�
�
�
�
'�
��
�
��
6
#
�	
��
�
��
�
�
�#
	
��


��
�
��
�


�
��
�
�

�
�
��
#
#
�	
�
�
��
'	
��
�
��
��
�
��
�@


�	


��
	
�4
�
�

�
�
��
4
��
�
�
�
�
�&
��
�
�

��
�
�
�4
	
�	
�
�
�
�	
'�
�
�
��
2�
�

�	
��
�
��
�	
��
�
#
#
	
��
�	
�
��
�
	
�
��
�
�
�

�
��
4
��
��


�
��
�
�#
�#
��
�
�


��
'�
��
�
�
��
�
�
#
��
�
�
��
	



�

*
��
�
�
�
�
�
�

�%

�
�
�
��
�'
��
�
�

�
�
�&
�&
	
��
�

�
��
�	
�
�
��
�&
��
�
�	
��
�
��
�
�
�


�
��
�
2�
&
�
�#
�
4
��
�
�
�
�
��
��
��
�
��
�
�
��


��
,
+
+
�&
�
��
�
��
�
��
�	
�
��
�
	
&
��
�
�
��
''
	
��
�
4
��
�

&
�
��

��
�#
�
��


�
��
�
�#
��
��
�
��
	
��
�
�
�
��
�'
�
�
��
#
	
�
�
��
�
��


�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
�


��
��
	
��
�
�
��
�
�
��
''
	
��
�
4
��
�&
�
��

��

�
��
�
�
��

�
�

�'
	
�
�
�
��
�
��
	
��
�
#
�	
�
�
��
�
�
�

�


�
��
�
��
''
��
��


�
�
�	
'�
�
	
�
�
�
2�
�
�
6
��
��
�
��
	
�
�
�
�
	
��
�
��
�

�
	
�
�
2�
��
�
�
�
�
��


�
��
�
��
	


�
�
�
#
��
	


��


�
2�
&
�
�
��
�#
	
�
�
�4
��
2�
�
�
�#
��
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
	
�
��
	
'�

�


�
��
�
��
	
��
�
�
��
	


�
�
�
�
�

��
�
�
�
�
�
��
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
�


��
�&
�
�


��
��
�
	
�
�
�
��
	
��
�
�
�
�
�

�
��
�
	


	
�
��
��


�
��
�
�
��
�
��


�
3
�
�
��
��
�
�
�&
��
�
�

��
�
�
��
	
�	
�
�
�

�

4
�
�
�
�	
�
�'
��
	
�
�
�
�
�
�&
�&
	
��
��


�#
�
��


�
��
�
�#
�&
��
�
��
�
�
�H
''
��
�
�	
'�
:
�
��
��
��
�
�

�
��
	
��


�
�
��
�'
��
��


�
�#
�	
#
�
��
#
�
��
	


�
��
��
��
��
�


�
�
�
��


�
��
	
�
#
�
��


��
�	
�

	
''
�
��
'�


�


�
�
2�
#
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
��


��
�
�
��
	
�
�
��
	
��
�
�
��
�
��
��
�
��
��

�
��
�
�

��
�
�
�
��
��
	
��

	


��
	
��
'�


�


�
�
�#
�	
�
��
�
��
��
	
��


�
�
��
��
�
�
�
��
��
�
�
�


��
2�
�
�
��
�
�
�


��
�

�


�
�'
�

�


�
��
��
�

'	
��

�
��
	


��
�
��
	
�
#
��
�


��
�


�
��
��
��
'�
�

��
�
�
��
��
�
��
��
	
��
�
�
��
�	


�
��
�


'	
��
�
�
�


��
�
�
#
#
	
��
�4
�
��
�
��
�
�
�


��
'�
	
�
��
�
�
�C
��
��
�
�
��
-
	


�
�
�

D
�


�
�

�
��
�
�
�
>

�

Document Pack Page 113



+
�
��
��
�
�
�
�

��
�

��
��
�
��

�


��
��
�1
�
�
��
�

0


�
�
��


�
�	
�
��
��
�
��
�


��
��
��
��
�&
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
��


��
��
�
�
��
	
��


�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
��
&
�
��
�	
'�
�
�
�


�
�
�
��
	
��
�
�
��
�4
�


�
'�
��
�'
	
��
	
&
�

�
��
�
�
��

�
�'
�
��
�7
�
'	
��

�

&
��
��
4
�
��
�
�
��
	
��
�
#
�	
�
�

�
��
�
�
�3
�
�
��
��
�	
'�
��
'�
�'
	
��
��
	
�
�
��
�
�
��
�


��
�&
�
	
��
��
�4
�


�
'�
�1
�
�
#
�


�
�


�

��
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�	
'�
&
	
��
��


�
��
�
�
.�

•
�
	
�
��
��
�
��
�
�
�
�@
#
��
�
�
#
�
��


�E
��
��
�
�
�
��


�
�#
��
�
�
��
��
��
�
�
�4
�
��
��
��
�'
	
��
�
	
�
�
�	
'�
	
�
��
��
�
��
�


��
2�
&
�
	
��

�
�
��
�
�
�4
�


�
'�
��
��
�
�C
��
�
�

�
��
�
�
��
��
>�

	
��
��
	
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
	
�

	
��
&
�


��
�	
�4
�
��
�
�


��
�
�C
�
�
�	
�


�
�
��

>
��
�
�
��
�
��
�
6
��
��


�
��
�
��
��
�
�
2�
'	
��
�
6
�
�
#
��
��
�
�
��
	
�


�
��
>�
��
�


�
'�
��
��
�
��
��
�
2�
�
��
�
�
�
�
�

�


�
�
��
�
�
�
��
#
�
�
�'
��
��
�
�
�
1�
#
��
�
�
#
�
��


�
2�
�
�5
	
�

�
�
1�
#
��
#
#
�	
�
�
�
��
�
�	
�
�
�#
�
��


�
��
��
	
�
��
�&
��
�


��
�
�
��
�
#
�
�
��
	
'�
��
��
�&
	
��

�
��

•
-
�
�
�
��
��
�
��
#
��
�E
��
�
�
�4
�


�
'�
��
��
�
�
��
�
��
�
�

	
�	
��
	
�
�
��
��
	


'�
�
�

�
��


�
�&
��
��
�
	


��


�
�
��
	
��
��
�
��
��
	


'�
�
�	


�&
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
#
�
�
��
	
'�
�
�
�'
�
��
�

7
�
'	
��


�
�
�
��
�
��
�
�	


�
1�
�	
#
��
�
	
#
��

�
�
�

	
��
4
�
��
�
�
��


�
&
�
�2
�'
	
��
�
�
�
��
	


�
��
�
�
��
��
�
��
�
�
	
�


��
�	


��
�
�
��
#
�
	
#
��
��
�
	
�
��
�

	
��
�
�
�
�
��
	
�'
�

�
��
�&
�
�
�

��
�	
�
�
�
��
��

�
N
�
�	
'�
�
�
�


�
��
�
2�
'	
��

�
��


�
�#
�	
�	
�
	
��

�
��
�
��
��
	
�
��
�4
�
��
	


�
��
�
�	
�
�
�
��
�4
�


�
'�
��
�#
��
�
��
��
	


�
��
'	
��
�
��
	
�#
�	
�
��
�
��

	
��
�

�
��
#
��
'�
�
�
�	
��
5	
�

�
�
1�
#
��
#
#
�	
�
�
�
�
�

�

�
��
/�
�
��
�

 
�
�
��
�


�
�'
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
	
�
� 
�
��


�
��
�
	
�
�&
�&
	
��
�
�&
��
�
�	
�
�
��
+
)
2,
,
,
�	
'�
��
�
��

	
�
��
�
�
�

�
��
4
��
��
�
�
��
�


��
�	
'�
��
�
�4
	
�	
�
�
�
��


�
��
�
��
�
��
�


��
�
�

��
�
#
	


�
�4
��
�'
	
��
#
�
�
�

�
�	
�
��
�
	
��
��
�
�


�I
!
)
��

��
��
	


�#
�
��
�




�
�
��


�;
	
�
�
�

�
��


�
��
	
�


�
��
��
�
6
��
�
#
#
	
��

�
�
	
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
�

	
�#
��
�
�
��


��
�
��
�
�

�
��


�
�

�
�
�
��
�

�
4
��
��
	
�
�
�


��
��
�
2�
�


�
��
	
��
�
�
�
��


�
�4
�


�
'�
��
��
�
�
1�
#
��
�
�	
�
�
�
��
�
�
�#
�	
�
	
��
	


�	
'�
4
�


�
'�
��
2�
�


�
��
�
�	
�
�
�
�#
�	
�
��
�

�
��
�
�
��
��


�
�
��


��
��
��
�

�
�

4
�


�
'�
��
�&
�
�
��
�

�
�
�
�
�
2�
�
��
��
�
�
�	
4
5�
�
��
�
�
�
�	
'�
��
�
��
�
��
��
�

�
�
�
��


�
�
�
�
	
�
��
�	
�#
��
�
�


��
�
��
	
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
�	
�
�
��
'	
�
�
�
�
�
��
#
#
�	
�
�
�
��
	
�4
�


�
'�
��
��
�
�
1

�
#

�

�
�
�
�
��
9
�
�
�
�	
�
�*
��
�
$
�
	
�


�'
�
�


�


�&
��
�
�
��
��
��
�
��
	
��
�
�#
��
�
�
�	
�
�
��
�&
�
	
��
�
�
�
�4
�
�


��
��
�
�
�
�


��
�
�
�
�4
�
��
�
�
��
�
�


�
�
�
��


�D
	
�
�
��
;
	
�
�
�

�
�

*
��
	
&
�


�
�
��
�

�
�
�*
#
��
��
�
,
+
+

�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
#
�


�
�
��
��
�
�&
	
��
�

�
��
�
�	
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
�'
'�
��


��
	
#
��
	


�
.�
�
�
�
�
�
�

�
��
�
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
4
��
�4
�


�
'�
��
�
�
�
�4
�
�


�

�
&
�
��
�
�
��
�
�	
�
�
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
6
�
�
�

�
��
	


�	
'�
��
�
��
��
��
�


��
�#
�
�
��
�


�
��
�
��
�


��
�
�
�
��
�
�

�
�
�
�
2�
�
�
�
��
��


�
��


�

�
�
	
��
�
��
	


�
�4
�
�&
�
�


��
�


�


��
��


�
�

��


�
�	
��
�
�	
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
�	
'�
��


��
�


�
�#
�	
�
��
�

�
��
�
�
��
�
��


�
��
�
�#
�	


��

	
�
�

�
��
	
��
��
�
�

�
��
�
�
2�
�
''
	
��
�
4
��
�#
�	
#
�
��
�

�

� 

�
�
�
�1
��
��
��
��
 
��
�<


	
�
�*
�
�
��


�

�
�


�
�
�'
�
�
��
��
)
�
��
�
�
�&
��


�
�
�
�
	
�
��
��
	
��
�
�
�
��
��


'�
��
�#
	
��
�
��
�
��


�
�#
��
�
��
�
�
�
��
��
�
	
�
��
�

�
�
�
�
�#
	
��
�
�
��


�
	
��
�
�
�

�
	
��
�
�
��


�
��
�
��
�


�
�
�	
'�
��
�
�
�
�
2�
�
�
��
�

�
��


�
	
��
�
�
��


��
�
�
#
�
��


�&
	
��
��
��
��
�
��
�
�
�
2�
3
�
�
�
��
	




�
��
�
�
��


�
��
&
�
��


�
�
�
1�
�
��
�

�

�
�
�
��
��


'	
��

�
��
	


��

�
�
�

4
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
�


�
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
�


��
��
�4
��
�
'�


�
�
2�
4
�
��
�
�
�
��


��
�
#
	
��
�
�	
��
4
�
��
�
�
�
�4
�
��
�
�
�
��
�	
��
�4
	
�
��
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�H
''
��
�
�	
'�
�
	
�
�
�


��
�
��
	


�
�

8H
:
�
H
-
9�
�


�
��
�
�
�H
''
��
�
�	
'�
"
�
�
��


�
�0
��
�
��
��
��
�
�-
�
��
�
��
�8
H
:
"
0
-
9

�

Document Pack Page 114



+
 
��
��
�
�
�
�

�

�
�
�
�'
�
�
�
�
�
��
,
�
	
�
�E
��
	
�
�
��
�
�

�
��
�
#
#
	
��
�'
	
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
�


��
�


�
�#
�
	
#
��
�'
�
�
�

�
��
��
�
��

�
��
�
��
��
	
�


�
��
��
�
�
��
��
��
�
��
��
	


�
��
�'
�


�
��
	
��
�
�#
�#
�
	
#
��
��


�

�
6
�
�
#
��
	


�
��


�
�
�
��


�
�&
��
�
	
�
��
��
�
�'
�

�


�
��
��
�
�
�


�
��
	
�#
�	
�
��
�
�'
	
��
��
�
�
�
�
��
�
�

�
�
�
��
��
	
�
��
�4
�
��
��
�
	
��
1�
�
��

�

�
�
�
�4
�
�
�
�
�
�
�	
'�
�
��
��
�
��
�	
��

�
�
�
��
�


�
�
��
�
�
��
#
	
�
�
�
��


��
�
�
�
�
��
��
��


�
��
�
4
�
��


��
�
��
��
�
�
��
	
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
��


�
��
�
'�
��

�
*
��
	
��
�
�
�'
�


�
��
�
�#
�
��
	
��
�
#
#
	
��
��
�
�

�
��
4
��
�#
�
	
#
��
��
	
�

�
��
�
��


��
�
�
��
	
�
�
�


��
�
��
�
��
�
��
��
�


��


��
��


�
��
�
��
�	
��
��
	
�
�
�&
�
	
�

�
�
�
��
�
�#
��
	
��
�
��
�
#
��
�#
�
��

�


�


��
�
	
�
�
�&
�
�


��
�
�
�
�

�
��
�
�
#
	
��
��
�

�
�
�
	
�
�
	
�
�
��
	



�

;
	
�


�
��
�
�
�
�
�
	
�
�
��
	
�
�



	


��
��
 
�
�
�E
��
�
�
��
�
�
�	
�
�
��
�
�
#
#
	
��
��


�
��
	
��
�
�
��
	


�
��
�
#
�
��
�
�


��
�
�
�#
�
�#
�
	
#
��
�&
�
	
�'
�

�
��
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�&
	
��
�
�	
''
��
�
�

�
��
�
�
�
��
�	
'�
&
�
�'
�
��
��
�
'	
��

��
�
�


�
�
�

�
�
�
��
�&
	
��
��


�
��
�
�
�
��
�
#
#
	
��
�

�
��
�
�
�	
�
�
��
��
�
�	
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
�


�
�
�
2�
��
��
�

�
��
&
�
��


�
�
�
��


�
�&
	
��
�

�
��


�

#
�
��


�
��
�
�#
��
	
��

�
�
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
�	
�
�
�>
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
��
	
��
�
��
�
�


��
�
�
�
��
�
��


�
��
�
#
#
	
��
�&
�
�
��
�

�
�
�
�
�

�
��
�
��
��
�


��
�
�
�
��
�
�
�'
	
��

�	
'�
�
	


�
�
�

�
�


�
�
�
�
�


��
?�
�
�
4
��
�
�
�
��
�
2�
�
�
#
#
	
��
��


�	
�&
	
��
2�
	
��
�

��
��
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
��
�
�#
�'
�	
�
��
�
�
�/
��
�
��
��
	


�
��
�;
	
�
�
�

�
��
�
�
�
�


��
�
�
�
�
�
�

�
A
�
�
�	
�
��
	
�
�
�
�

&
��
��
�

�
��
�
�
�
�
�#
�
��
	


�
��
�
�
#
�
�
��
�
2�
��
�
�
�
�
�
��
��
�
��
	
�#
�
	
#
��
�'
�
��
�

�
��


�	
��
�
4
��
�


�
��
�
#
#
	
��
�

�
�#
�
	
#
��
��


�	
�&
	
��

�

%
�
�
�
�	
�
��
�
�


��


�
��
�
��
�
�
�
�

�,
�
�
�
�)
�
�


�
��
�1
�*
�
��
�
�
��
�
#
�
�
��
�	
'�
��
�
�&
�
�'
�
��
��
�
'	
��

��
	


��


�
�
��
	
��
�
#
�
�
��
�
�
�	
�
�
��
�
�
�4
	
�	
�
�
�
�&
�
��
�
�
�
�

��
�


��
'�
�
�
��


��


�
��
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�


�
�'
	
��
'	
	
�
��
�
	


�
�
��
	
�
��
�
	
�
��
�
�
�

�
��
4
��
�#
�
	
#
��

�
�
�
�	
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
��
�
#
#
	
��
�:
�


�
��
��
�
�
�
�4
�
�


��
�
��
4
��
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
��

&
��
�
�

��
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
��
��
�

�
�
4
�
��
	
'�
�
�
�

�
��
4
��
�'
�
�
��
��
�
��


�
��


�
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
''
�
��


�
�'
	
	
�
�#
	
�
�
��
�

�
��

�
��
�
�
�
�'
	
�


�
��
�
�
��
&
	
��
�

�
��
	
�
�
��
�
��
&
��
�
�

�
	
��
�
��
	
6
�
�
��


�
�	
��
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
#
�	
�
�
�
��
�
�
�	
�
�
��
��
�#
�
�
�
�
�
�
�	
'�
�
�
�#
�&
�
��
�


�	
''
�
��
�	
��
�
�
��

	
�
��
�
�
�

�
��
4
��
��


�
��
�
	
�
�
��


�

�
�
�

�

:
	
	
�
�#
�
��
�
��
��
��
�'
�
�
��
4
�
�
	
�
�

�
�#
�
��
�	
'�
�
��
�
�
��
��
��
�
�
#
#
	
��
��
�
�
��
�
��
	
��
�
�#
��
�
�
��
��
�	


�
�
��
��
��

��
	
��
��
	


�
��


�
�&
�
��
��
��
�	
�
�
��
��

	


��
	
��


�
��
�
�
�

��
�
�
��
#
��


�
��


�
��
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�


�
�'
	
��
'	
	
�
�#
�
��
�
��
�&
��
�
��
�
�
�	


�
�
��
	
'�
@


��
�
��
�
��
�
��
�
��

�

Document Pack Page 115



+
!
��
��
�
�
�
�

��
�
� 
��

�
� 
�
�

:
	
��
��
	
�
�
�#
�
	
#
��
�&
�
	
��
��
��
4
��
2�
��
�
�

�
��
#
�&
	
��
��
�
�&
��
�
��
��
�
�
	
�


��
�
�
��
�
�4
	
��
��
�
�
�3
�
��
�
�
�
��
�	
�
��
�	
�
��
	
'�
#
	
�
�
��
�
��


�
��


��
''
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
'�
�
�
�
��
�

�
�
�
�

�
��
�


��
��


�
�#
	
�
�
��
�

�
��
�
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�	
'�
&
	
��
��


�
��
�
�
.�

•
�
	
��
�0
6
#
�
��
�


�
�
��


�
�L
	
��


��
�
��


�
�H
#
#
	
��
�


��
��
�
�E
�	
''
�
��


�
�#
�
	
#
��
��
�
�
�	
#
#
	
��
�


��
�
��
	
�4
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
��
	


'�
�
�


�
�
��


�
��
�
��
��
�4
�
�

�
	
��


��
�
��


�
��
�
��
��
�
�
	
�


��
�
�
��
	
�
��
��
	
�'
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�

�

�
��


�
�&
	
��

�
�
	
��
��
6
#
�
��
�


�
�
�#
�	
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�	
#
#
	
��
�


��
�
��
	
��
�
�
�
�	
#
��
�
��
��
2�
4
�
��
�
�

�
	


'�
�
�


�
�
��


�
��
�
�

��
�'
	
	
��
	
��
��


��
�
�
�&
	
��
�
�	
'�
&
	
��

�
D
�4
��
��
�
�
�	
''
�
��
�
�
#
#
	
��
��
�
�	
�
�
�
�&
	
��
��
��
4
�
��


�
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
�'
	
��
5	
4
��
�
�
�
�
��

�
�

•
�
�
��
��
��
��
	
��
��
�

�

�
�E
�&
�
��


	
&
��
�
�
��
#
�
	
#
��
�'
�
�
�
��
��
�


�
�
�	
'�
4
�
��
��
��
��
	
��
�
�
�

�
��
#
��
��
�

�

�
�	
#
#
	
��
�


��
��
�

�
�=
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
6
#
�
��
�


�
�
�
��


�

�
�
�
�
�
��
	


2�
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
��
�'
'�
�
�
��
��
�
��


�
��
�
�
�
�	
'�
�
	


'�
�
�


�
�
��
�
�
�
�4
�
�


��
�
�


��
'�
�
�

�
��
��
�

�

�
�#
�	
�
��
�
��
��


��
�
��
��
��
�
�
�
�
�	
''
�
��
�
��
�


�
�
�	
'�
C'
��
�
��

�
��
#
�
>�
�
	
�
��
�
�
2�
�
�


�
��


�	
�
��
�
�
�
�
��
	
�
�
��
	


�
2�
4
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
��
�

�
�
�
��
	
��


�
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
�4
�
��
��
��
��
	
��
��
�

�

�
��
��
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
�

�
�

•
7
�
��
�

�
��
�
��
��
D
�
�
�
��
�E
��
�
��
��
��


�
�3
�
�
��
'�
�
�
��
	


�
��
��
��
�#
�
�
�
#
	
��
��
	
��
�
#
�	
�
�
�


��
�


�
�4
�
��
�
��
5	
4
�#
�	
�
#
�
�
��

�
�
�
�
��
��
��
	
�


�
�#
�
��
	


�	
��

�
�
�
��
��
�
��


��
�
�

�
�
��


�
��


3
�
�
��
'�
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
��
��
	
�
�
�
�
��


�#
	
�
�
��
�

�
�
�
��


	
&
��
�
�
��
�'
�#
�
	
#
��
��
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
��
�

�
�
�
�
�
��


��
�
�
��
�
��
�


��
��
4
	
�
��

�
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
�
�

�

�
�#
	
��


��
�
�

��

�
�

�
�
�
��
	
�

�
��
	
&
��
�
�
��
�
#
�'
	
��
��
	
�
�
�&
�
	
��
��
��
��
�
�
�
�


��
�
�
�
��


�	
�
��
�
	
�
�
�


��
��
�
��


�
�

��
��
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
��
��
��
�
�
�
��
��
��
��
�
�
��
�
��


�
��
4
	
�
�
��
	
��
�
�
��
�	
�
�
��
#
�
	
#
��
��
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
�


�
�
��
	
��


�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
	


	
�
��
�&
�
��
14
�
�

�

�

•
�

�
��
�
�
�

�
��

�
�
�
�D
�
�
�
��
�E
�&
	
��
�

�
�
�
�
��
	
�4
�
��
��
�
�
��
#
�
��
��
'�
��
��
�
��
	
�#
�	
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
�

�
4
��
��
	
�
��
�	
�
��
	
'�
#
	
�
�
��
�

�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
�	
#
�
�


��
	
'�

4
�
��
�
�1
3
�
�
��
��
�5
	
4
�
��


��
�
�
�4
	
�	
�
�
�
�&
��
��
4
�
��
�
�
��
	
��


�
�
��


�
��
�
�
��
�


��
��
�
�
�
��
�
�
�	
#
#
	
��
�


��
�
��
	
��
�
�
�
#
�
�#
	
�
�
��
�

�

�
��
/�
�
��
�

9


�
��
�
��
	
�
�%



��
�


�	
�
�

�
�
�
�
�&
�7
�
#
��
�
�


��
��
�
�
�
�'
�	
�
��
�
�	
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
��
	
�
�
�


��
�
��
�
�
�
��
	
�
�
��
	
�
�
��
�
��
�	
�'
	
��

��
�
�
��
�
�
�
	
&
�;
�
�
��
�
��


�
�

�
�
��
4
�
�

�
��
	
�
��
��
	
��
�
#
#
	
��
��


�
��


�
	
�
��
�
�
�#
�
��


�
��
�
�#
��
��
�


�
�
�
�


��
�'
	
��
�
�
�
��
�
��


�
��
	
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
�

�
�
�
�
�4
	
�
��
�&
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
	


�

'	
��
��
�
�'
�
��
��
��
�
�
��


��


�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�	
'�
�	
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
2�
�
	
�
��
��
�
�
��
��


�
�#
�
4
��
�
��
�
�
��
�

�
�
�
�
��
�
�


�
�
��


�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
��


�
�&
�
��
4
�
�

�
�	
'�

�
�
�
��
�
2�
�
�
��
�
��


��


�
�'
�
�
��
��
�
2�
�
�
�&
�
��
��
�
�&
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
��
��
#
�
�
��
	


��
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
��
	
�
�
�

�
2�
�
�
�
�
�
��
	


��


�
��
�
�
��


�
��
	


�
�


�

�



�
�
�
�(
�
�
��
�
�


	
��
�
	
�
�'
�
��
��
�)
��
	
�&
��
	
��
�
�
�
�
�
��


�
3
�
�
��
��
�
�
��


��
�
��
�4
�
��
�
#
�	
�
�

�
��
�
#
�	
�
�
�


��
��
��
�
��


�
��
�
�
�3
�
�
��
��
�	
'�
�
�
#
�	
�
�
�


��

�
�
�
��
�
4
��

�
�
�
�
�#
��
	
��
��
�
�
��
��
��
	
��
�
#
�	
�
�
��


��
��
��
�


�
�
�4
�
��
�
�
��


�
��


�
��
	
1	
��
�

�
��


�
��
��
�


�
�
�	
'�
��
4
	
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
�

'	
��

�
��
	


��
�
��
�4
�
�#
�
��


�
��
2�

�
�
�
�

�
��
��
#
	
�
�
�4
��
�'
	
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
�


��
��
��
�

�
��


��
�
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
�	
��
'�
�
�

�
��
#
�
�
�'
��
��
��
�
�
�
�


��
�
�
�
��


�
�4
�
��
��
��
��
	
�'
�

�
�&
	
��
��


�
��


�
�
�
�

�
�&
��
�
��
	
�
�
��

�
�
#
�	
�
�
��
��
	
��


�
	
�
��
�
�
��


�
��
�
#
#
	
��
�&
	
��
'	
��
�
��
�
�
�
�	
#
�
�


�2
��
��
�
��
�'
�
��
�
�
��
�&
	
��
'	
��
�
�
��


�
��
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
��
��
�
	
��
�
�
�
�

�

�

Document Pack Page 116



+
$
��
��
�
�
�
�

�(
�
�
	
�
�
��
�1


�


��
�
�


	
��
'
��
�
�

�
�
�&
��
�
�
��
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
�	
�
��
�	
��
��
�
��
��
	


�
1�
�
��

2�
�
�
�
��
�

�
4
��
��


�
��
	
�
#
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
	


	
�
��
��
�	
&
��
��


��
�
�
�

4
	
�	
�
�
�

�
A
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
��
��
�
��
��
�

��
�
�
��
�
�

�
��
�
��
��
��
��


�
	
�
��
�
�

�
��
�
��
��
��
�
�
�
�	
#
�
�


��
�	
��
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
>�
��


�
�"
-
>�
��
�
	


	
�
��
�

�
�
�
�
�

�


�
��
��
��
�
��


�
��


�
��
�
��
�

�

�
��
�
��


�

��
�
�
�
��
�
��
�#
�
��


�
��
�&
��
��
�
	
��
�
��
�4
�
�&
	
��
�

�
��
	
�
�
��
�
��
�

��


�
�
��


�
��
�
�
��
�


��
��
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
��
	
��
��
�
�3
�
�
��
��
�

�
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
��


�
��
�
��
�


�
�
2�
�

�
��
�
�
�

�
��
�
�
��
	
��
�
�
�	
'�
&
	
��
��
6
#
�
��
�


�
�
�	
#
#
	
��
�


��
��
�
2�
�
''
�
�
��
�
�
�#
�
��


�
��
�
�#
�&
	
��
�

�
��


�
�&
	
��
�

�
�&
��
�
�

�
�
#
�	
�
�
��
��
	
��


�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
�	
'�
��
�
��
�&
	
��
'	
��
�

�



�
�
�
��
�
��
	
�



�
� 


	
��


�&
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
�	
��
*
�
�


�
�
�8
�
�
�
/
*
9�
�
��
�
��
	
�#
�	
�
	
��
��
	
��


��
�
��


�
��


��
�
��
�4
�
��
�
�#
�

�
�#
�
	
#
��
��
	
��
�
��
�

�
	
��
�
�
��


�

�	
�
�
��
	
#
#
	
��
�


��
��
�
��


�
�4
�
��
�
#
#
	
��
�

�
�	
��
�


��
�
��
	


�
�'
�	
�
��
��
��
�
�
�	
��
��
�
�
��
�

�
	
��
�
��
	
��


��
�
��

�
�
�
��
��
��
��

�
�
4
�
��
	
'�
L
	
��


��
�
��


�
�0


�
��


�
�

�


�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
�L
	
��


��
�
��
0


�
��


�
�O
�
�
��
��
�*
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
	


�'
	
��
��
�
�&
	
��
�&
�
��
	

�
�
�
�#
�	
�
	
��
��
�
�
�4
�


�
'�
��
�	
'�
�
	
��


��
�
��


�
F�
#
�	
�
	
��
�

�
	
��


��
�
��


�
�	
#
#
	
��
�


��
��
�
2�
	


�4
�
�
�
�'
�	
'�
�	
�
�
��
	
��
�


��
�
��
	


�
�#
�	
�
��
�
��


'	
��

�
��
	


��
4
	
�
��
�


�
��
��


#
	
�
��
#
	
��


��
�
��
�
	
��


��
�
��
��
	
��
	
�
�
��

	
#
#
	
��
�


��
��
�
��


�
��
�
#
#
	
��
�	
��
�


��
�
��
	


�
��
�
�
��
�

�
	
��
�
��
	
��


��
�
��
�4
�
�#
�	
�
��
�

�
��
�
�
��
�
2�
�

'	
��

�
��
	


��


�
��
��
�

�

�
�	


��
	
	
�
�#
��
�
��
�
�
�&
�
�


�

&
	
��
�

�
�&
��
�
��
	
��


��
�
��

�



�
�
�
�*
�
�
��
��


�
�
	
�	
�
�'


�
�
��


�&
�	
''
�
��
��
��
�


�
�
�	
'�
��
�
�

�

�
�	
#
#
	
��
�


��
��
�
��
�
�
��


�
�
��
	
��
�
�
��
��
#
�
	
#
��
��
	
��
�
�
�
�	
#
��
�
�
��


�
�
�#
�



�

�
��
�
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
�
#
#
	
��
��


��
�
��


�	
�'
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�

�

�
��


�
��
�
#
�	
�
�
�


�

��
	
�
��
�
�
��


��
��
�
��
�
�
2�


�
�
�
��
�
�
2�
0


�
��
�
�
�'
	
��
�
#
�
�
�
�
��
�	
'�
H
��
�
��
D
�


�
�
�
�
�
�
�8
0
�
H
D
9�
�


�
�

��
�3
�
�
��
'�
�
�
��
	


�
��
��
�	
''
�
��
�
��
�	


�
�&
��
�
��
��
�


�
�
�	
'�
�
	
�
��
�
�
�	
''
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
#
�
�
�'
��
�
��
�
��
��
��
�
�

�
��
�&
��
�
��
�
�
��
�	


�
��


�
�
�
�
��
	
��
�
#
#
	
��
�

�
�
#
�	
�
�
4
��
��
�
��

�

�
0


��
�#
��
�
�
��
�
��
��
2�
�
	
�
�
�


��
�
��
	


�'
	
��
D
�'
�
��


�
��

	
��

�



�
�
�
� 
�
�
�
�
	
��
�
��


�
�
	
�	
�
�)
�
�
�	


�
�
�
��
�&
�4
��


�
�
��
	
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
�
�#
�	
�
��
�
��
�	
'�
�
�
�
��
��
�
�
�

�

�
��
	
��
�
�
�
�	
#
��
��
	
��
�
4
	
��
��
�
�
��
#
#
�	
�
�
�
��
	
�

�
�
#
#
	
��
��
�
�
�#
��




�

�
��


�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�	
'�
�

'	
��

�
��
�
�
�
��
��
�
�
�

�

�

�
��
�#
�	
�
	
��
�
�#
�
��
	


�
��
�
�
�
�
�	
#
�
�


�2
�'
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
�

�

�
��


�
��
�
�
�

�

�
�&
�
��
�
��
�
�#
�
�

�	
��
��
�


�
��
�


��
	
�
�
�


��
��
�

�
�
�
�
�&
	
��
�'
	
�
�
�
�
�
�'
�


�
�

�
�	


�#
�
	
#
��
�&
�
	
��
��
��
��
�
�
�
�


��
�
�
�
��


�
��
�
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
	
�#
�
��
��
�#
�
��
��


��
�
�
�

�

�
2�

��
#
�	
�
�
�
��
	


'�
�
�


�
�
��


�
�&
�
��
14
�
�

�
2�
�


�
��
�
�
�
�	
#
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
��
��
	
��
�
#
#
	
��
��
�
#
�	
�
�
4
��
��
�
��


�
��
�
#
#
	
��
�

�
�#
�	
�
��
�
�
�	


��


�	
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
��

��
�
�

�

�

�
�

'
�
�
�
��
�
	
�
�)
�
�
�
��
�
��
*
�
��
�
��
�
�'


�
�
��


�)
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
	
�



�
�
�&
��
�
�#
�&
��
�
��
	
��
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
��
�
2�
�
�
�


��
��


�
��
�
��
�
��
��
�
�'
	
��
�
	
�


�
�#
�
	
#
��

�

L
	
��


��
�
��
��
�


��
�
�

��
��
�
��
�
��
	
��
	
��
	
&
�
��
�
�#
�
�
�
�


��
'	
��
�
�
�
�


��
�
��
�


�
��
�
�
��
�
4
��
�3
�
�
��
'�
�
�
��
	


�
��
	
�4
�
�
	
�
�
��
��
#
	
��
�
��
	
�
�
�
�	
��
�
�
�
��
��


�

�

L
	
��


��
�
��
��
��
	
��
�
��
�

�
	
��
�
�
��


��
�
��
�
��
�
�
�


��
��
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
�7
�
�
�
4
	
��
	
�
�:
�
�
��
�
�
��
�


�
��
�
��
�D
��
�
��
=
��
�
�

�

� � �

Document Pack Page 117



+
%
��
��
�
�
�
�

��
��


 
��
�
��
�
�
��
��
��
�

�
�
	
#
��
�&
�
	
��
��
�4
	
�

��


�	
�#
	
�
�
��
�
��
��
��
	
	
�	
'�
�


��
��
�
��


�#
	
�
�
��
�
��
�
�	
�
�
�
	
�
��
��
�
��
��
��
�
�

�
�7
�
��
�

�
��
�
#
��
�
��
	


�
��


�
��
6
#
�
�
��
��
	


�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
�

��
#
	
��
�


��
�

��
�
�#
�

�
�#
�
	
#
��
��
�
��
	
�
��
	
'�
#
	
�
�
��
�

�
�
�
�
	
	
��
��


�
��
	
��
�
�
�
�
��
��
	
��
�
�
�
��
��
��
�
��
�	
��
��


��


�
�
��


�
�	
�
��
�
�
��
�
��


��


�
��
	
�


�
�#
�
	
#
��
�

�
�
�
�
�	
#
��
�
#
��
�
��
	


�
��


�
��
6
#
�
�
��
��
	


�
��
	
�4
�
��
��
��
�
�
�
��
�


�4
�

�
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�	
'�
&
	
��
��


�
��
�
�
.�
�

•
�
	
�
��
��
�
��

	
��
�0
6
#
�
��
�


�
�
�H
#
#
	
��
�


��
��
�
�E
��

	
��
��
6
#
�
��
�


�
�
��
�


�#
�	
�
��
�
��
	
�


�
�#
�
	
#
��
�&
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
�


�
�
��
��


�
�

�
�	
'�
��
�
�&
	
��
�
�	
'�

&
	
��
2�
��
�
��
	
�
��
��
4
�


�
'�
��
2�
�


�
��
�


�
�
�	
'�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
�


��
�


�
��
�
��
�
'�
�
��
	


��
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
�
�'
�	
�
��
�
�

�

�
��
�
�
��

	


�
�
��


��
	
�
��
#
	
�
�
�
�

��
*
��
��
	
	
�

	
'�
�


��
�
�
��
6
#
�
��
�


�
�
��
�


�4
�
��

�


�
�


�
2�
�


'�
�'
��
��


�
��


�
��


�

�
#
��
�

�

�
�"
	
	
�
�&
	
��
��
6
#
�
��
�


�
�
��
�
��
��
#
��


�
�4
	
�
��
��
	
�#
�
��

�


�


��

�
�
#
�	
�
�
�


��
�


�
��
�


�#
�	
�
��
�
��
�
�
��

	
��
�
�
��
	


�'
	
��
�
��
	
�


�
�#
�
��
	


��
	
��
	


��


�
�
��
	
��
�
�
�

�	
��
��
�
�


�
�
�
�

�
�
�
��
	
��
�
1�


�
�
�
�
�&
��
�
��
�
�
	
	
��
��
	
�

#
�	
�
	
��
�&
	
��
��
6
#
�
��
�


�
�
��


�
��


�
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
�
��
#
�	
�
��
�
�
�	


��


�	
��
#
#
��


��
�
�
�
�
�#
�
�&
�
��
�
�&
��
��
#
�	
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
��
�

�
�
�
�
�
��
	
�

�

�
��
�
�
�
��
��
	
�


�
�#
�
��
	


>�
��
�
�

�

�
�#
	
��


��
�
��
�

��
�
�
��
�
4
	
�
��
�
�
��
�
�

�

•
7
�
��
�
�


��
7
	
��
�-
	
�
�
��
�E
��
�
�
�
�
�&
�
��
��
�
�


��
'�
�
�
��
�
��
��
	
	
�
�&
�
�
��
	
��
�
�
��
�


�
�
��
�
�
�

	
��

�
��
�
�
��
�
6
��
��
&
��
�
�

��
	
�
�
�


��
��
�

�
�@
�
�

�
�#
�
	
�	
�
�

�


�
��
�
�
�
��
��
�
��
�
��


��
�
�
	
	
��
2�
�
#
	
��
�
��


�
��
	
�
�
�


��
�
��
�


��
�
�
��
�


��
�
�#
��
	
��
�
��
�
�4
	
��
��
�
#
��
�
��
	


�
��


�
��
6
#
�
�
��
��
	


�
�	
'�
�
	
�


�
�#
�
	
#
��

�
�

��
�


��
'�
�

�
��
	
��


��
�
��
�'
�	
�
��
��
�


�
�
�	
'�
4
�
�
�
�
�	
�


�
�
��


�
��
�
��
�
��
�&
�
	
�&
	
�
��
�4
�
�&
��
��


�
��
	
��
�
��
��
	
��
�
��
�
��


��


�
��
	
�


�
�#
�
	
#
��
��
4
	
�
��

��
�
��
�5
	
4
�
�&
	
�
��
��
��
	
��
�
�#
��
	
��
�
��
�
��
&
�
��


�
�
�
�	
'�
�
�
��
�
��
	
#
#
	
��
�


��
��
�

�
��

•
�
#
	
��
�

�
��
�
��
�
��
��
�
�E
�/
�
��
�'
�	
�
�

�
��
	


�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
��


�
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
��


��


�
��
	
�


�
�#
�
	
#
��
��
��
�

�
��


��
�
#
��
�
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
��
�
�
�
��
��
�
��
��
	
�

#
�
��
��
�#
�
��
��


��
#
	
��

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
��
	
�&
	
��
�&
��
�
�#
�
��


�
��
��
	
�	
�
�
��
	
�
�
�4
�
��
��
��
��
	
�#
�
��
��
�#
�
��
	



�

�
��
/�
�
��
�



�
�
�
�	
�
�8
�
�
	
�
�

�
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
�#
�	
�
��
�
�
�	
#
#
	
��
�


��
��
�
�'
	
��
�
	
�


�
�#
�
	
#
��
��


�
��
�
�

�
��
6
��


�
�
�
�&
	
��
��
6
#
�
��
�


�
�
2�
#
��
1�
�
#
�	
�
�
�


��

��
�
�

�

�
��


�
��
�
#
�	
�
�
�


��
�
�
��
��
�&
	
��
�
�
	
#
�

�
*
��
	
�
��
�
��
�
��
�
�	
'�
�
��
�<
	
4
��
�
�
�
�
��
�*
��
	
&
�


�
�
�8
<�
*
9�
�
��
��
�


��
��
��
��
�
�
�
�4
�
�&
�
�


�+
!
��


�
��
�

�

�
�
�
�
�

�
�G
	
�


�
��
�
��
��
��
�
��
	
��
�
#
�	
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�

�

�
��


�
�&
	
��
�

�
�	
#
#
	
��
�


��
��
�
�'
	
��
�
	
�


�
�#
�
	
#
��
�&
�
��
�
��
�
��
�
��
�


�
	
�
�
��
��


�
�
��


�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�

�
	
�


�
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
�'
�
��
��
�&
	
��
'	
��
�

�
�

�
�
�
�
�

�
�G
	
�


�
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
	
��
�
�
�


��
�
�&
	
��
�
�
�&
��
�
�H
�
2�
��
�
��

	
4
��
�
�#
�
	


�
��


�
�4
�	
�
�
4
�


�
�#
�	
�
��
�
�2
��
	
�	
''
�
��
+
!
?+
$
��
�
�
��
	
��
�=
0
0
�
�
��
�
�
�

	
#
#
	
��
�


��
�
��
	
��
�
�

�&
	
��
��
6
#
�
��
�


�
�
��
�
�	
�
�
�
��
��
&
	
�&
�
�
�
��


��


�
��
�
�#
�	
�
��
�
�
�
��
	
��
�
�

��
�


�
��
�
��
�
��
��

�
H


�
�
��
	
�
#
��
��
�
2�
��
�
�
�&
�
��
�

�
�
�
��


��
�
�
��


��


��
��
��
&
��
	
�5
	
�

��
�
�
��
��
�

�

�
��
�
�
�
�

�
�G
	
�


�
��
�
��
��
��
�

�

�
��
�
�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�
��


��
��
��
&
1�
�
�
��


��
�
�	
''
�
��
&
�
�
��
��
	
��

�
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
4
��
�

�	
�+
%
1�
�
��
�
�
��
	
��
�
�&
�
	
�&
�
��
�	
�
�1
	
'1
&
	
��

�

Document Pack Page 118



+
)
��
��
�
�
�
�

�3
#
� 
�
�
�
��
�


	
��
��
�8
�
�
��
�(
�
�
��
�
�


	
��
E
��
��
��
��


�*
�
�
	
�
��
��
	


�	
'�
"
��
�
��
��
-
�


�
�
�
�
��
��
*
�
��
	
��
��
�
�
�8
*
"
-
*
9�
��
�
��


�
�'
�


�
�
�
��


��
��
��
�
�
��
	
�

�
�
#
#
	
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
��
�
�
�	


>�
��
	
�


�
�#
�
	
#
��
��


�	
��
�
#
�	
�
�
�


�

��
�
��
��
�
�
#
�
��


�&
��
��
�


�
	
�
��
�
�
�4
�
�
�

�
�
�
�
�
��
	
��
�
#
#
	
��
��
	
�


�
�#
�
	
#
��
��


�
��
�
�
�
��
#
�



�
��
	


�
��
�

�
�


��
�
�
�
�?
�	
''
�
��
�#
�	
�
	
��


�
�

�
��
	


�
��
�


�
��
	
�
�
��
#
�	
�
�
�
��
��
��
��
�
��
�
�
�
��
��
�
��
�
�#
�	
�
	
��


�
�	
�
��
�
	
�


�
�#
�
	
#
��

�

 
�
��
�
�


	
��
	
�
�8
�
�
	
�
�)


�
�
�

-�
�)
��
	
��
�
+
+
�+
=
�&
�'
	
�
�
�
�
�
�	


��
��
�
�
��
�

�
�
4
�
��
	
'�
#
��
	
��
��
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
�4
�
�#
�
��


�
��
��


�
��
��
��


�
�
�#
�



�
�
�4
�
��
�

�
	
�
#
��
�
�


�
��
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
�
�


��
	
'�
��
�
�

�
�
�
�
�	
'�
�
�
��
�
��


��


�
��
	
�


�
�#
�
	
#
��
��


��
�
��

�
�
�
�
�C
��
#
�	
�
�

�
��
��
�
�
�	
'�
'�
�
��
��
�
�&
��
�
��

�
��
�#
��
�

�
�
�
�
>�
�


�
�

C�


�
�
��


�
��
��
��
	
�


�
�#
�
	
#
��
��

�
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�
�
�
'�
��
��
�


�
��
�	


��
	
��
�
�
��
�
	
	
�
>�
#
��
	
��
��
�
�
��
��
��
�

�
�
�
��
�	
�
�
��
��
	
��
�
��
��
��
�
��
�
�

�



�
�
�
� 
��
�
�

�
��
��
.
	
��
�


	
�


�&
��
�
��


��




�
�
��
�
�
�


��
�

�
	
��
�

�
��
	
�


�
�#
�
	
#
��
�'
�	
�
��
�
�	
�
�
��
�
��
��

�
�
��


�
�&
��
�
��
	
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�	


1�

�
�
�
��
��
��
�
�
�
�
�

�
�

��
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�4
�
��
�
�

�
2�
#
��
5�
�
��
�
��


�
��
��
�
�
�
F�
�
	
�


�
�#
�
	
#
��
��


�
��
�
�
��
�
&
F�
#
��
�
�
�
��
	
��
	
F�
�
�
�
�
�
��
	


F�
�
	
�
��
��
�
#
�	
�
�
�


��
�


�
�&
	
��
�

�
6
#
�
��
�


�
�

�
G
	
�


�
�#
�
	
#
��
�'
�	
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
�G
	
�
��
��
�
4
�

�
��
	
��
�


��
�
��
�
�
��
�
�


��
�


�
�'
�
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
�	
�
�
�
	
�
��
��
�
��
�
�

�
�

)
�


�
�$
��
�
>�


�
�
�
��
	
�
�/
�
�
�
��
��


�%

�
�
�
�
�&
��
�
��
��
	
�


�
��
��
�	


�
�&
��
�
�#
�
��


�
��
��
�
�
�
��
�
�*
�
��


�/
�
�
�
�	
#
�
�


��
*
�
�
	
�
��
��
	


�	
'�
�
�
��
�8
*
/
*
�
9�
�


�
�

�
�
��
��
	
��
�
�
�
�#
�	
�
��
�
�
�#
�
��
	


�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
��


�
��
�
��
�


�
�
��


�
��

�
��
�
�
�
��


�
�
#
�	
�
�
�
�#
�
	
#
��
��
	
��
�
��
�
4
��
�5
	
4
�	
#
#
	
��
�


��
��
�

�
�
	
�
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
�#
�

#
�
	
#
��
�&
�
	
��
��
�

	
��
5	
4
��
�
�
�
�
��
	
��
�
�
�
�	
#
��
�
�
��
�
��
��
��


�
��
	
�
#
�
��


�
�
��
	
�4
�
�
	
�
�
��
�
#
�	
�
�
4
��

�
��



�
�
�
� 
�
��


�


:
'
�
�
�
�
��
�#


	
��
�
�	
�
�)
�
�
!

�
��
&
�*
�#
�	
�
��
�
�
�
�	
'�
�

��
��
�
��
�
�
�&
	
��
�
�
	
#
�
�&
�
��
�
�&
��
��
	
''
�
��
�
��
�
�

�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�

�

�
��


�
��
	


�
�


��
�

�


�
��
�
#
#
	
��
�#
	
�
��
��
�
��
��
��
�
�
�
�
��
	
&
�
��
�
��
�
�
�
�
��
	


��
	
��
�
��
�
��
�
#
��
�
��
	


�
��


�
�&
��
�


�	
#
#
	
��
�


��
��
�
�'
	
��
�
��
�


�
�
�
�
�
�+
�
1+
!
��
�
�
��
	
��
�

�
�
�
�
�
�&
��
��
4
�
�

�
�


�	
��
�
�4
�
��
�
��
��
	
��
�
�
�
��
��
�
�


��
�&
�
	
��
�
�
�
�#
�	
�
��
�
�
�
�
�'
�	
�
�D
�
�
�
��
�
��
	
�D
�
�
�
��
�
�#
�	
�
��
�
�
�
�
��


�
��
�


��


�
	
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
��
	


��
�
�
��
��
�


�

��
�
�
��
�
	
��
�
�
��


�
�#
	
��


��
�
��
�	
��
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
�

�



�
�
�
� 
�
��


�


�*
�
�
�


	
��
�


�
�
��
�
�&
��
�
#
#
	
��
�
�
��


�
�'
�


�
�
�
�4
�
��
�
�
�=
�
��
	


�
��
*
#
#
��


��
�
�
�
�
�#
��
�
��
��
�
�8
=
*
�
9�
�


�
��
�
�
��
�
��
��
�:
�


�
�

�
�*
�
�


�
�
�

8�
:
*
92
��
#
#
��


��
�
�
�
�
�#
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
	
��
�
�
�
�#
�	
�
��
�
��
	
#
�3
�
�
��
��
�&
	
��
14
�
�
�
�
��
��
�

�

�
�#
�	
�
��
�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�
�
�
��
��
�
��
#
#
��


��
�
�
�
��
�
�
�	
#
#
	
��
�


��
�
��
	
�

�
�
�

��
��
�
�
��
&
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�
�

��


�
��
�
�

�#
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
��
��
��


��
�
�
�&
	
��
#
��
�
�

�

'
�
�
�
��
�
�
�

�)
�
�
�
�
�
�
�


�&
�	
''
�
��
�+
�
1�
 
��
�
�
��
	
��
�
�&
�
	
��
��
�

	
��
#
�
��
��
�#
�
��


�
��
�
�
�
��
��
�
��


��
#
	
��
��
�
�
�	
#
#
	
��
�


��
�
��
	
��
�
�
�
�#
�
��
��


�!
��
	
�%
�&
�
�
�
�
�

	
'�
�
��
�
�3
�
�
��
��
��
	
�
�
�
�

�
��
�
�
�
�	


�
��


�
��
�
#
#
	
��
�
��
�
�
�
��
	
��
	


��


�
�
�#
��
�
�

�
��
#
	
��
��
'�
�
�&
�
��
�

�

9


�
��
�
��
	
�
�%



��
�


�	
�
�'
��
�
�

�
�
�E
��
�
4
��
�
�;
�
�
��
�
��


�
�0
�
��
�
�G
�
�
��
��
��
�&
	
��
�

�
��
	
�
�
��
�
��
	


��
�
�
��
�	
�
�
1�
�
��
�

�
�#
��
	
��
��
�C
�
��
��
�

�
��

�
��
>2
�

�


�
�
��


�
��
�#
	
�
��
��
�
��
��
��
��
	
��
�'
�
�'
	
��
�
�
��
�
��


2�
�
	
�


�
�#
�
	
#
��
��


�
�'
�
�
��
��
�
�4
�
��
�
#
#
	
��
�

�
�#
	
�
��
��
�
��


�
��
�
�
��
��


��
#
�
��


��


�
2�
�
�
�
�
�	
#
�

�
�

�

��
�
��
��
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
�	
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
��
	


2�
�
�
�
��
�
��


�
��
	
�
��
��
�
�
��
�'
	
�
�
�
�
�

�
�	


��
�
�
�

�
�
�
�
�	
'�
�
�
��
�
��


��


�
��
��
�
��


�
�#
	
�
��
��
�
�	
#
#
	
��
�


��
��
�
�'
	
��

�
	
�


�
�#
�
	
#
��

�

�

Document Pack Page 119



�
,
��
��
�
�
�
�

�	
��


��
�
��
��
�
�
�
�
�
�

A
�
�
#
�

�
�#
	
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
��
��
�
�	


��
�
�
��
�
�


�
�
�&
�
�
��
��
�
�
�

�
�
�
2�
&
��
�
��
��
	


�
��
	
�
�
�

�


�
�
��
�
3
�
��
�
�
�4
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
��
��
	
��


�
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
��
�
��
	


�#
��


�

'	
��
7
�
�
�
�
�

�
��


�
3
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
��
�
#
��
�
�


��
�
2�
�
	


��
	
��
�
��


�
��
�
�
��
�
��
�

�
��
�
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�	
'�
&
	
��
��


�
��
�
�
.�

•
�
�
��


�
��
�
�#
��

	
��
�

�
��
�
�


��
'�
�
�
��
�
��
��
��
�


�
��
�4
�
��
��
	
�
��
�
�
�
��
��
	


�
�
��
�
�
2�
#
�
��


�
��
�
�#
�&
	
��
�

�
��
�
�&
	
��
�

�
��


��
�
��
�4
�
��
��
�	
'�
�


��
�
��
�
�
�	


�

#
�
��
	


�
��
��
�
�
�	
��
C4
	
�

�

�
�&
	
��
�
��
>�
��
��
�
��
��
�


��
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
��

�
��
	
�
�
��


�
��
�
�
�
�
��
��
�


�
�
�
�


��
��
��
��
�
�
��
'	
��
��
��
��
�
�
��
�
��


�
�&
�
�


��
�
�
�

�

�
��
��
�
�
��
��

	
�
�
�	



�
��
�
�
��
�

�
�
�
�
��
	
�4
�
��

	
��
��
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
�&
	
��
�

�
�#
��
�
��
�
�
�
��


�
�#
�	
�
�
�
�
��
�
��
	
��


�
�
��
��
�
��
��
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
�

�

•
�
	
��
�
�
��
�
#
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
��
��
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
�#
	
��
�
��
�
��


�
��
�
�
��
�	


�
��
	
�
��
�4
�
��
�
#
��
�
�


��
�
�&
��
�
	
�
��
�


��


�
�
��
��


�
�

�
�	
'�
�
	
&
��
�
�
�
��
	
�
��
�

��
#
�
�
��
	


��
�
�
�#
	
	
��
�
��
#
�
	
#
��
��


��
�
�
�4
	
�	
�
�
�

�
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
�	


�	
'�
C#
	
�
�
��
�
>�
�	
��
�
�
��
�
��
�


��
0
3
�
�
��
��
�*


�
��
�
�
�
��
	
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
�

�
�
�

�

•
L
�
��
�

�
��
�
	
#
��
� /
�
��
�
�
��


�
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
2�
�


�
��
�
��
�
�
��


�
��
	
�
�
�	
'�
	
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
	
�#
�
	
#
��
�&
�
	
��
	
�

	
��
&
�


��
��
�
�
2�
��
��
�
�


��
�
��
�
�

��

=
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�'
�
�
�
4
�
�
�
�'
�	
�
��
	
�
�
��
	


�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�	
��
�


��
�
��
	


�
�&
�
��
	
�

	
��
�
�&
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
�
'�
��
�
��


�
��
��
	
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
��


��
��
�	
�
��
�
��
''
�

�
�
�
��
	
�4
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
�

�
��

•
�
�
#
#
	
��
�

�
��
	
�
�
�


��
��
�
2�
��

#
�	
�
�

�
�D
��
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
#
#
	
��
�

�
��
	
�
�
�


��
��
�
2�
��

#
�	
�
�

�
�D
��
�
�
��
�	
�
��
�
�
�
�4
�
��
�
�
�	


��
6
��
��


�
�&
	
��
�4
	
��
�

&
��
�
�

��
�
��
��


�
��
�
�	
�
�
�"
��
�
��
��
-
�


�
�
�
�
��
��
�	
��
�
#
�	
�
�
��


�
��
�
'	
��

�#
�
4
��
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
2�
&
��
�
��
�
�
��
&
�

��
��
�
�	
'�
��
�
�
�
�

�
��
�
#
�


�
�


�
�
?�
	
�
��

	
'�
#
�
4
��
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
��


�
��
�
#
�	
�
�

�
�	
�
��
	
�
�
�
�'
	
��
��
	
�
�
�'
�
�
��
��
�
�&
�
	
��

�
�
�4
�
��
�
'�


�
�
��
�
��
�	
�
4
��
�
2�
�
	
�
#
��
6
�	
��
�
6
#
�
��
�


�
�

�
��

�
��
�#
��
�

#
�	
4
��
�
�

�

�
��
/�
�
��
�

(
�
�
�
��
��
�'
��
�
�

�
�
�&
��
�
�
�	
4
5�
�
��
�
�
�
�	
'�
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
�
��


�
��
�
�
��
�
#
�	
�
�

�
��
�
�
�
�
��
	


�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
�


��
	
'�
�
�
�

�
��
4
��
��
�
��
�
��


2�
�


�
4
��


�
��
��
�
��
��

�
�
�	


	
�
�
�'
	
��
�
��
�
��
�
�#
�
	
#
��
��


�
�#
�
	
#
��
�&
��
�
��
��
�
4
��
��
��
�
2�
�


�
�
��
��


�
�

�
��


�
�&
	
��
�

�
��
	
��
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�	
'�
�
�
��
��
��
�
�
2�
�


��
1�
	
�
��
��
4
�
�
�
�
�	
�
��

�


�
��
	
�
�
�
��
�
��
�	
��


�
�
��


�
��
��
�

�
�'
	
��
�
�&
	
��
'	
��
�
�&
�
��
�
��
�
'�
�
�
��
�	
�
��
�
��
�
��
�
��
	
�
�
�


��
�

�

4


�
�
�

�
�
�
�(
�
�
�
��
��
� 
�
�
�
�

�
�&
��
�
��
	
�
�
��
��
�
��
	
��
�
�
�#
��


�
�#
��
�
�	
'�
�
3
�
�
��
��
2�
�
��
�
��
��
�
��


�
��
�
�
�


��
��
�
��

�
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
	
��
�
�
	
�


��
�
�

#
�
	
#
��
>�
��
�'
'�
��


��


�
�
�
�
2�
�
��
�
�
��
	


�
��


�
��
	
�
��
2�
�


�
��
�
�
	
�
�
��
�
�
�4
�
��
��
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
��
�&
�
�
��
#
�
	
#
��
��
�


��
	
�	
��
4
�

�
��
��


�
�
��
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
�
�

�
��
��
�
�
�
�
�
�4
��
��
	
2�
�


�
��

�
�
��
��
�
�

�
�
�
�
�	
'�
�
��
�#
�
	
#
��

�



�
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
)
��
	
� 
�
�


�'
��
�
�

�
�
�&
��
�
�
�
�

�
��


��
�
�


��
#
��
�
�
�	
'�
�
�
#
�	
�
�
�


��
�
�	
&
��
��
�
�	
�
�
��
�
�
�4
	
�	
�
�
�
��


�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�

�
�	
�
��
��
�
�


�
��
��
	


�

�
��
�
�
�'
��
�&
�
��
��


��
�
��
��
��
�

�

 
�
�
�
�
	
��
�
� 
�
�


�
��
	
�)
��
	
�&
��
�
�
	
�


��
�
�
��
�
�
�&
	
��
�&
�
�

�
�
�
��
	
��
	
�&
��
�
��
�
�
��
	
��


��
��
2�
�
	
�
�
�


��
�
��


�
�'
�
��
�
��
�
�
�	
��
��
�
�	
�
�
��
�
��
��
	
�

�
�
��
�
�
��
��


�
�
�
�
��
	
�
�
�


��
��
�
��
	
�4
�
��
�
�'
�
��
��


�
��

	
��
��
3
�
�
��
�
	
�
�
�


��
��
�
��


�
��
��
�
��
��
��
�


�
�
�	
'�
4
�
�	


�
�

�

�

Document Pack Page 120



�
+
��
��
�
�
�
�

�2
��
��
��
�
�
�

�
��
�
�
�
�
��
�

�
�
�
�#
�
��
��


�
��
	
��


��
�
��
&
	
��
'	
��
�
�	
'�
�
�
�
�
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
�
�


�
�
2�
&
��
�
��
�&
��
�
��
�
�
�
�
��


�
2�
'	
��
�
	
�
�
�	
'�
	
�
��
&
	
��
'	
��
�
2�
�
�
�
�
�
�
��
	
��
�
�
��
�


��
�&
�
	
�

	
��
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
�


�

	
��
��
�
�
�

�
��

�
�

�
�
�
��
	
��


�
�
��
��
�
�
��
&
�
�


�	
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
��


��
	


��
�
��
&
��
�
��
�
�
��
�


��
2�
��
�
��
	
�
��
'�
	


�1
��


�
��
��
''
��
��
�

�
	


'�
�
�


��
�


�
��
4
��
��
	
��
��


#
	
�
��
#
�
	
#
��
��
	
�	
��
�
��
�
#
#
�	
#
��
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
�

�
��
�
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�	
'�
&
	
��
��


�
��
�
�
.�

•
�
�
�
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
�

�
�
�
��
�
��
�1
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
�	
#
�
�


��
	
'�
�
�4
�
�
�

�
�
�
��
�
��
�&
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
��
	


��
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�'
	
��
�
��
�


�
�
�	
'�
	
��
�


��
�
��
	


�
��
�
�
��

�
�
#
#
	
��
�#
�
	
#
��
��


�#
	
�
�
��
�
2�
'	
��
�
6
�
�
#
��
��
��
�N
�


�
�*
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
2�
7
�
�
�


�
�
�
��


�
��
�


�
'�
��
��


�
��
�
��
�
��
*
�
�
��
�
�'
	
��
�
�
�
��
�

�
��
�
�
��
�
��
�

&
	
�
��
�4
�
�&
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
4
��
��


�
�#
�	
�
��
�
�
��
	
�'
�	


�1
��


�
�&
	
��
�
��
�'
	
��
�
��
��
�4
�
��
	



�
��

•
H


�
�&
�
4
1#
�
�
�
�	
��
�
��
�
�E
��
�
�
��
��
��
��
	
�
�
��
	
	
�
��
6
�
�
#
��
�
�'
�	
�
�	
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
�&
�
�
��
��
�
�
�&
��
�
��
�


�
�
�	
'�
	
��
�


��
�
��
	


�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
�	
#
�
�
��
�

5	
�

��
&
�
4
1#
�
�
�
�&
�
��
�
�#
�	
�
��
�
�
��


'	
��

�
��
	


2�
�
�
�
��
�
��


�
��
	


��
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�'
	
��
	
��
�


��
�
��
	


�
��
�
�
��
�
�


��
�
�#

�
�D
�

�
�
�'
�	
�
��
�
�
�&
�
4
�
��
�
�
�	
'�

�
��
�#
�
��


�
��
�&
	
�
��
2�
�
�
�
�

2�
�
�
6
��
��
�
��
�
�
�4
�


�
'�
��
�
��
�
�

�
�'
�	
�
��
��
�

�
��
��
	


��
�
��
&
��
�
��
��
�

�
��
�	
��
�


��
�
��
	


��
��
��
��
�&
�
4
�
��
�

�

•
�
��
�

�

�
�:
�	


�1
D
�

�
��

	
��
�
��
�1
��

�
�&
�


��
�	
��
��
�

�'
�	


�1
��


�
�&
	
��
�
��
��


�
��
�
	
�
�
��


��
��


�
��
�
�
��
�


��
>�
#
�	
#
�
��
��
�
2�
�
	
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�'
�
�
��

�
	


'�
�
�


��
�

��
�
�
	
�


��
�

�
�&
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
�


��
��

�
�
�

�
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
��


�
��
�
�
��
��


�
�
�4
�
�
�
�
�
�
�	
'�
#
	
�
�
��
�
2�
�


�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
��


	
&
�&
�
��
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
�

�
�


��
�
�#

�
��

•
D
�'
�
�0
�
�


��
��


��
��
�


��
	


�
�1
��

�
��


	
&
��
�
�
��
��
�
�'
�
�
�	
��
��
�
�
��
�
�


��
�
��
�	
'�
�


��

�
�


�#
�
	
#
��
��

	
�
�

�
��


�	
�#
	
�
�
��
�
2�
&
�
�
��
&
�
��
	


>�
��
�&
�
�
�
��
	
�

��
��
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
��
��
�
�&
�
�


��
�
�
��


�
�&
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
��
��
��
�'
�
��
�
�


�

��
�
�
�


��
	
�
�
	


�
>�
�#
�
��


�
��
�
��
�
2�
�
��
�
��
��
	


�
�
�#
�4
��
�
�
�
��
	
&


2�
	
��
�
�

�
	
�


�
�#
�
��
	


��
�
��
	
�
�
�
�
��


�
�
#
�


�
�


��
�
2�
�
	
�	
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
�
	
�


��
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
��


�
��
�
'�
��
#
�
	
#
��
��
	
�	
��
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
#
#
�	
#
��
�
��
��
P
�

•
�
�
��
�
��


>�
��
�


��
�
�
�1
��


�
�
#
�


�
�


��
��
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
	


�
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
��


>�
��
�


��
�
�
��
��
��


��
''
�
�
��
�
�
�&
�
�
�	
'�
�
�
#
#
	
��
�

�
�'
�
�
��
��
�
��
	
�

	
�
�
��
	
�
�
��
�
�
��
6
#
�
��
�


�
�
�	
'�
��
�
�

�
��


�#
	
�
�
��
�

�
��

�
�

�
�
�
��
	
��

�
6
��
��
�
��


�
��
�
#
#
	
��
��
�
�
��
''
�
�
��
�
�


�
�
�
�	
'�
	
�
��


�
�&
	
��
�	
'�
�
�
��
�
��


>�
�

�
�


��
�
��
	
��
�
#
#
	
��
��
�
��

�


�
�'
�
�
��
��
�
��
�
�#
	
�
�
�4
��

�

•
�
	
&


�
�
�#
�:
	
��
�
�
�1
��
	
&


�
�
�#
�:
	
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
�4
�
�


��
��
�
��
�
��
	
�#
�	
�
	
��
��


�
�
�
�
�
�


��
�


�
�#
�
��


�
��
�
�#
��
��
��
�
��
	
�
�
��
��
�
�
�

��
�
�
��
��
��
��
�6
�

�
	
&


�
�
�#
�:
	
��
�
�
��
�
�	
�
�
��
�
�
�4
	
�	
�
�
�
��


�
�#
�
4
��
�
��

�
�
��


�
�
��
��
��
�
��
��
�6
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
�2
��
�
�
�
��
�
��


��
�
�
��
�
�


�

�
�
2�
�

��
	
�
�
��
�
	
�
�
�


��
�
�

�
�


�
�
�

�
�

�
��
/�
�
��
�



�
�
�
� 
��
�<


	
�
�*
�
�
��


�

�
�


�
�
�'
�
�
��
��
)
�
��
�
�
�1


�


��
�
�


	
��
)
��
	
�&
��


�
��
�
�
�
��
��
�

�

�
�'
	
��
�
��
''
��


�
��
	
��


��
�
��
��
�
�
�
��
�

�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�	
'�
��
�
�

&
�
4
�
��
�
��


�
�:
�
�
�
4
	
	
�
��
	
�#
�
4
��
�
��
�
��
�
�


��
��


�
��
&
�
��


�
�
�
��
�
�
#
�
��


�

�
*
��
	
��
	
��
�
#
�	
�
�
�#
�
��


�
��
�
�#
�&
	
��
�

�
��
��
�

�

�
��
�
�
�4
�
�


��

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
��
�
4
��
��
��
��
	
��
�
��
�'
�


�
�

�
�&
��
�
�	
�
��
��
�
��
�
�


�
��
�
��
	
��
�
�
��
&
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
#
�
�
��
	
'�
��
�
��

�
�'
�
��
�7
�
'	
��

��
�
�


�
�
�

�

Document Pack Page 121



�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�

� 
�
�
��
�


�
��
�
�


��
�
�
�	
�	
�
�&
��
�
�

	
&
��
�
�
��
�
4
��
��
	
��
��
''
��
�
��


��
1�
�
�
�

�

�
�	
��
��
�	
�1
��
�
��
	
�
��
�

�
�
�
�
�#
�	
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
4
��
��
	
�'
�	


�1
��


�
�

�
�
#
�	
�
�
�
�
�&
�
	
��
��
�

�
&
��
	
��
�
�
��
	
�


�
��
��


�
�'
	
��
��
	
�
�
�&
�
	
�&
	
�
��
��
��
�
��
	
��
�
�
�
�	
#
��
�
�
��
�
��
��
�&
�
��
�
��
	


��
�4
�
��
��
	
��
6
�
�
#
��
	


�
��
�
�
�
�	
�
�
��
�
�
��
��
�

�

 
�
�
�
�
	
��
�
��
�
	
�
�)
�
�
��
�
�
��
��
	
�
�4
�
�
��
��
�&
��
��
�
��
	
��
	
�
�
��
�
��
��
�
�


��
�
��
��
�
�
��


�
��
�
�
	
�


��
�

�
��
�
�
��
&
�
�

�
�
�
��
	
��
	
�
�
�


��
�
��
��


��
�'
'�
��


��

&
�
�
�
��
�
#
�


�
�

�
�	


��
�
�
��
�
�
��


�
�

�
�
�
��
��
	
�
�
�
�


��
��
�


��
'�
�
�
��
�
�
��
�'
��


��
�
�
��


�
�
��
�
��
�
��
��
	
��
�
�
�
�
2�
&
�
��
�
�
�
��
	
��
��
��
�
��
�
�

��

�
��
�
�
�
��
	
��

�
�
�
�

�
�
��
��


'	
��

�
��
	


��
�
��
�
��
	
��
�
��
	
�#
�
	
#
��
>�
�

�
�
�
�

�

%


�
�
��


��
�	
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
�	


�
�
�
��
��
�
�
�
	
��
�
��
�
	
�
�E
��
	
�#
�	
�
	
��
��
�
�
�&
	
��
�	
'�
	
�
��
�
�
�
�
��
�
��
�#
�
��


�
��
�
�#
��
�
�


�
��
�
2�
��


�
�
�&
��
��
4
�
��

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
��
�
4
��
��
	
��
�
�
�
�#
�
��


�
�>
�
�&
�
4
�
��
�
�	


��
�
�
��
�&
�
4
�#
�
�
�
�

�

� � � � � � � � � � � � �

Document Pack Page 122



�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�

��
�
�%
�
��



�
�
�
��
�
�
��


��
��
�

)


�
��
�
�
�
	
�


�#


�
�
�
�


�



�
�


��
	


�0
�
�
+
�
:
+
?
��


�
�
�



	
�
��


�
�
��
��
	
�

�
�
�

�
�


�
��
�

�
2
�

4
�
�
�


��

�
�
+
?
:
+
=
�

4
�
�
�


��

�
�
+
=
:
+
@
�

4
�
�
�


��

�
�
+
@
:
+
A
�

�
�
��
�


��
�
�
�	
'�
��
�
�
��
#
�	
'�
'	
��

�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�4
�
��
	
&
1

�

�
	
�
�
�&
	
��
�

�
�'
�
�
��
��
�
�

�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

@


�
�
��
+
%
��
	


�
�
#
��
	


��
�
��
�

�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

=
�
�
4
�
��
	
'�
�
	
�
�
�
�
	
��
�
��
��
�

�
��


��
�
�
#
	
��
��
�

�
�
�
	
�
�
	
�
�
��
	


�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�	
#
	
��
�	


�	
'�
�
�
��
�
��


��
��
�

�
��


�#
	
�
�
��
�
��

�
�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�	
#
	
��
�	


�	
'�
#
	
#
�
��
��
	


��
�
�
�
�+
)
1!
�
�'
	
��
�
�
��
�
��


�
�+
)
1

 
)
�'
	
��
'�
�
�
��
�
�3
�
�
��
'�
�
�
��
	
��
��
��
�
�
��
D
�
�
�
��
�
�	
��
�
��
�
�
��

�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
��
�


��
�
�
�	
'�
+
)
��
�
�
��
	
��
�
�&
��
�
�3
�
�
��
'�
�
�
��
	


�
��
��
��
�
�
��

�
��

�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

=
�
��
	
&
�

�
��
�
�
��
�
#
�4
�
�&
�
�


��
�
�
��
	
&
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�

�
��
,
B
�

�

��
�
�
�0
�
��
�
�G
�
�
��
�:
	
�


�
�
��
	


��
��
�
�
�#
�	
'�
��
��


�
��
�
�
�

��
�
�

�8
'	
�


�
�
��
	


��
��
�
�
9�

�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

*
�
�
��
�
�
�
�


��
�
�
#
�4
�
�&
�
�


�#
�
#
��
�
��
��
�
�4
��
�'
	
��
'�
�
�
�

�
�
�
	
	
��
�
�
�
��
��


�
��
�
�
��
�#
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
�

�
��
�
�
��
6
#
�
�
��
�
�

��
�
�
��
�
��
A
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
�

�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

*
�
�
��
�
�
�
�


��
�
�
#
�4
�
�&
�
�


�#
�
#
��
�
��
��
�
�4
��
�'
	
��
'�
�
�
�

�
�
�
	
	
��
�
�
�
��
��


�
��
�
�
��
�#
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
�

�
��
�
�
��
6
#
�
�
��
�
�

��
�
�
��
�
��
A
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

Document Pack Page 123



�
�
��
��
�
�
�
�

��

�
3
�
�
��
��
��
�
#
��


��
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
�


��
	
'�
�
�D
�
�
�
��
�
�

3
�
�
��
'�
�
�
��
	


�4
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�	
'�
+
)
�

�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�

�
3
�
�
��
��
��
�
#
��


��
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
�


��
	
'�
�
�D
�
�
�
��
�
�

3
�
�
��
'�
�
�
��
	


�4
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�	
'�
+
)
�

�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
��
�


��
�
�
�	
'�
+
!
1+
%
��
�
�
��
	
��
�
�4
�
��
�
�
�
�
�
��
��
�
�
�&
�
	
�

�
��
�

	
��
�

��
�
�
�
�
��
	


2�
�
�
#
�	
�
�
�


��
	
��
��
�
�

�

�
�8
=
0
0
�
9�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�B

�	
'�
D
	
	
�
�
�
��
'�
�
��
�
�
��
�
��


��
�
�
��
�
�

�
� 
�*
Q
1�
�

"
�
�
0
�
�8
	
��
�
3
�
��
�
��


�9
�
��
�
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
�8
�

�
�0


�
��
�
�
�R
�

-
�
��
�
9�

�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
��
#
�
�
��
��
0
�
�
�
�
��
	


�
��
=
�
�
�
�
�8
�
0
=
9?


	


��
0
=
��
�
#
�

�
�
�
��
�
�

�
� 
�*
Q
��
�"
�
�
0
��


�

�
0


�
��
�
�
��


�
�-
�
��
�
�

�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

A
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
��
�
�

�
�


��
'	
��
�
��
�
�
��


�
��

�

	
��
��
��
��


��
�

�
�	
�
#
�
.�
�
�
�
��
��


��
;
�
��
��
�
�
�

�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

A
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
��
�
�

�
�


��
'	
��
�
��
�
�
��


�
��

�

	
��
��
��
��


��
�

�
�	
�
#
�
.�
�
�
��
�
�H
��
�
��

�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

A
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
��
�
�

�
�


��
'	
��
�
��
�
�
��


�
��

�

	
��
��
��
��


��
�

�
�	
�
#
�
.�
"
�
#
�
�
�7
	
�
�
�

�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

=
�
�
4
�
��
	
'�
�
�
�
	
	
��
�&
�
�
��
�'
�
&
�
��
��
�


��
,
B
�	
'�
#
�
#
��
�
�

�
�
�
��
�
�
� 
�	
��
�
	
��
�*
Q
��
��
��
�
�
�
��
��
"
�
�
0
��


�
��
3
�
��
�
��


��

�

�
��
�
�

�
�"
�
�
0
�
��


�0


�
��
�
�
��


�
�-
�
��
�
�

�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

7
�
�
�
�
��
	


��


�

�
�
4
�
��
	
'�
�
�
�
	
	
��
�&
�
�
��
�'
�
&
�
��
��
�


� 
 
B
�

	
'�
#
�
#
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�	
��
�
4
	
�
�
��


�4
	
��
�0


�
��
�
�
��


�
�

-
�
��
�
��
��
A
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

H
�
�
��
��
��
�
#
�	
�
�
�


��
��
��
�'
	
��
�
�
��
�

�
�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

Document Pack Page 124



�
 
��
��
�
�
�
�

��
	
��
�

�
��
�
�
�#
�
	
#
��
�	


�	
�
��
	
'�
&
	
��
�4
�


�
'�
��
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
	
��
�

�
��
�
�
�#
�
	
#
��
��
��
��
�

�
�	
�
��
	
'�
&
	
��
�4
�


�
'�
��
��


�

��
�
�&
	
��
��
#
�
�'
	
��

�

�
�

�
��
�
4
	
�
��
	
	
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

*
�
�
��
�
�&
��
�
��
�
�
�

�

�
��
��
�
4
��
��
��
�
��


��
�
#
�	
�
�
�


��

�
�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

=
�
�
4
�
��
	
'�
D
�
�
�
��
+
�3
�
�
��
'�
�
�
��
	


�
��


��
��
�
��
�
�
�8
�

�
��
�
�

�
�

0
�
H
D
9�
�
�
�
��
�
�
�
�

�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

D
�
�
�

�
��
��
�
�
��
�
�

�
��


�0


��
�
�D
�
�
�
��
�
�3
�
�
��
'�
�
�
��
	


��


�



�
�
�
��
�
�
�

�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
	
��
�

�
��
�
�
�#
�
	
#
��
�	


�	
�
��
	
'�
&
	
��
�4
�


�
'�
��
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
��
�
��
�
�
�


��
	
�#
�	
�
�
�
�
�;
	
�
�
�

�
��
�


�
'�
�?
�
	
�


�
��
��
�
6
�

�
�


�
'�
��


�
&
��
��
��
�
��


�
��
�
�


�
�
��
�
�


��
�

�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�

�&
	
��
��
�
6
��


�
��
�
��
�
�
�
��
��
��
�
��
�
��

�
�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
	
�


�
��
��
�
6
�4
�


�
'�
��

�
�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

;
	
�
�
�

�
�4
�


�
'�
��

�
�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�


�
�	


��
�
6
��
��
�
��
�
�

*
��
�


�
�


�
�
�*
��
	
&
�


�
�
�

�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
��
��
>�
*
��
	
&
�


�
�
�

�
�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

Document Pack Page 125



�
!
��
��
�
�
�
�

�:
��
�
��
�
�
	
	
��
�
�
�
��
�

�
�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

/
��
�
4
��
��
�
�D
��
�

�
�*
��
	
&
�


�
�
�

�
�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

=
�
�
4
�
��
	
'�
#
�
��
��
�#
�


��
��
��
�


�
�

�
��
��
��
�
�
��
	


�
��
#
	
��
�R
�

#
�
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
�
�	


�'
�	
�
��
��
	
#
��
,
�B

��
�
#
��
�
�
�
�

�
��
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

�
�
�
�

� � � � � � � � � � � � � � �

Document Pack Page 126



�
$
��
��
�
�
�
�

�!
��
�
�


��
�

�
	
��
�
�#
��
	
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
��
��
��
�
��
�
�
2�
�


��
6
#
��


�
��
	


�	
'�
��
�
��
#
�
�
��
��
&
	
��
�
��


�
�#
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
	
�
�&
��
��
'�


�
��
�
�
�
��


��
�
�
��
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
	
�
��
4
�
�	
&
.�

�
�


��
�
�
�
�
��
��
�
�


�
3
�

*
�
�
	
�
��
��
	


�	
'�
"
��
�
��
��

-
�


�
�
�
�
��
��
*
�
��
	
��
��
�
�
�

8*
"
-
*
9�

*
��
	
�
�
��
�
	
�
�
�

�
�


��
�
�
�
	
�
��
��
	


��
�
#
��
�
�


��


�
��
�
�
��
�


��
	
�
�
��
�
�
��
	
��
��
�
�
�	
'�
"
��
�
��
��
-
�


�
�
�
�
��
��
�


�
��


�
��
�
�
�
�

	
��
�
��
#
�
4
��
�
2�
#
��
�
�
��
��


�
��
	
��


��
��
��
�
�
�	
��

�
*
"
-
*
�&
	
��
�
��
	
�
�
��
�
��
�	
��
��
�
�
�

�
&
��


�
�
�
��

�


�2
��
	
1	
��
�

�
��
�

#
��




�

�
��


�
��
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
�'
	
��
��
�
��
�
�
��
�


��

�
��

�
�
��
��
��
�N
�


>�
�*
�
�
��
�
�

�
�
��
�
�
�

�
�	
�
��
�
�
��
�'
��
�
��


�
��
	
�
#
��
�
�


�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
��
�
��
	
��
�
��
>�
��
�
�
��
�


��

�
�
�
�
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
�#
�
��
	
��
�
�
	
��
�
��
�
�
�
�2
�

�
	


�
�
��


�
�	
��
�
��
#
�	
4
��
�
�
�4
�
�#
�	
�
��
�

�
��
	


'�
�
�


��
�
��
�
�
�
��
�

�

�
�
��
�G
	
�
��
��
�
4
�

�
��

*
��
�	
�
#
��
�
�
��
�
�
#
#
	
��
�
��
	
�


�
�#
�
	
#
��
��
	
��
�
�
�
��
��
	
��
�
��


�
��
	
��

�
�
�
�#
	
�
��
��
�
��
�
�


�
�
�
�'
	
��
	
��
�
��

�
�
�
�
��
�	
�
#
��
�
�

�
�
#
#
	
��
�
�
�4
�
��
�
�
�@


��
�
�
�A
�

�
�
	
�
�G
	
�
��
��
�
��
��
�
�


��
8@
A
G
�
9�
�


�
��
��
	
&
�
��
	
�


�
�#
�
	
#
��
��
	
�&
	
��
��
�	


�
�
��
�
�

#
	
��
��
�
��


�
��
��
�
��
��
�
�
�
��
��
	
��


�
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
	
�


�
�#
�
	
#
��
��
��
�&
�
��
��
�
#
��
�
�


��
�

�

0
�
#
�	
�
�
�


��
�
�
#
#
	
��
�

*
��
	
&
�


�
�
�

7
�
#
��
�
�
�
��


�
�
#
�
�
��
�
��
�


�
'�
��
�


�
��


�
	
�
�
��
�
#
#
	
��
�#
�
��
�	


��


�
�
#
�
�
��
�
��
�	
�


�
�
��


��
,
,
%

�
��
�	
''
�
��
�#
�
��
	


�
��
�
�
�
�

�
�
#
#
	
��
��


�
�'
�

�


�
��
��
�
�
�#
��
	
�#
��
#
�
��
�'
	
��
&
	
��

�

0
3
�
�
��
��
�*


�
��
�
�
�
�8
0
*
9�

�
�	
�
��
�
�
��
��
	
�
#
��
�
�


�
��
�
��


�
��
	


�
��
��


��
�
#
#
�	
�
�
�
�'
	
��
�


�
��
�
�

�
��
�
�
��
''
�
�
��
�
#
	


��
3
�
�
��
��
��


�
��
	
�
�
�


��
�
�

�
	
�
�
�
�	


�	
'�
�
��
�	
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
2�
#
	
��
�
��
�
��


�
�#
��
�
��
�
�
�

�

;
�"
;
D
�"
;
�
�7
�
�
��
&
��

*


��


��


�
��
�
��
�6
1&
�
�
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
�'
	
�
�
�
�	


��
�#
�
��
��
�
��
��
��
�
�
�

�
��
��


�
	
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
�
��
�
��


�
��
	


�
�
��
�
��
	


��


�
�&
��
��

#
�	
�
��
�
��


��


1�
�
#
��
��


�
�
��
��


�
�

�
�	
'�
��
�
��
�
�
�
�

�

�

�
�
#
�
�
��
�
��
�


�
'�
��
8�
�
9�

�
�
�
�0
�
#
�	
�
�
�


��
�
�
#
#
	
��
�*
��
	
&
�


�
�

�

�

�
��
�
�
�	
'�
-
�
��
�#
��
�

/
�
#
��
�
�
��
	


�8
�-
/
9�

�
�
�
��


�
�
6
�#
�
��
�
��
	
�
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�	


��
�'
'�
��


��
'	
��

�
�	
'�
�
�
#
��
�
�
��
	


��


�	
�	


�
�	
�
�
��
��
��
�
#
��
�
�
��
	


��
�
	
��

�
�
�
�
��

�
�

�

��
#
�
�
�	
'�
�
�
#
��
�
�
��
	


��
�
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
�
��

�
�
�
�
��
�
��
��
.�
�

�
	
�
�
�8
#
	
�
�
��
�
92
��
�
#
�	
�
�
�


��
8	
��
�
6
�
��
�
�	


�'
�	
�
��
�
�
�

��
4
	
�
��
�
�
��
�
�9
2�
�
�
�
�
�
��
	


2�
�
�
�
��
�
2�
�
��
�
�
2�
�
�
�
�
�
�
��
	
��
�
��
��
�
�
��


�
��
	
�
�
�

�

�

<	
4
��
�
�
�
�
��
�*
��
	
&
�


�
�
�

8<
�
*
9�

*
�4
�


�
'�
��
#
�
��
��
	
��
��
�
�4
��
�#
�
	
#
��
�&
�
	
��
��
��
�
��
�


��
�
��


�
�
#
�	
�
�
�
��


�
��
	
	
�
�

�
�'
	
��
&
	
��

�

<	
�

��
�
��
�
��
�
��
�=
�
�
�
�
�

*
�
�
�
�
�
�
�


��
8<
�
=
*
9�

�
�
�
�D
	
�
�
��
"
	
�
�
�

�
�


��
�


�
��
�
4
��
�
��


�
	
��
�
�
�


��
�

�;
�
�
��
�
�*
�
��
�
,
,
$
��
�
3
�
��
�
��
�
�
�
��


�
��
	
�
�
��
�
�
��
	
��
��
�
�
��
	
�

#
�	
�
�
�
�
��
�<
	
�

��
�
��
�
��
�
��
�=
�
�
�
�
�*
�
�
�
�
�
�
�


��
8<
�
=
*
9�
	
'�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
��


�
�&
�
��
4
�
�

�
�	
'�
��
�
��
��
	
�
�
��
�
	
�
�
�


��
�

�

D
�'
�
��
�
�


�
�
�
��


�
��
�
�	
��

8D
�
�9
�

�
�
�'
	
��

�


�
�
��


�
��
�
�	
��
��
�
�
��
�
�
#
�
�
�
��
�
�#
�
��
	


�
��
�


�
��


�
��
��
�
�
��
�
�
�
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
��
�


��
	
�
��
��
�


�
�

�


�
��
	


�
�


��
��
'�
�
�	
��

�

Document Pack Page 127



�
%
��
��
�
�
�
�

�H
''
��
�
�	
'�
:
�
��
��
��
�
�

�
�

8H
:
�
9�

�
�
�
�@
A
>�
��
	


�
�
�
�
��
�


�
��
	
�
#
�
��
��
	


��
�
��
	
��
��

�
�
�
�
��
��

��
�
�	


��
�
��
	
��

�
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
�&
	
��
�&
�
��
�'
	
��
�
	


�
�
�
�
��
�4
�
�

4
�
�

�
�	
#
�


2�
'�
��
��


�
��
��
	
�	
�
�
��
	
�
#
�
��
��
	


�&
��
�
��
�
�
�
�	
��
�
��
'	
��
��
�
��
	


�
�
�
�
�>
�
��
�
�
�	
�

�

H
''
��
�
�'
	
��
=
�
��
	


�
��

�
��
��
�
��
�
�
�8
H
=
�
9�

�
	
��
�
�
��
2�
�
	
�
#
��
�
�
2�
�


�
��
�
�
��


�
��
��
�
�
�
�

�
��
��
��
�


�
�
�	
'�
�
�
	


	
�
��
2�
�
	
�
��
��
�


�
��
�
�
	
�
��
#
�
��
��
��
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
��


�
�

�	
��
�
�
�@
A

�

H
''
��
�
�	
'�

�
	
�
�
�


��
�
��
	


�
�

8H
:
�
H
-
9�

�
�
�
��
	
�
�
�


��
�
��
	


�
��
�
�
�
��
�	
��
��
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
�	


��


�
��
�
�
�	
��
�
�
�	
��
2�
'�
6
�
�
��
�

�
��
�
��
�
	
�
�
2�
�
	
4
��
�
�
2�

#
	
�
��
��
�
�
��
��
�
�
2�
#
��
�
��
�
�
��
��
&
�
�
�
�
�	
�
�
��
&
�
��
�
�&
��
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
�	
#
�
��
��

�

H
''
��
�
�	
'�
"
�
�
��


�
�

0
��
�
��
��
��
�
�-
�
��
�
��
�

8H
:
"
0
-
9�

�
�	
�
	
��
�
��
	
�
#
�
��
��
	


2�
&
�
�
��
�
�
��
�
#
#
�	
#
��
�
��
2�
�


�
��
�
�
�
��
��
�
��
�
�
��

	


	
#
	
��
��
	
�
#
�


��
�
�&
�
��
�
��
�


��
�
�
��
�
�
��


�
�

�
��
�
��
��
��
�
�

�
�&
	
��
�

�

�
�
#
�
��
H
�
�#
�
��
*
��
�
�

�
H
*
�
��
��
��
��


��
�	
'�
�
�
	
�
��
#
�
�
��
�
�
�
��


��
�
�
�@
A
�'
	
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
�
��
�


�
��
�
��

�
�
H
*
�
�&
�
��
��
��
�
��
�
�&
��
�
��
�
�
��


��


��
	


�

��
�
��
��
�
�
�&
	
�
��
�

	
��
4
�
��
�
4
5�
�
��
�	
�'
��
3
�
�


��
4
	
�


�
�
��
��
�
�


�
�

�
�
�
�
��
H
*
�
��
�
'�
��
�
�
��
	
��
�
#
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
�
��
�	
�


�
�

+
2 
,
,
��
�
�
��
�


��

�

�
�
�
�
��
�
��
�8
D
	
�
�
��

�
��
�
��
�
��
��
�
��


�
��
�
�#
9�

�
�
�
�
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
�
�

�
�
�
��
��
�


��
	
��
�
��
>�
�D
	
�
�
��
�
��
�
��
�
��
��
�
��


�
��
�
�#

�
�
�
�
�#
�
��


�
��
�
�#
��
	


�
��
��
�	
'�
��
�
��

�
5	
��

#
�
4
��
�
��
�
�


�
��
�
��


�
��
�
#
��
�
�


��
��
�
�
�
�	
'�
	
��
�
��
�
�
�
�	
��
�	
'�
��
�
��
	
�
�
�


��
�
��


�
�&
	
��
�
��
	
��
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
��
�
4
��
�	


�
�'
	
��

��
�
�4
	
�	
�
�
�
�E
��
�
��
�
��
	
�
��
�

��
�
�
��
	
�
�
�


��
�
��
��
�
��
�
�

�

�
�
�'
�
��
�7
�
'	
��

�
�
�
�
��

�
�'
�
��
��
�
'	
��

�*
�
��
�
,
+
�
�4
�
�
�
�
�
��
�
&
��


�-
�
��
�
��
,
+
�

�
�
�
�*
�
��
�

��
	
�
�
�
�
�
��
�&
��
�
��
�


�
�
�	
'�
��
'	
��

�
��
	
��
�
�
�

4
�


�
'�
��
��


�
��
�
6
��
��
�
��
�
��
�
�
��
�

�

� �
�
�	
�
�
�
	
�
��
��
��
�#
��


2�
�
	
�
�&
��
��
'�


�
�'
�
��
�
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
�	


�&
�
�
��
&
�
��
�
�
�
��
	


�
��


�
�&
�
�
��
&
�
�#
��


��
	
��
	
�

�
6
�

��

�
��
	
#
�
��
	
�
�'
�

�
��
�
��
��
�
�
'�
�

��
'�
�
	
�
�

�
�
�
�
��


�
��
	
�
�
�


��
�	
��
3
�
�
�
��
	


�
�	


��
	
&
�&
�
��
	
�
��
��
�
#
�	
�
�
�'
�
��
�
�
�2
�#
��
�
�
�
��
�
�
��
��
�
��
��
��
#
�	
�
�
�
�


��
�
�
�
S
4
�
��

�
	
�

�
�
�

Document Pack Page 128



�
)
��
��
�
�
�
�

�� �
�
�
�
�

�
��
�
�
�

� :
	
��
'�
��
�
�
��
�

'	
��

�
��
	


��
4
	
�
��
��
�
��
	
�
�
��
�
��
��
�
��
�
�
�#
��
�
�
�
��
	


��
�
�.
�

�
�

D
	
�
�	


��
	
�&
&
&

4
�
��

�
	
�

�
�
�

�
�

0
�
�
��
��
�
��
��
��
#
�	
�
�
�
�


��
�
�
�
S
4
�
��

�
	
�

�
�
��

�
�

�
��
��
��
	
��
�
��
��
�
	
��
�
�
��


�
��
�
#
�	
�
�
�
�


��
�
�
�
�
2�
�
�
��
��
	
�


�
��
2�
�
�
��
��
	
&


�;
�
��
2�
A


	
&
�
��
�
��
��
�
�
�2
�

�
�
��
�2
��
D
)
�,
�
�
�

Document Pack Page 129



Document Pack Page 130

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 MINUTES
	5 RECYCLING REVIEW - UPDATE
	6 CORPORATE PLAN PROGRESS REPORT - QUARTER 1 2013-2014
	Corporate Plan Progress Report Q1 2013-14

	7 CHILDREN'S SERVICES ANNUAL COMPLAINTS REPORT  APRIL 2012 - MARCH 2013
	8 WELFARE REFORM
	08.10.2013 appendix 1 Corporate Debt Policy - Final
	08.10.2013 appendix 1 CD Case Studies
	08.10.2013 appendix 2 Discretionary Housing Payment Policy 2013
	08.10.2013 appendix 3 Poverty Strategy new version 2x


